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à la criée / à la criée / à la criée / à la criée 
Open outcry trading. French expression for a system of stock market trading where the stock exchange clerks read out the securities in the order they appear on the official quotation list while the dealers gather around the ring and call out the bid and ask prices for each security and make the prices paid known to the registering clerk. Opposite: electronic trading system.

Aa

AAA / AAA / AAA / AAA 
Highest debt grade in the rating system used by Standard & Poor's for securities in the international financial markets.


Top

Ab

abandon / abandonnieren / abandonner / abbandonare 
To withdraw from a premium deal. See also premium.

above par / über pari / au-dessus du pair / sopra la pari 
Term that indicates that the price of a security is higher than its nominal value. Opposite: below par. See also premium.

ABS 
Abbr. for asset-backed security.

absolute return / absolute Rendite / rendement absolu / rendimento assoluto 
Investment strategy which does not try to beat a benchmark index. Often the goal ist specified as generating a certain performance in excess of a money market rate.


Top

Ac

accept order / Accept-Order / ordre d'acceptation / accept order 
On the Swiss Exchange: acceptance of an order that is already contained in the central order book.

acceptance / Akzept / acceptation / accettazione 
(1) Written declaration on a bill of exchange that the latter is accepted. Acceptance of the bill of exchange must be declared, although it can also be limited to just part of the amount of the bill of exchange. The drawee of the bill of exchange is bound through acceptance to pay the latter on expiry.
(2) Accepted bill of exchange. Opposite: draft.
(3) Acceptance of a contract tender.

acceptance credit / Akzeptkredit / crédit par acceptation / credito di accettazione 
Short-term loan under which the bank permits the customer to draw bills up to a certain amount (credit line). The bills are then accepted and usually also discounted by the bank as agreed.

accessory obligation / akzessorische Sicherheit / droit accessoire / garanzia accessoria 
Obligation which is incidental to another principal obligation, e.g. the obligation of a surety or lien. The accessory obligation is extinguished with the principal obligation. Opposite: non-accessory obligation: this form of security is separate from the claim it secures and therefore remains in force without the claim (e.g. a land charge).

account / Konto / compte / conto 
Synonym for bank account.

account card / Kontokarte / carte de compte / carta di conto 
Plastic card issued to bank customers for the efficient handling of transactions carried out over the counter or via ATMs. The necessary control data, such as the customer's PIN, are stored in the magnetic strip.

account statement / Kontoauszug / relevé de compte / estratto conto 
A summary in writing of all account transactions within a given period. Depending on the type of account, interest is calculated on a monthly to yearly basis. Can also be accessed online.

accounting standards / Rechnungslegungsvorschriften / règles de comptabilisation / prescrizioni per l'allestimento dei conti 
Legally defined procedures to be followed when compiling company accounts and consolidated accounts. In Switzerland, banks comply with the standards laid down in article 6 of the Swiss Federal Law on Banks and Savings Banks and articles 23-27 of the Banking Ordinance on banks' annual and interim reporting. They also follow the guidelines laid down by the Swiss Federal Banking Commission.

account-only check (US); collection-only check (US) / Verrechnungsscheck / chèque à porter en compte / assegno da accreditare 
Cheque bearing the endorsement «for clearing only» or «for crediting only» or similar. Such cheques may not be paid out in cash but can only be credited to the beneficiary. The endorsement cannot be cancelled by crossing it out.

accruals and deferrals / Rechnungsabgrenzung / compte de régularisation / ratei e risconti 
Balance sheet item covering expenses and income attributable to a different reporting period to that in which they were paid. See also accrued income and prepaid expenses, accrued expenses and deferred income.

accrued expenses and deferred income / transitorische Passiven / passifs transitoires / ratei e risconti passivi 
Accounting apportionment items entered on the liabilities side of the balance sheet, such as income already received during the past financial year but relating to the new financial year, or expenses incurred during the past year but not payable until the following year. Opposite of accrued income and prepaid expenses. See also liabilities.

accrued income and prepaid expenses / transitorische Aktiven / actifs transitoires / ratei e risconti attivi 
Accounting apportionment items listed on the assets side of the balance sheet, such as expenses paid during the past financial year, but relating to the new fiscal year.

accrued interest / Marchzins / intérêt couru / interesse pro rata 
Interest from the most recent coupon date to the present on an interest-bearing security. Also: broken-period interest.

accumulation fund 
Synonym for capital appreciation fund.

acquisition 
See takeover. 


active management / aktives Management / gestion active / gestione attiva 
Portfolio management strategy where the manager makes specific investments with the goal of outperforming a benchmark index.

actuarial reserve / Deckungskapital / réserve mathématique / capitale di copertura 
Mathematical calculation of the capital required by an insurance or pension fund to finance expected future benefits.


Top

Ad

addendum / Allonge / allonge / allungamento 
A supplement or appendix attached to a document (deed, bill of exchange, registered share) which can be used for endorsements.

additional dividend 
Synonym for extra dividend.

adjust / adjustieren / ajuster / rettificare 
To correct share prices when there are changes in capital structures, in particular when subscription rights are reduced or in the case of stock splits or reverse splits.

adjustment on conversion / Konversionssoulte / soulte de conversion / saldo di conversione 
Cash amount payable to the bondholder on conversion of a bond or payable to the company by the bondholder if the adjustment is negative. It is made up as follows:
(1) Accrued interest if the term of the new bonds begins after the coupon due date of the old ones.
(2) The amount of the difference in interest if the terms overlap and interest rates differ.
(3) The price difference if the new bonds are issued above or below par value.

admission board / Zulassungsstelle / instance d'admission / ufficio di ammissione 
Commission of the Swiss Exchange which decides independently on the admission of securities to the Swiss Exchange and defines the attendant reporting obligations of the listed companies.

admission to stock exchange dealing / Börseneinführung / introduction en Bourse / ammissione alla quotazione 
Official listing of a security on a stock exchange.

ADR / ADR / ADR / ADR 
American Depositary Receipt. Negotiable registered certificate issued on the US market and evidencing title to non-US equity paper. ADRs are registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and quoted in USD. Holders of ADRs essentially enjoy the same ownership and membership rights as shareholders.

advance payment bond / Anzahlungsgarantie / garantie de remboursement d'acomptes / garanzia di rimborso 
Guarantee furnished by a bank that in the event of non-performance of an agreement it will reimburse the customer for amounts paid.


Top

Af

affidavit / Affidavit / affidavit / affidavit 
Sworn or affirmed written statement to authenticate a claim, especially in securities trading, e.g. regarding the origin and ownership of securities. Statement issued by banks to non-resident holders of certain securities for the purpose of obtaining an exemption from Swiss tax on these securities, as they are already taxed in the holder's country of residence.

after-sight bill / Nachsichtwechsel / traite à un certain délai de vue / cambiale a certo tempo vista 
Bill of exchange which becomes payable at a certain date after presentation for acceptance (e.g. after one month).


Top

Ag

agency bond / Agency-Bond / agency bond 
Bonds issued by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and other agencies.


Top

Al

allfinanz; bancassurance / Allfinanz / bancassurance / bancassicurazione 
Combination of banking and insurance services in one financial institution. Sometimes used to refer to the full range of financial services.

allocation / Zuteilung / attribution / assegnazione 
(1) Synonym for subscribed allotment.
(2) Allocation of securities reduced on a pro rata basis if supply and demand cannot be matched at a certain price.

allround fund; balanced fund / Allroundfonds / fonds de placement universel / fondo d'investimento allround 
Investment fund which is not restricted to any particular countries, regions or sectors and which invests globally.

alpha / Alpha / alpha / alfa 
Ratio which expresses the so-called risk-adjusted performance of an investment fund. If the average return on a security or portfolio is larger than its expected return, the alpha is positive. If the average return is smaller than expected, the alpha is negative.

alternative investment / alternative Anlage / placement de substitution / investimento alternativo 
Capital investment that is not attributable to the traditional asset classes such as equities, bonds and money market products. Alternative investments show little correlation with the equity and bond markets and are therefore ideally suited as a portfolio diversification. Examples: private equity, hedge funds, commodities and real estate.


Top

Am

American Depositary Receipt 
Abbr.: ADR.

American-style option / amerikanische Option / option américaine / opzione americana 
Option which can be exercised at any time, including on the expiry date. See also European option.

amortization / Amortisation / amortissement / ammortamento 
(1) The reduction of a debt by means of payments in instalments.
(2) Obsolete term for depreciation.


Top

An

annual financial statements / Jahresrechnung / comptes annuels / rendiconto annuale 
Part of a company's annual report consisting of the balance sheet, the profit and loss account and the notes. Banks with total assets of CHF 100 million or more which transact a significant amount of balance sheet business are also required to produce a cash flow statement. Annual financial statements are intended to enable as reliable an assessment as possible of the company's asset and earnings situation.

annualized / annualisiert / annualisé / annualizzato 
O a figure: extrapolated for part of a year to reflect a hypothetical full year.

anticyclical 
Synonym for countercyclical. 


Top

Ap

apostille / Apostille / apostille / apostilla 
Also: Hague apostille. Form of authentication and legislation introduced between the countries bound by the 1961 Hague Convention abolishing the requirement for legalization of foreign public documents in order to facilitate international legal transactions. The apostille is in the shape of a square measuring 8 x 8 cm and is placed on official public documents. It confirms the authenticity of a public document following presentation of the original, thus waiving the requirement for verification by the consular officials of the country in which the document is intended for use. The apostille is issued by the administrative bodies of the relevant administrative sector. Apostilles for judicial documents are issued by the courts. 

application for letter of credit / Akkreditiv-Auftrag / ordre d'ouverture d'un crédit documentaire / ordine d'apertura di un credito documentario 
Written request addressed by a customer (buyer) to his bank to open a letter of credit. Notification usually takes place via a correspondent bank. See also documentary credit.

approximate-limit order / Zirka-Auftrag / ordre environ / ordine circa 
A stock exchange order where the dealer can exercise a certain degree of discretion with regard to the limits when executing the order.

appurtenance lien / Zugehörpfandrecht / droit de gage sur accessoires / diritto di pegno su beni accessori 
A lien on real property which encumbers the land and all movables on it needed to fulfil the purpose of that property. To avoid subsequent disputes, the pledgor must as a rule submit a list of appurtenances to the land register office. 


Top

Ar

arbitrage / Arbitrage / arbitrage / arbitraggio 
The practice of exploiting local and international price differences for identical assets (e.g. securities, currencies, banknotes) by buying said assets in the market with the lowest prices and selling them in the market with the highest prices. See also interest-rate arbitrage, cash-and-carry arbitrage.

arbitrageur / Arbitrageur / arbitragiste / arbitraggista 
Person or firm engaged in arbitrage. Arbitrageurs take substantial positions in value terms in order to profit from extremely small price fluctuations, thus ensuring high market liquidity.


Top

As

as and when issued / as if and when issued / dès parution / as if and when 
Clause used in the pre-issue market for securities to specify that the issue of said securities will take place on the terms and conditions and at the time envisaged.

ask price / Briefkurs / cours vendeur / corso lettera 
Price or rate at which securities, foreign exchange, foreign bank notes or precious metals are offered for sale. Price is marked A or a for asked. Opposite: bid.

asked 
Synonym for ask price.

assented bond / Assented Bond / assented bond / assented bond 
US: Bond whose owners have agreed to reduced interest payments or a reduced repayment of principal on the basis of a reorganization or rescheduling plan. See also bond issue in default.

asset allocation / Asset-Allocation / allocation d'actifs / asset allocation 
Composition of a portfolio by currency and asset class.

asset allocation fund / Anlagestrategiefonds / fonds de placements diversifiés / fondo a strategia d'investimento 
Investment fund which applies the official investment policy of the custodian bank. Depending on the risk category, the asset allocation fund can invest solely in the money market and bonds (income-oriented) or in equities as well (capital-gains-oriented).

asset and liability management / Bilanzstrukturmanagement / gestion des actifs et des passifs / asset and liability management 
Reconciliation of the assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet operations of a bank in order to optimize profitability, liquidity and security within the possibilities offered by the law.

asset class / Anlageklasse / catégorie de placement / categoria di investimento 
Any collection of assets that reacts in a unique way to the fundamental drivers of the economy. Most important asset classes are equity, fixed income, money market investment, and real estate.

asset management / Asset-Management / gestion d'actifs / asset management 
Range of services offered by banks for the active management of a client's assets under a portfolio management mandate. Asset management is essentially synonymous with portfolio management or wealth management but in practice often refers to the service provided to institutional investors. See also institutional investor.

asset management mandate / Verwaltungsvollmacht / pouvoir de gérance / mandato di gestione 
Also: portfolio management mandate. Limited power of attorney empowering the authorized agent to perform management and administrative acts, but not conferring any authority with regard to disposal. See also managed account.

asset swap / Asset-Swap / swap d'actifs / asset swap 
(1) General exchange of assets or payment obligations.
(2) Also: asset-based swap. Interest rate swap in which the fixed rate payer holds a bond whose cash flow (interest rate, interest payment dates, denomination) is reflected in the swap terms.

asset-backed security / Asset-Backed Security / asset-backed security / asset-backed security 
Abbr.: ABS. Bond-like instrument backed by a pool of financial claims such as mortgages or credit-card receivables which enables the originator to raise cash by borrowing against assets. Like with any fixed-income security, the investor is paid a coupon.

assets / Aktiven / actif / attivo 
Accounting term for everything a company owns that has monetary value, i.e. as shown in the balance sheet (liquid assets, receivables, property, plant and equipment, investments in associates, etc). Opposite: liabilities. See also easily realizable assets.

assignee / Zessionar / cessionnaire / cessionario 
The acquirer of title or interest transferred by an assignor.

assignment / Zession / cession / cessione 
The transfer of a claim by written contract between the creditor (assignor) and the party acquiring the claim (assignee). See also blanket assignment, endorsement, undisclosed assignment, assignment in blank.

assignment credit / Zessionskredit / crédit contre cession / credito contro cessione 
Book credit secured against the fiduciary assignment of existing receivables. See also discount credit.

assignment in blank / Blankozession / cession en blanc / cessione in bianco 
Assignment or detailed specification of assignee. With a separate assignment in blank the assignment is entered on a separate form. See also blank endorsement.

assignor / Zedent / cédant / cedente 
The person who transfers title or interest to a third party. See also assignment.

associated company / Beteiligungsgesellschaft / société de participation / società di partecipazione 
Company in which another company has a minority holding. See also holding company.


Top

At

at best; at market (USA) / bestens / au mieux / al meglio 
Also: unlimited. Order from a client for the purchase or sale of a security to be executed by the bank at the best possible price. No maximum or minimum price is prescribed. See also market order. Opposite: limited.

at market 
Synonym for at best.

at par / pari / pair / alla pari 
Indicates that the price of the instrument is equal to its face or nominal value. See also issue at par, par value price.

at the money / am Geld / à parité / at the money 
Situation where an option has an exercise price equal to or near the current price of the underlying. See also out of the money, in the money.

ATM / Geldausgabe-Automat / distributeur automatique de billets / distributore automatico di banconote 
Abbr. for automated teller machine. See Bancomat International.


Top

Au

auction / Auktion / vente aux enchères / asta 
Public sale in which goods or services are sold or bought in a bidding process.

Aussie bond / Aussie-Bond / aussie / aussie bond 
Bond issued by foreign borrowers and denominated in Australian dollars (AUD).

authentification; official certification 
Confirmation of the authenticity of a document, photocopy or signature by an authority or notary, without making any statement on the content. See also legalization, apostille.

authorized bank / ermächtigte Bank / banque habilitée / banca autorizzata 
Bank which, in addition to the central paying agency, has been given permission by public authorities or agencies to process decentralized payment transfers.

automated cash deposit machine / Geldeinzahlungs-Automat / appareil de versements automatiques / apparecchio automatico per il versamento di contanti 
Machine that accepts banknote deposits for payment into a customer's account. See Bancomat International.


Top

Av

aval 
Synonym for bill guarantee.

average 
Synonym for middle rate.

average due date / mittlerer Verfall / échéance moyenne / scadenza media 
Mean due date for several sums payable at different dates (frequently applies to a bill of exchange).

average price 
Synonym for middle rate.

average price method 
Synonym for averaging.

average term / mittlere Laufzeit / durée moyenne / durata media 
Maturity of a bond based on the average of the earliest and the latest possible redemption date.

averaging / Averaging / averaging / averaging 
Also: cost averaging. Strategy of investing fixed amounts in regular purchases of certain securities (equities, investment fund certificates), thereby achieving a lower average purchase price. Investing fixed amounts means that fewer securities are purchased when security prices go up and more are purchased when security prices go down.
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B/L 
Abbr. for bill of lading.

Ba

backtesting / Backtesting / contrôle a posteriori / backtesting 
Checking value-at-risk calculations and investment and hedge strategies against historic data. Backtesting enables the robustness of models to be tested under market conditions.

back-to-back credit 
Synonym for back-to-back documentary credit.

back-to-back documentary credit / Back-to-Back-Akkreditiv / crédit documentaire back to back / credito documentario back to back 
Also: counter credit, back-to-back credit. Documentary credit which is granted to another beneficiary on the basis of an existing, non-transferrable documentary credit (prime/master/original letter of credit). Back-to-back credits are commonly used by middlemen when the original credit cannot be transferred and/or the terms of the two credits are not the same.

backwardation / Deport / déport / backwardation 
(1) Payment made to carry forward short positions.
(2) Situation in which the spot price of a currency plus the cost of rent and interest exceeds the forward price. Opposite: contango.

backwardation business / Deportgeschäft / opération de déport / operazione di backwardation 
Extension of a short position until the next settlement date of the securities market, where the bank delivers the securities on a loan basis on the originally agreed settlement date and charges the client the relevant commission. Opposite: contango.

bad debt risk / Delkredere-Risiko / risque ducroire / rischio delcredere 
Risk that a debtor may be unwilling or unable to repay. The credit risk is particularly high in the area of foreign trade due to legislative differences between countries. See also credit risk.

balance / Saldo / solde / saldo 
The difference between the sum of all credit items and all debit items in an account.

balance an account / saldieren / clore / saldare 
Also: close an account. To calculate the balance of an account accrued up to the closing date, including interest and expenses.

balance brought forward / Saldovortrag / report de solde / riporto a nuovo 
Balance brought (carried) forward from one accounting period to the next.

balance of payments / Zahlungsbilanz / balance des paiements / bilancia dei pagamenti 
Balance-sheet-like record of all cross-border payments of a country during a given period. The balance of payments includes current transactions in respect of goods (foreign trade) and services (including income on investments) on the one hand, and capital transactions (direct and portfolio investments, etc.) on the other. Not a balance sheet in the strict accounting sense, it is instead more akin to a current account. See also current account balance.

balance of trade / Handelsbilanz / balance commerciale / bilancia commerciale 
The net difference between the value of a country's exports and imports of merchandise, with exports listed on the assets side and imports on the liabilities side. The balance of trade is positive (in surplus) if exports exceed imports, and negative (in deficit) if the reverse is the case.

balance sheet / Bilanz / bilan / bilancio 
A statement of the assets and liabilities of a business at a given time. The assets side of the balance sheet provides information on the use of funds whereas the liabilities side details the procurement of funds (financing). In Switzerland, the preparation of balance sheets is governed by a detailed body of regulations.

balance sheet analysis / Bilanzanalyse / analyse de bilan / analisi di bilancio 
Assessment of the figures and ratios in the balance sheet and income statement (profit and loss account) in order to appraise the standing and creditworthiness of a company or to evaluate the securities it has issued for investment purposes. See also securities analysis.

Bancomat International / Bancomat / bancomat / Bancomat 
International cash dispenser chain created to enable bank customers to withdraw cash up to a certain amount at anytime of the day or night. To do this, clients require a customer card or Maestro card and PIN code. Bancomats can also be used to load electronic purses using the CASH facility.

bank / Bank / banque / banca 
Organization which conducts banking transactions (mainly in the areas of financing, investment and payment operations) together with all accompanying services. Depending on business policy, company size and legal limitations, a bank may operate as a full-service bank or a specialized, regional, national or international institution. In most countries banks are subject to strict monitoring and controls (Switzerland: Swiss Federal Banking Commission). The main criterion in Switzerland for an institution to qualify as a bank (and thus be governed by the Swiss Banking Law) is that its commercial function be the acceptance of deposits from the public and/or refinancing through outside banks in order to finance a number of individuals or companies with whom the institution does not form a business entity. Similarly, Article 2a of the Implementing Ordinance for the Swiss Federal Law on Banks and Savings Banks also assigns bank status to issuing companies which underwrite securities or equity rights either for a fixed fee or a commission and then place them on the primary market.

bank account / Bankkonto / compte en banque / conto bancario 
Also: account. Record of all incoming and outgoing payments maintained by a bank for its clients. Interest rates, charges, credit and withdrawal limits and additional facilities will vary according to the type of account.

bank balance sheet / Bankbilanz / bilan bancaire / bilancio bancario 
A statement of the assets and liabilities of a bank existing at a particular time or date. In Switzerland, the Banking Law and its Implementing Ordinance stipulate binding regulations for the preparation and publication of annual accounts and interim financial statements. Article 25 of the Implementing Ordinance details minimum requirements.

bank bill / Bankakzept / acceptation de banque / accettazione bancaria 
Bill of exchange accepted by the drawee bank. Not a common form of exchange transaction in Switzerland. However, bankers' acceptances play an important role as money market instruments.

bank check (US) 
See banker's draft.

bank clearing system 
Settlement of mutual payments between banks. In Switzerland: Swiss Interbank Clearing.

bank commission / Bankprovision / commission bancaire / provvigione bancaria 
Fee levied for banking services.

bank declaration / Bankenerklärung / déclaration bancaire / dichiarazione bancaria 
Under Swiss withholding tax law, the annual distribution of investment trusts deriving at least 80% of their income from non-Swiss sources is credited to shareholders not residing in Switzerland without deduction of Swiss withholding tax, provided the bank where the coupons are cashed declares:
(1) that the shareholder does not reside in Switzerland,
(2) that the shares are deposited with it in a safekeeping account,
(3) that the coupon amount is not paid out in cash but credited to an account held by the shareholder at that bank.

bank deposit / Bankeinlage / dépôt bancaire / deposito bancario 
Deposit with a bank.

Bank for International Settlements / Bank für Internationalen Zahlungsausgleich / Banque des règlements internationaux / Banca dei Regolamenti Internazionali 
Abbr.: BIS. International financial institution domiciled in Basel. The BIS promotes cooperation between central banks as well as advocating the standardization of banking regulations by issuing recommendations for capital adequacy, risk management and derivatives. Website: http://www.bis.org.

bank guarantee / Bankgarantie / garantie bancaire / garanzia bancaria 
Irrevocable commitment of a bank to make payment if a third party fails to supply specific goods or services. Main types of bank guarantee: bid bond, performance bond, advance payment guarantee, payment guarantee and credit guarantee.

bank guaranty / Bankbürgschaft / cautionnement bancaire / fideiussione bancaria 
Legally binding document signed by the bank of a client guaranteeing payment of a sum up to a given amount to a specified third party if the client fails to meet his payment obligations. The bank guaranty gives the seller maximum security that he will receive his money. The client bears the costs of issuing the bank guaranty.

Bank of Japan / Bank of Japan / Banque du Japon / Bank of Japan 
Abbr.: BoJ. Japanese central bank.

bank payment order 
See payment order.

bank payment slip with reference number / Bankeinzahlungsschein mit Referenznummer / bulletin de versement avec référence bancaire / polizza di versamento bancario con numero di riferimento 
Abbr.: BESR. Payment slip used in Switzerland for the efficient, low-cost invoicing of domestic business transactions. Funds paid into the account are notified to the client (on data carriers or by file transfer) for automatic reconciliation of accounts receivable.

bank rate 
Synonym for discount rate.

banker / Bankier / banquier / banchiere 
Person who performs brokerage services in his capacity as owner of a banking institution or as an executive employee of a bank.

Bankers Association 
Short form of Swiss Bankers Association.

banker's draft / Bankcheck / chèque bancaire / assegno bancario 
Also: bank check. A draft issued by a bank which may be drawn on the issuing bank itself or on a third bank. Readily negotiable means of cashless payment.

banking centre / Bankplatz / place bancaire / piazza bancaria 
Place where banks are domiciled or are represented by business offices. In Switzerland only those localities are considered to be banking centres in which the Swiss National Bank maintains its own bank office or agency or is represented by a correspondent bank. This distinction plays a role primarily in connection with bill collection and discounting.

Banking Commission 
Synonym for Swiss Federal Banking Commission.

Banking Ordinance / Bankenverordnung / ordonnance sur les banques et les caisses d'épargne / ordinanza sulle banche 
Abbr.: BankO. Abbreviation for the Swiss Implementing Ordinance on Banks and Savings Banks of 17 May 1972 and its amendments. It contains the supplementary provisions to the Swiss Banking Law.

banking operations / Bankgeschäfte / opérations bancaires / operazioni bancarie 
Legal transactions carried out by the bank when executing its specific functions. Banking operations can be categorised according to different criteria, e.g. in terms of returns as in interest-differential business, fee and commission business, own-account transactions and trading business; or in line with organisational or marketing criteria as follows: deposit transactions, loan transactions, securities transactions, money market transactions, payment transactions.

banking secrecy / Bankgeheimnis / secret bancaire / segreto bancario 
An obligation on the part of banks and their employees to keep customer data confidential. In Switzerland, the violation of banking secrecy is a public offence under Article 47 of the Banking Law. However, under the law governing criminal procedure and other legal provisions, the banks have an obligation to provide the authorities with information and testify before them.

banking supervision / Bankenaufsicht / contrôle bancaire / vigilanza bancaria 
Four bodies supervise banking activities in Switzerland: the Federal Banking Commission (highest supervisory authority), the statutory auditors (as prescribed by Swiss banking legislation), the internal auditors, and the auditors as prescribed by the Swiss Code of Obligations.

banknote / Banknote / billet de banque / banconota 
Note issued by a central bank as a means of currency. A banknote does not embody any rights and as such does not constitute a security. Banknotes are legal tender.

banknote trading / Notenhandel / négoce de billets de banque / compravendita di banconote 
Also: banknote dealing, change. The exchange of cash in one's own currency into a foreign currency. Where cheques, bills of exchange or bank deposits are converted into a foreign country, the term foreign exchange trading or currency trading is used.

BankO 
See Banking Ordinance.

bankruptcy / Konkurs / faillite / fallimento 
Inability to meet payment obligations leading to the enforced liquidation of the assets of a debtor entered in the Commercial Register. The proceeds of the liquidation are distributed among the creditors according to a specific plan. In UK English the term «bankruptcy» can only apply to individuals - «insolvency» should be used for companies. See also: schedule of creditors.

bank's inhouse fund / bankinternes Sondervermögen / portefeuille collectif interne de la banque / portafoglio collettivo interno della banca 
Fund-like pool of assets. Units are offered solely to clients who already have assets under management with the bank operating the fund. Under Switzerland's Investment Fund Act, a bank may not publicly advertise inhouse funds.

barrel / Barrel / baril / barile 
Measure unit for oil equivalent to 42 US gallons or around 159 litres. Production statistics are published in barrel units, and prices for almost all the commonly known crude oil types are set in dollars per barrel. 


barrier / Barriere / barrière / barriera 
Structured product contracts with trigger points that, when crossed, automatically generate events such as changes in value, redemption or coupon.

barrier option / Barrier-Option / option à barrière / barrier option 
Also: limit option. Option that in contrast to normal calls and puts is subject to certain restrictions which create better premiums. If the underlying of a barrier option touches, exceeds or falls below a specific price or rate (barrier) during the term, the option is either activated or expires. See knock-in option, knock-out option.

base rate 
Synonym for key interest rate.

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision / Basler Ausschuss für Bankenaufsicht / Comité de Bâle sur le contrôle bancaire / Comitato di Basilea per la vigilanza bancaria 
Committee of banking supervisory authorities that coordinates banking supervision in the individual member countries. The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision was founded in 1974 by the governors of the central banks of the Group of Ten. It is made up of high-ranking representatives of the banking supervisory authorities and central banks of a range of European and non-European countries. The committee generally convenes at the Bank for International Settlements in Basel, where it has its permanent secretariat. The guidelines on the Capital Accord (Basel I and Basel II) were drawn up by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. The committee does not, however, have any legislative powers.

basic analysis / Fundamentalanalyse / analyse fondamentale / analisi fondamentale 
Method of determining the true or intrinsic value of a share on the basis of fundamental factors (e.g. balance sheet, income statement, management record, overall industry). Used as a gauge of future profit and dividend growth. A share trading lower than its estimated intrinsic value is classed as underpriced.

basis point / Basispunkt / point de base / punto base 
One hundredth of a percent. Used for calculating yield differentials in interest instruments.

basis price / Basispreis / prix de base / prezzo base 
Price at which an option buyer can buy (call) or sell (put) the underlying securities, currencies, etc.

basis risk / Basisrisiko / risque de base / rischio di base 
Price risk inherent in forward transactions. Risk that the correlation between the price of a financial future and that of the underlying spot instrument could change so significantly as to diminish the success of the hedging transaction. 


basket / Basket / panier / paniere 
Basket of instruments, e.g. stocks from the same sector or region. A basket in turn can be used as the underlying of a derivative financial product.

basket certificate / Basketzertifikat / certificat sur panier / basket certificate 
Index certificate based on an index created by the issuing bank.

basket product / Basketprodukt / produit sur panier / basket product 
Financial product made up of a range of individual securities that may be differently weighted and that replicates an index, sector or strategy. Examples: index certificate, basket certificate, fixed-income fund, exchange-traded fund.

Basel I / Basel I / Bâle I / Basilea I 
Set of guidelines issued by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision in 1988 covering capital adequacy and risk management by banks. See also Basel II, Basel Committee on Banking Supervision.

Basel II / Basel II / Bâle II / Basilea II 
Revised version of the guidelines drawn up by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision covering risk management, the powers of the supervisory bodies to monitor risk management and the extended duty of disclosure and market discipline of the banks. See also Basel I, Basel Committee on Banking Supervision.
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BBL 
Abbr. for Bolero bill of lading.
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bear / Baissier / baissier / ribassista 
Also: bear market speculator. Investor who speculates on a decline in prices. Bears sell securities, currencies, etc. forward in the hope of buying them back at a lower price before delivery. See also bear market. Opposite: bull.

bear market / Bärenmarkt / marché baissier / mercato bear 
Also: market decline. General decline in prices, especially in the stock markets. Opposite: bull market.

bear market speculator 
Synonym for bear.

bearer mortgage note / Inhaberschuldbrief / cédule hypothécaire au porteur / cartella ipotecaria al portatore 
Debt instrument, or note, made out to the bearer. Whoever holds the note at any given time is the creditor.

bearer security / Inhaberpapier / titre au porteur / titolo al portatore 
Security indicating that the bearer is recognized as the owner. Opposite: registered security.

bearer share / Inhaberaktie / action au porteur / azione al portatore 
Share made out to the bearer, i.e. the person who holds or possesses the instrument, rather than to a specific named person. Bearer shares may only be issued after payment of the full par value. Opposite: registered share.

below par / unter pari / au-dessous du pair / sotto la pari 
Term that indicates that the price of a security is lower than its nominal value. Opposite: above par.

benchmark / Benchmark / benchmark / benchmark 
Reference parameter, e.g. a share index or a representative bond price or yield, used to help measure the performance of a portfolio. A benchmark that is an index is also called a reference index.

benchmark index 
Synonym for reference index.

BESR 
Abbr. for bank payment slip with reference number.

beta / Beta / bêta / beta 
Measure of the sensitivity of an equity or a portfolio to the overall market. A beta of >1 indicates that the relevant share or portfolio is subject to larger earnings fluctuations and thus carries a larger systematic risk than the overall market. See also alpha.
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bid 
Abbreviation of bid price.

bid/ask spread / Geld/Brief-Spanne / écart cours offert/demandé / scarto denaro-lettera 
Spread applied by banks, determined by transaction costs plus a profit margin.

bid bond / Bid-Bond / bid bond / bid bond 
Also: tender bond, tender guarantee, bid guarantee. Guarantee common in export financing and intended to prevent companies from tendering a bid and subsequently rejecting the mandate received because the transaction has in the meantime become unattractive, for example. This enables the buyer to protect himself against the tendering of dubious or unqualified bids. Bid bonds are often required for public tenders.

bid price / Geldkurs / cours acheteur / corso denaro 
Price which a buyer offers for the purchase of securities, foreign exchange or foreign banknotes. In other words, the price or terms at which a person is willing to buy. Opposite: asked or ask price.

big banks / Grossbanken / grandes banques / grandi banche 
Term customarily applied in many countries to the category of large banks operating on an international scale. Switzerland's big banks are UBS and Credit Suisse.

Big Board 
Slang for the New York Stock Exchange.

bill eligible for discount with the National Bank / nationalbankfähiger Wechsel / effet admis à l'escompte par la Banque nationale / effetto scontabile presso la Banca nazionale 
A bill that under certain conditions can be discounted by the Swiss National Bank. Prerequisites are that it must be made out in Swiss francs, be payable in a Swiss banking centre and carry two mutually independent signatures of firms or persons known to be solvent. It is valid for a maximum of six months. See also rediscount.

bill for collection / Inkassowechsel / effet à l'encaissement / cambiale all'incasso 
Bill of exchange presented to a bank for collection (and not for discounting). The countervalue of the bill is credited to the account of the customer either immediately «on the due date» or only «after collection».

bill guarantee / Wechselbürgschaft / aval / avallo cambiario 
Also referred to as aval. Undertaking of joint and several liability by the endorser (by signing the bill) to settle a bill of exchange in the event of the failure of the actual drawee of the bill to do so. See also guarantee.

bill of exchange / Wechsel / effet de change / cambiale 
Payment order written by one person (the drawer) directing another person (the drawee) to pay a certain amount of money at a specified future date to a third party. It designates a named beneficiary but is transferable by endorsement. Discount credit when sold to a bank. See also promissory note, acceptance, draft.

bill of lading / Konnossement / connaissement / polizza di carico 
A document issued in ocean traffic, the bill of lading confirms that the goods have been received for shipment, the terms under which shipping is to take place and that they are to be surrendered to the legitimate owner of the bill of lading at the port of destination. The shipment document is the most important document used in documentary credits. See also: clean bill of lading.

Bill of Lading Electronic Registry Organization 
See Bolero.

bill portfolio / Wechselportefeuille / portefeuille effets / portafoglio cambiario 
Also: bill holdings. Discounted bills deposited with a bank. 

bill renewal / Wechselprolongation / prolongation d'un effet / proroga di cambiale 
Prolonging the validity of a bill by postponing the expiry date.

BIS 
Abbr. for Bank for International Settlements.
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black knight / Schwarzer Ritter / chevalier noir / cavaliere nero 
Also referred to as a corporate raider, raider. Company that endeavours to take over another company against the will of the acquiree's management by seeking to convince the shareholders of the target company to accept the takeover contrary to the wishes of the management and Board of Directors. See also white knight.

black-out period / Black-Out-Period / période de black-out / black-out period 
Period during which no brokers can issue research reports on the proposed listing enterprise.

Black-Scholes model / Black-Scholes-Modell / modèle Black-Scholes / formula di Black e Scholes 
Model developed by F. Black and M. Scholes in 1973 for calculating the price of European options on shares and indices.

blank cheque / Blankocheck / chèque en blanc / assegno in bianco 
A cheque signed by the drawer with no amount specified. This is inserted by the payee on pre-agreed terms. Liability remains with the drawer. 

blank draft / Blankowechsel / effet en blanc / cambiale in bianco 
A draft passed on by the drawer with certain details left blank. The recipient is entitled to complete the draft himself on pre-agreed terms. Liability remains with the drawer.

blank endorsement / Blankoindossament / endossement en blanc / girata in bianco 
Endorsement not bearing the name of the endorsee. The instrument merely contains the signature of the endorser. See also assignment in blank.

blanket assignment / Globalzession / cession globale / cessione globale 
The assignment (ceding) of all present and future claims of the debtor to third parties. The Swiss Bankers Association has prepared special guidelines for making blanket assignments. See also assignment.

blanket credit line / Rahmenkredit / crédit cadre / credito quadro 
General credit available under an open-end lending agreement for a specified period. An example would be a credit line agreed between an import and an export country for granting long-term export or investment loans.

block of shares / Aktienpaket / lot d'actions / pacchetto azionario 
Large number of shares of the same company owned by a single shareholder. 

block trading / Blockhandel / négoce de lots importants / compravendita per blocchi 
Trading in large packages of securities.

blocked period / Sperrfrist / délai de blocage / periodo bloccato 
Banking: period during which certain securities are not placed freely at the owner's disposal (e.g. securities or employee shares deposited as collateral).

blocked securities / Sperrstücke / titres bloqués / titoli bloccati 
(1) Bonds or shares (e.g. securities acquired under stock option plans) which may not be sold before a certain date.
(2) Securities reported lost or stolen and hence barred from trading.

blue chip / Blue Chip / blue chip / blue chip 
Share of a company of prime borrower standing. Original meaning of word: fragment of a diamond.
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BoJ 
Abbr. for Bank of Japan.

Bolero / Bolero / Bolero / Bolero 
Acronym of Bill of Lading Electronic Registry Organization. Joint venture founded in 1988 with the aim of creating a neutral and secure electronic business-to-business platform for the Internet-based transfer of trading documents in international dealing activities. Website: www.bolero.net. See also Bolero bill of lading, bill of lading.

Bolero bill of lading / Bolero-Bill-of-Lading / Bolero Bill of Lading / Bolero Bill of Lading 
Abbr.: BBL. Electronic version of traditional bill of lading. The Bolero bill of lading offers the same functions as the paper-based sea waybill in electronic form. The BBL can be created, transferred, altered and finally destroyed again. It ensures that only the authorized company or person is able to initiate transactions related to the title registry and obtain a lading, for instance. See also Bolero.

Bon du Trésor / Bon du Trésor / bon du Trésor / Bon du Trésor 
Short- to medium-term treasury bond issue in France with a maturity of between three months and three years. See also treasury note.

bond / (1) Obligation (2) Anleihensobligation (3) Debenture / (1) obligation (2) obligation d'emprunt (3) debenture (1) obbligazione (2) obbligazione di prestito (3) debenture 
(1) Unsecured general debt obligation in the form of a security usually with a fixed interest rate or no interest (zero-coupon bond). With few exceptions (such as perpetual bonds), these instruments have a fixed maturity, e.g. bond issues, medium-term notes. See also eurobond issue.
(2) Individual security forming part of a bond issue generally for a principal amount of several millions. All the bonds in a bond issue carry equal rights, with the terms of issue uniformly specified. In contrast to bonds, medium-term notes are not issued during a specific subscription period but continuously. Moreover, medium-term notes are not negotiable, unlike bonds which are as a rule exchange-listed. See also bond issue, medium-term note, convertible bond.
(3) Synonym for debenture.

bond floor / Obligationenwert / valeur nue / bond value 
Price at which a convertible bond would have to sell as a conventional bond relative to yields of other bonds of similar maturity, size and quality.

bond fund / Obligationenfonds / fonds en obligations / fondo d'investimento obbligazionario 
Investment fund that invests at least two-thirds of its assets in bonds. A maximum of 10% may be invested in equities and 25% in convertible bonds. See also equity, bond, convertible bond issue, fixed-income fund.

bond issue / Anleihe / emprunt obligataire / prestito 
(1) Medium- to long-term securities (usually fixed-interest) issued and offered for public subscription during a specified period as a means of raising capital. In Switzerland, bond issues usually run for 5-15 years. In many cases the borrower and/or bondholder is given the right to repay or redeem all or part of the issue prior to final maturity upon observance of a notice period. Special forms include convertible bond issues, index-linked bond issues, foreign bond issues and Eurobonds.
(2) See also bond.

bond issue in default / notleidende Anleihe / emprunt en souffrance / prestito in sofferenza 
A bond issue whose interest or planned repayments of principal are not made as scheduled under the terms of the issue.

bond market / Obligationenmarkt / marché obligataire / mercato obbligazionario 
Market for government, municipal or corporate debt securities.

bonus share / Gratisaktie / action gratuite / azione gratuita 
Also: free share. Share newly issued by a corporation to its shareholders created through the conversion of reserves into share capital. Known in the US as stock dividend.

book building / Bookbuilding / book building / book building 
Also: book building procedure. Procedure in an initial public offering or issue of other securities in which the price expectations of large institutional investors are taken into account before the actual issue price is set. In contrast to a fixed-price procedure, the issuer carries the placement risk for book building.

book loss / Buchverlust / perte comptable / perdita contabile 
A loss resulting from the lower valuation of assets or the higher valuation of liabilities (such as provisions). Equal to the difference between the old and the new (lower) book value. Opposite: book profit.

book profit / Buchgewinn / bénéfice comptable / utile contabile 
A profit which derives from assigning a higher value to assets or a lower value to liabilities (e.g. provisions or reserves) and is equal to the difference between the old and the new (higher) book value. Opposite: book loss.

book value / Buchwert / valeur comptable / valore contabile 
The value at which assets are carried on the books of account. Generally, fixed assets are shown at cost less normal depreciation while inventories may be carried at cost or market value, whichever is lower. The book value of a share is the company's net worth divided by the number of shares outstanding.

book-entry securities / Wertrecht / droit-valeur / diritto valore 
Uncertificated rights stemming from standardized and dematerialized securities. Also: uncertificated securities. Uncertificated rights stemming from standardized and dematerialized securities.

boom / Boom / boom / boom 
A rapid expansion in the volume of business activity, frequently accompanied by price inflation and increased speculation in securities, commodities, etc. Different from prosperity in that boom refers to a stormy rise in the pace and volume of activity rather than an actual increase in production and consumption.

borrowed funds 
See liabilities.

borrower 
Synonym for issuer.

borrower's note / Schuldschein / reconnaissance de dette / riconoscimento di debito 
A written, unconditional promise to pay a sum of money at some future date to a named party, to order or on demand. 
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Brady bond / Brady-Bond / Brady bond / Brady bond 
Long-term bond issued under IMF debt rescheduling programmes which is backed by a zero-coupon bond issued by the US Treasury. See also treasury bond.

break-even / Breakeven / seuil de rentabilité / break even 
Also: break-even point, break even, profitability threshold. Abbr.: BEP. In option transactions the price of an underlying at which the cost of purchasing an option is covered.

bridge loan / Überbrückungskredit / crédit de soudure; crédit de relais / credito ponte 
A short-term loan made to enable a borrower to complete a purchase before he receives funds from another source, e.g. seasonal loan.

Britannia / Britannia / Britannia / Britannia 
British gold coin containing one ounce of gold with a nominal value of £100. Britannia coins of 1/2, 1/4 and 1/10 of an ounce of gold are also minted.

broken date / gebrochener Termin / échéance rompue / data spezzata 
Settlement date for forward currency contracts that does not coincide with standard contract periods.

broken-period interest 
Synonym for accrued interest.

broker / Makler / agent de change / agente di cambio 
Short form of stockbroker.

brokerage / Courtage / courtage / commissione di borsa 
The service fee charged by a stockbroker to a client for executing purchase or sale orders for securities, commodities, etc. Brokerage fee scales are usually degressive, i.e. the percentage rate for large-volume orders is less than for small orders.
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budget / Budget / budget / budget 
A plan of future income and expenses during a specified period (frequently one year).

budget deficit / Haushaltsdefizit / déficit budgétaire / disavanzo di bilancio 
Situation in which a government's spending exceeds its income. Opposite: budget surplus.

budget surplus / Haushaltsüberschuss / excédent budgétaire / avanzo di bilancio 
Situation in which a government's income exceeds its spending. Opposite: budget deficit.

bull / Haussier / haussier / rialzista 
Bull is the opposite of bear. See also bull market.

bull market / Bullenmarkt / marché haussier / mercato bull 
Also: bullish market, rising market. Market where prices are rising. See also rally. Opposite: bear market.

bulldog bond / Bulldog-Bond / obligation bulldog / bulldog bond 
Short form: bulldog. Bond issued by a foreign borrower in sterling.

bullet bond / Bullet-Bond / bullet bond / bullet bond 
Bond with fixed maturity that may not be called and may not be redeemed prematurely by the borrower.

bullion coin / Bullion-Coin / bullion coin / bullion coin 
Coin made from precious metals whose value is based on its precious metal content. Bullion coins are minted in large numbers as they combine the advantages of coins and bars.

bullish market 
Synonym for bull market.

Bund / Bund / Bund / Bund 
German government bond with a maturity of up to 30 years. The 10-year Bund serves as the benchmark for the German and other European bond markets. 

business cycle 
See economy.

buying price 
Synonym for bid price.

buyout / Buyout / buyout / buyout 
The takeover of specific business units or of an entire company by an outside investor or management team.

buy-side research / Buy-Side-Research / recherche buy-side / buy-side research 
Research which produces financial reports for portfolio managers, fund managers, relationship managers and private banking clients, who are then in a position to purchase the securities on their own account. Opposite: sell-side research.
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BVG / BVG / LPP / LPP 
Swiss Federal Law on Occupational Retirement, Survivors' and Disability Pension Plans (in force since 1 January 1985). Legal framework comprising minimum standards for "second pillar" social security that are mandatory for all employees in Switzerland earning a certain income, as well as maximum standards governing occupational benefits. Execution of the provisions of this legislation is carried out by a pension fund, normally a foundation, which is entered in the BVG index. The banks offer a range of special services for implementing these norms, e.g. collective investments, pooled funds and the administration of termination benefits.

Ca

Cable / Cable / cable / cable 
Exchange rate between USD and GBP.

call / Call / option d'achat / call 
Also: call option. Option conveying the right to purchase the underlying. Opposite: put. 

callable / kündbar / callable / callable 
Descriptive term applied to a loan or to securities that can be repaid ahead of schedule at the request of the borrower.

call loan / Call-Loan / prêt au jour le jour / call loan 
Loan (usually granted to a broker, dealer or investment banker) which may be recalled by the lender or repaid by the borrower at any time without notice.

call money / Callgeld / argent au jour le jour / call money 
Also: overnight money, day-to-day money. Funds lent by the banks to one another at interest in large, round amounts which the lending bank can call for repayment on a daily basis and which can be repaid by the borrower at any time without notice.

call price / Call-Price / prix de rachat / call price 
Price at which a security can be redeemed when called.

cancellation / Storno / extourne / storno 
Annulling an entry or reversing it as of the pertinent value date.

cancellation of securities / Kraftloserklärung von Wertpapieren / déclaration de nullité des titres / dichiarazione di nullità dei titoli 
Legally prescribed procedure for declaring lost securities invalid. This improves the position of the owner of the securities by reinstating him with the same rights he had before the securities were lost. Only a court can declare securities invalid.

cantonal bank / Kantonalbank / banque cantonale / banca cantonale 
Swiss commercial bank under the sole or majority ownership of a cantonal government. They conduct the bulk of their business in the respective canton. Most cantonal banks are public-law corporations, but more and more are converting to public limited companies which are, as a rule, backed by a guarantee under which the canton assumes liability for all or part of the bank's obligations.

cap / Cap / cap / cap 
Opposite: floor.
(1) Maximum interest rate on floating rate bonds.
(2) Individually structured interest rate option that protects the buyer long-term against rising interest rates via a ceiling.

capital adequacy ratio / Deckungsverhältnis / coefficient de couverture / coefficiente di copertura 
Measure of a bank's capital expressed as a percentage of its risk-weighted credit exposures.

capital adequacy requirements / Eigenmittelanforderungen / exigences en matière de fonds propres / esigenze in materia di fondi propri 
Regulatory requirements which establish a minimum level of capital which banks are required to maintain to cover the level of risks taken by them on a proprietary basis.

capital allocation 
Synonym of asset allocation.

capital appreciation fund / thesaurierender Fonds / fonds de capitalisation / fondo a capitalizzazione 
Also: accumulation fund, growth fund. Investment fund that reinvests most of its income. The continuous reinvestment of income further enhances performance thanks to the compound interest effect.

capital export / Kapitalexport / exportation de capitaux / esportazione di capitali 
Flows of capital from one country to another, mainly in the form of credit, direct investments and portfolio investments. In the case of remunerative capital exports, the exporting company acquires legal claims or participation rights abroad, whereas unrequited capital exports can take the form of non-returnable transfers to developing countries. 

capital gain/loss / Kapitalgewinn/-verlust / gain/perte en capital / utile/perdita di capitale 
Positive/negative difference between the price at which an investment is purchased and the price at which it is sold. Profit or loss on the realization of a long-term investment.

capital increase / Kapitalerhöhung / augmentation de capital / aumento di capitale 
Move by a corporation (joint stock company) to raise its capital stock (share capital) by issuing additional shares or participation certificates.

capital investment loan / Investitionskredit / crédit d'investissement / credito d'investimento 
Credit granted for the financing of fixed assets, i.e. property, plant, machines, equipment, etc. Current assets are financed with a working capital credit.

capital market / Kapitalmarkt / marché des capitaux / mercato dei capitali 
Any place or system where the requirements of business enterprises and public authorities or governments for medium- and long-term capital funds can be met. Opposite: money market.

capital market rate / Kapitalmarktsatz / taux du marché des capitaux / tasso d'interesse del mercato dei capitali 
Interest rate prevailing in the capital market. See also money market rate.

capital mortgage / Kapitalhypothek / hypothèque en capital / ipoteca capitale 
Mortgage deed to secure a specific claim. The mortgage lien guarantees the repayment of principal, the costs of debt collection, and three years of defaulted interest at the time bankruptcy proceedings are opened or an application for the realization of the pledge is filed, as well as the interest payable since the last due date.

capital protection / Kapitalschutz / protection du capital / copertura del capitale 
Component of certain derivatives that protects the investor against a significant loss on the original investment. Takes the form of a minimum repayment guarantee.

capital stock / Dotationskapital / capital de dotation / capitale di dotazione 
Also: endowment capital. Capital made available by public authorities to companies that it owns and that are not public limited companies. For example, cantonal banks are provided with endowment capital by the canton. The allocation of capital by the central office of an organization to its non-autonomous branches is not regarded as endowment capital in the true sense of the word.

capital write-down / Kapitalschnitt / réduction du capital-actions / riduzione del capitale 
Reduction of capital stock and ensuing reverse split, combined with a subsequent capital increase through the issue of new shares. Serves to strengthen the capital base of a company in temporary difficulties.

capitalization / Kapitalisierung / capitalisation / capitalizzazione 
(1) Calculation of the capitalized value of regularly recurring payments or income streams (such as rental income) using a specific interest rate (capitalization rate).
(2) Synonym for market capitalization.

capitalization rate / Kapitalisierungssatz / taux de capitalisation / tasso di capitalizzazione 
See capitalization.

capitalized income value / Ertragswert / valeur de rendement / valore di rendimento 
Value of money expected to be earned or received in the future, calculated using a specific rate of interest. Calculation of the capitalized value is of particular importance in connection with the appraisal of real estate properties.

capped note / Capped Note / capped note / capped note 
Also: capped FRN. Floating rate note with a maximum interest rate. See also cap.

carriage and insurance paid / Carriage and Insurance Paid / carriage and insurance paid / carriage and insurance paid 
Abbr.: CIP. Clause used in the forwarding business meaning that the seller delivers the goods to the carrier nominated by him, but the seller must in addition pay the cost of carriage necessary to bring the goods to the named destination. This means that the buyer bears all risks and additional costs occurring after the goods have been so delivered. However, in CIP the seller also has to procure insurance against the buyer's risk of loss of or damage to the goods during the carriage. See also CIF, FAS, FOB.

carry trade / Carry-Trade / carry trade / carry trade 
Capital transaction where a bond dealer borrows short-term funds and invests them in long-term bonds.

carry-over transaction / Reportgeschäft / opération de report / operazione di riporto 
Also: contango transaction. Securities trading: the prolongation of a forward long trade from one expiry date to the next. The buyer sells the securities from the expired trade at the spot rate to the bank participating in the transaction, pays the contango (premium) and buys them back as of the next expiry date. Contango transactions generally take the form of a collateral loan. Opposite: backwardation.

CASH / CASH / CASH / CASH 
Chip card function (e.g. on a Maestro card or Postcard). Chips can be loaded with cash up to a set amount at a Bancomat. Can be used as a cash substitute in shops displaying the CASH sign. PIN codes are not required, and the price of the purchase can be debited directly from the card.

cash-and-carry arbitrage / Cash-und-Carry-Arbitrage / arbitrage comptant-terme / arbitraggio cash and carry 
See arbitrage.

cash dispenser / Geldausgabe-Automat / distributeur automatique de billets de banque / distributore automatico di banconote 
Also: ATM. See Bancomat International.

cash dividend / Bardividende / dividende en numéraire / dividendo in contanti 
See dividend.

cash equity / Cash Equity / cash equity / cash equity 
Physical shares as opposed to derivative products

cash flow / Cashflow / flux de trésorerie / cash flow 
Financial analysis: the flow of money payments to or from a company over a given period (e.g. over the course of a year). The cash flow is the net profit plus depreciation and provisions in the period in question. Extraordinary or accrued expenses and income should be excluded from calculation of the cash flow so that the total figure reflects as clearly as possible the true earnings performance of the company in question for the period. The picture should likewise not be distorted by extreme fluctuations in the amount of hidden reserves created or released. The cash flow is a key valuation parameter for both investors and lenders.

cash flow statement / Mittelflussrechnung / tableau des flux de trésorerie / conto del flusso di fondi 
Part of the annual financial statements, listing all inflows and outflows of cash and therefore the change in liquidity during the year under review.

cash loan / Geldkredit / crédit en espèces / credito per contanti 
Loan where the bank makes direct cash payment, e.g. current account loans or discount credit. Opposite: guarantee credit.

cash management / Cash-Management / gestion de trésorie / cash management 
The planning, implementation and monitoring of measures designed to ensure that adequate liquidity is maintained, surplus funds are profitably invested and shortfalls are made up in good time and at low cost.

cash market; spot market / Kassamarkt / marché au comptant / mercato a pronti 
Also: spot market. The here-and-now market for immediate delivery and payment. Opposite: futures market. 

cash or title option / Cash-oder-Titel-Option / cash or title option / opzione cash or title 
Abbr.: COTO. Option where the shareholder of a company has the right to purchase new shares, sell the COTO on the stock exchange or receive payment of the cash equivalent by the issuer.

cash reserve / Barreserve / réserve en espèces / riserva liquida 
Assets or capital which are immediately accessible or transferable into cash.

cash settlement / Barausgleich / livraison en espèces / liquidazione per contanti 
Also: cash payment. In future and forward transactions the performance of contractual obligations by paying in cash as opposed to physically delivering the commodity underlying the contract. See also financial future, forward contract.

CATS 
Abbr. for Certificate of Accrual on Treasury Security.


Top

Cb

CBOE 
Abbr. for Chicago Board Options Exchange.

CBOT 
Abbr. for Chicago Board of Trade.


Top

Cd

CD 
Abbr. for certificate of deposit.

CDB 
Abbreviation for due diligence agreement.

CDO 
Abbr. for collateralized debt obligation. 

CDS 
Abbr. for Credit Default Swap.


Top

Ce

CEDEL 
Centrale de Livraison de Valeurs Mobilières S.A. International clearing system established in 1970 by leading banks and financial institutions in Luxembourg for the settlement of securities transactions. CEDEL merged with Deutsche Börse Clearing in 2000 to form Clearstream.

CEF 
Abbr. for closed-end fund. 

central bank / Notenbank / institut d'émission / istituto di emissione 
Also: national bank. Only institution which has the right to issue banknotes, constitutes the monetary and credit policy authority of a currency zone. In Switzerland, this function is performed by the Swiss National Bank.

central bank money supply / Notenbankgeldmenge / monnaie de banque centrale / moneta della banca centrale 
Also: monetary base. Sum of the notes and coins in circulation, plus the sight deposits held with the Swiss National Bank by the commercial banks. From 1980 to 1997 the central bank money supply served as the basis for the SNB's money supply target. The SNB is vested with powers to control the central bank money supply.

central bank powers / Notenbankinstrumentarium / moyens d'action de la banque centrale / strumentario dell'istituto di emissione 
Powers granted to a central bank in respect of credit, monetary and currency policy. Areas commonly covered include discount and lombard policy, repurchase transactions, open market policy and the definition of minimum reserves.

central mortgage bond institution loans / Pfandbriefdarlehen / emprunt auprès de centrales d'émission de lettres de gage / prestiti delle centrali d'emissione di obbligazioni fondiarie 
Long-term loans granted by the central mortgage bond institutions to their member banks to refinance credits secured by mortgage collateral.

central mortgage bond institution / Pfandbriefzentrale / centrale d'émission de lettres de gage / centrale di emissione di obbligazioni fondiarie 
Special institution set up to issue mortgage bonds and grant long-term loans to its affiliated banks. Two such institutions were established in Switzerland in 1930, namely the Central Mortgage Bond Institution of the Swiss Cantonal Banks and the Mortgage Bond Bank of the Swiss Mortgage Institutions. 

certificate / Zertifikat / certificat / certificato 
(1) Record, attestation, confirmation.
(2) Collective document of title to one or more units in an investment fund.
(3) Synonym for stock certificate.

Certificate of Accrual on Treasury Security / Certificate of Accrual on Treasury Security / Certificate of Accrual on Treasury Security / Certificate of Accrual on Treasury Security 
Abbr.: CATS. Form of strip (2).

certificate of deposit / Depositenzertifikat; Certificate-of-Deposit / certificat de dépôt / certificato di deposito 
Abbr. CD. A certificate of deposit is a money market instrument and negotiable claim issued by a bank in return for a short- to medium-term deposit usually lasting 1-12 months, but in exceptional cases up to 5 years. By issuing the certificate the bank confirms that it has received a certain sum and that it will repay this amount to the lender together with the interest due at the end of the period decided upon by the lender. Normally certificates of deposit are issued in US dollars, even if they are issued by US banks through their branches in London (London CDs). Those certificates issued in New York play an important role as money market paper.

certificate of origin / Ursprungszeugnis; Certificate-of-Origin / certificat d'origine / certificato di origine 
Document certifying the country of origin as well as the price or value of goods. It may be issued by an official organization, such as a chamber of commerce, or by the beneficiary or the manufacturer.
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Cf

CFTC 
Abbr. for Commodity Futures Trading Commission.


Top

Ch

Chamber of Commerce / Handelskammer / chambre de commerce / Camera di Commercio 
Short form of International Chamber of Commerce.

change 
Synonym for banknote trading.

Changeomat / Changeomat / Changeomat / Changeomat 
Note-changing machine which can be used irrespective of bank opening hours to change foreign currency notes into Swiss francs and vice versa.

chart analysis 
Synonym for technical analysis.

chart / Chart / chart / chart 
Graph showing the price movements of shares or other securities. Charts are used by stock market analysts to predict stock price movements over the short and medium term, taking into account trading volumes and other factors. See also technical analysis (chart analysis).

check (US); cheque (UK) / Check; Scheck / chèque / assegno 
An order to or from the drawee (usually a bank), cheque holder or another named person, that is payable on demand and linked to specific formalities, to pay a specified sum of money. Unlike a bill of exchange, a cheque is not a means of credit but a means of cashless payment. In Switzerland, cheques may be drawn only on a bank or the Post Office where the cheque issuer has a credit balance available to cover cheque transactions. Cheques made out to the bearer can be transferred to others simply by handing them over. Crossed cheques are limited in how they can be used. See also traveller's cheque, correspondence cheque, crossed cheque, blank cheque, banker's draft.

cheque card / Checkkarte / carte chèque / carta assegni 
Also: check card (US). Card issued by a bank for accountholders who are members of a cheque system. The bank promises to cash cheques up to a certain amount provided that the signature and account number on the cheque and the cheque card are identical and the cheque card number is noted on the back of the cheque.

cheque made out to cash / Barcheck / chèque non barré / assegno ordinario 
Cheque used by the drawer to withdraw cash from his account.

checkable deposits / Giralgeld; Buchgeld / monnaie scripturale / moneta di giro 
Bank and postal checking account balances available at any time for transfers and conversion into cash.

CHF bonds issued by foreign borrowers / Schweizerfrankenanleihe ausländischer Schuldner / emprunt en francs suisses de débiteurs étrangers / prestito in franchi svizzeri di debitori esteri 
Also known as CHF foreign bonds. CHF-denominated bonds (mostly straight, convertible or warrant issues) placed on the Swiss capital market by foreign borrowers, usually with a term to maturity of 5 to 15 years.

CHF foreign bonds 
Synonym for CHF bonds issued by foreign borrowers.

Chicago Board of Trade 
Abbr.: CBOT. Commodity and commodity futures exchange founded in 1848 and based in Chicago. Today the Chicago Board of Trade is a leading market for futures and options on futures. Website: www.cbot.com.

Chicago Board Options Exchange 
Abbr.: CBOE. Exchange founded by the CBOT in 1973 that is based in Chicago and specializes in the trading of derivative instruments, index funds and structured products. Website: www.cboe.com.

Chinese wall / Chinese Wall / Chinese Wall / Chinese Wall 
Separation of lending business from securities business at a full-service bank in order to prevent a conflict of interests which would be detrimental to the client due to the confidentiality of the information concerned. In a banking system where investment banking and brokerage are segregated to prevent conflicts of interest Chinese walls are institutionalized by creating separate legal entities for the two businesses.
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Ci

CIF 
Abbr. for cost, insurance and freight.

CIP 
Abbr. for carriage and insurance paid.

circuit breakers 
See stop trading.


Top

Cl

claim / Forderung / créance / diritto 
Right to a specific payment. A demand by one person on another under asserted legal or judicial rights. In the case of a nominal claim, the demand is exclusively for a certain sum of money. In bank balance sheets a distinction is drawn between claims on banks and claims on clients. See also receivables.

clean bill of lading / reines Konnossement / connaissement net / polizza di carico pulita 
Also: clean B/L. A bill of lading that contains no positive notation of a defective condition or shortage either of the cargo or its packaging. The seller must deliver the goods in seaworthy packaging.

clearing / Clearing / clearing / clearing 
A system used to settle mutual indebtedness between a number of organizations (banks, brokers, etc). All claims are set against one another, a balance is struck at agreed intervals and only the differences are settled. Used frequently in securities clearing.

clearing account with the Swiss National Bank / Nationalbank-Girokonto / compte de virements BNS / giroconto presso la BNS 
Account maintained with the Swiss National Bank for the settlement of payment transfers. Today the clearing network is only available to companies that fall under Switzerland's banking law. The clearing account balances of the business sector are listed in the balance sheet of the Swiss National Bank as liabilities which are due daily. They can be exchanged by the accountholders into banknotes at any time. Also known as giro balances.

clearing house / Abrechnungsstelle / chambre de compensation / stanza di compensazione 
Also: clearing organization. Institution which settles the payment of financial transactions between members. Used to rationalize securities trading and bank payments. Local clearing houses exist in all major banking centres, often alongside other organizations working on a national or international basis. See also bank clearing system, securities clearing.

Clearstream / Clearstream / Clearstream / Clearstream 
International clearing company formed in 2000 from the merger of CEDEL and Deutsche Bank Clearing. Website: www.clearstream.com. 

CLN 
Abbr. for Credit Linked Note.

closed-end fund 
Abbr.: CEF. Also: closed-end investment company. Investment fund in the form of a company (normally a public limited company) with fixed capital. A closed-end fund is not obliged to redeem units on demand. This type of investment fund is not legal in Switzerland. Opposite: open-end fund.

closing price / Schlusskurs / cours de clôture / corso di chiusura 
Price of the final trade in a security at the end of a trading session. See also opening price, trading price.


Top

Cm

CMBS 
Abbr. for commercial mortgage-backed security.

Co

coffee cup effect / Mokkatasseneffekt / effetto «tazzina moka» 
Phenomenon whereby investors switch from a large to a small currency area, which has a greater impact on the small currency area than on the large one.

coinage prerogative / Münzregal / régale des monnaies / regalia delle monete 
The right to mint and issue coins used as legal tender. Exercised in Switzerland by the Federal Government. See also swissmint.

co-lead manager / Co-Lead-Manager / co-chef de file / co-lead manager 
Term referring to a bank with a special status within an underwriting syndicate, e.g. by taking on a larger allocation of the issue.

collar 
Also: range option. Simultaneous purchase of a cap and sale of a floor.

collateral / Deckung / couverture / copertura 
Security for a credit or other liability, usually in the form of something readily convertible into cash, e.g. goods, bonds, shares, etc.

collateral bond / Collateral-Bond / collateral bond / collateral bond 
American term for a bond which is secured by collateral. See also collateral mortgage bond.

collateral loan / Börsenkredit / crédit boursier / credito di borsa 
Loan secured by pledging securities and precious metals in order to finance stock market transactions. See also lombard loan.

collateral mortgage bond / Collateral-Mortgage-Bond / collateral mortgage bond / collateral mortgage bond 
Collateral bond that is secured through the pledging of a mortgage. See also collateral bond.

collateral security 
See collateral.

collateral security margin / Sicherheitsmarge / marge de garantie / margine di garanzia 
The margin or difference between the market value of collateral and the credit granted. This margin is demanded by the bank to cover itself against any possible decline in the value of the collateral. See also margin (3).

collateralized debt obligation / Collateralized-Debt-Obligation / collateralized debt obligation / collateralized debt obligation 
Abbr.: CDO. Bond that is secured by a diversified debt portfolio. A collateralized debt obligation is generally divided into different tranches with different credit ratings.

collection / Inkasso / encaissement / incasso 
The presentation for payment of any obligation, bill of exchange, draft or other instrument.

collection endorsement / Vollmachtsindossament / endossement par procuration / girata per procura 
An endorsement whereby the endorsee is given only the full authority to collect a debt, without transfer of ownership. The endorsee may also pass on the security in his turn, but only by way of a further collection endorsement.

collective account / Kollektivkonto / compte collectif / conto collettivo 
Account where the accountholders are only entitled to dispose of the deposited assets and the available balances jointly. See also joint account.

collective custody / Sammelverwahrung / dépôt global / deposito globale 
The safekeeping of fungible securities by category in a bank or a central depository. A record is kept of how many securities belong to the individual banks or customers, but no numbers are allocated. In Switzerland, the banks use SIS SegaInterSettle AG for collective custody. Opposite: individual custody.

collective investment agreement / Kollektivanlagevertrag / contrat de placement collectif / contratto d'investimento collettivo 
Agreement by the terms of which the fund management undertakes to ensure the entitlement of each investor to a share of the investment fund proportional to the units they have acquired, and to manage this fund in accordance with the provisions of the fund regulations and the applicable legislation.

collective order / Sammelauftrag / ordre global / ordine globale 
Several payment orders combined on one form.

commercial mortgage-backed security / Commercial Mortgage-Backed Security / commercial mortgage backed security / Commercial Mortgage-Backed Security 
Abbr.: CMBS. Security that is backed by the cash flows of a mortgage or pool of mortgages on commercial real estate. See also mortgage-backed security.

commercial paper / Commercial Paper / papier commercial / commercial paper 
Abbr.: CP. Common form of money market paper in the US in the form of a promissory note issued by a large company which gives a blank endorsement of the CP. Interest is discounted from the face value at the prevailing market rate for commercial paper on sale. Foreign companies have recently also started issuing CP in the US. See also Eurocommercial paper.

commercial register / Handelsregister / registre du commerce / registro di commercio 
Official register of companies which engage in a trade, manufacturing or another type of commercial business. In Switzerland, the rights and duties pertaining to entry in the commercial register are regulated by Articles 934 ff. of the Swiss Code of Obligations.

commission / Provision / commission / provvigione; commissione 
Compensation paid for work performed, generally based on the volume of the transaction or expressed as a percentage of the profit. See also bank commission.

commission and service fee income / Kommissions- und Dienstleistungsgeschäft / opérations de commissions et de prestations de service / operazione in commissione e prestazione di servizio 
Also: fee and commission income, net commission income. Item in the income statement consisting of income from commission and service fee activities less commission and service fee expenses. The bank is paid in the form of commission or fees, rather than earning interest.

commitment commission / Bereitstellungskommission / commission de mise a disposition (ou de conformation) / commissione di impegno 
Fee charged by banks (usually on a quarterly basis) for credit lines granted but not drawn on during the agreed loan period.

commodity exchange / Rohwarenbörse / bourse de marchandises / borsa merci 
Exchange specializing in commodities / raw materials contracts. The major commodities exchanges are located in Chicago, London and New York.

commodity fund / Warenfonds / fonds spécialisé dans les contrats sur marchandises / fondo d'investimento in merci 
Investment fund that invests mainly in commodity stocks or tradable commodities.

commodity futures contract / Warenterminkontrakt / contrat à terme de marchandises / contratto per consegna a termine di beni reali 
Contractual agreement to sell or purchase a standardized amount of a specific physical commodity (e.g. grain, metal, oil) at a predetermined price and at a set date in the future.

Commodity Futures Trading Commission 
Abbr.: CFTC. US regulatory authority for commodity futures trading.

compliance / Compliance / compliance / compliance 
Set of voluntary, banking supervisory and legally prescribed measures designed to ensure that the business activities of financial institutions and the personal transactions undertaken by their employees comply with the prevailing laws, regulations and practices. Compliance serves to preserve the good reputation of financial institutions.

compound interest / Zinseszins / intérêts composés / interesse composto 
Interest which is accrued on previous interest that has become due and been added to the principal amount.

compulsory stockpile bill / Pflichtlagerwechsel / effet de stocks obligatoires / effetto per il finanziamento di scorte obbligatorie 
In Switzerland: promissory note eligible for discount with the Swiss National Bank at preferential rates set by the federal government and issued by companies which under Swiss federal law are required to maintain stocks of certain essential raw materials and foodstuffs.

compulsory stockpile credit / Pflichtlagerkredit / crédit pour stocks obligatoires / credito per scorte obbligatorie 
In Switzerland: credit granted to finance the mandatory stockpiles of essential raw materials and foodstuffs maintained in accordance with the Federal Law on Economic Planning for War and Emergencies of September 30, 1955. In order to facilitate the financing of stocks and reduce the costs involved, the Swiss Federal Government is fully liable to the lending banks for the repayment of credit extended. Borrowers are subject to strict formalities and controls on the part of the Federal Office for National Economic Supply. The significance of compulsory stockpiling and compulsory stockpiling credit has receded greatly since the Cold War ended in 1989. See also compulsory stockpile bill.

conditional prepayment rate / Conditional Prepayment Rate / conditional prepayment rate / conditional prepayment rate 
Abbr.: CPR. Method of expressing the prepayment rate for a mortgage pool that assumes that a constant fraction of the remaining principal is prepaid each month or year.

condominium ownership / Stockwerkeigentum / propriété par étages / proprietà per piani 
Ownership of an entire floor of a building or of a particular apartment (flat) within a multi-family dwelling. In Switzerland, condominium ownership is regulated by federal law as a special form of co-ownership. Mortgages may be obtained for the acquisition of condominiums in a similar fashion to mortgages for entire properties.

Conf / Conf / Conf / Conf 
Abbreviation used to denote Swiss government bonds (derived from Confoederatio Helvetica).

Conf future / Conf-Future / future CONF / conf future 
Standardized futures contract on a Swiss government bond with a maturity of between 8 and 13 years and a coupon of 6 percent. See also financial future.

confirmed credit / bestätigtes Akkreditiv / crédit documentaire confirmé / credito confermato 
Special type of documentary credit where in addition to the payment undertaking of the importer's bank an undertaking is also given by the exporter's bank (or a third-party bank, e.g. the World Bank or an international development bank) in order to provide the exporter with additional security. This second undertaking to pay acts as a safeguard against risks that may stem from the importer's bank (country risks and/or bank risks) or the importer's country (e.g. the risk of a moratorium on international payments due to a shortage of foreign exchange). See also documentary credit.

consolidated balance sheet / konsolidierte Bilanz / bilan consolidé / bilancio consolidato 
A balance sheet showing the financial condition of a corporation and its subsidiaries.

consolidation / Konsolidierung / consolidation / consolidamento 
(1) Conversion of outstanding, short-term debts into fixed, long-term debts, e.g. from a construction loan to a mortgage.
(2) Stabilization of prices on the stock exchange following a downturn or after a bull market.
(3) Combination of the separate balance sheets of a group of companies into a single group or consolidated balance sheet.

consols / Consols / consols / consols 
See perpetual annuity.

consortium / Konsortium / consortium / consorzio 
Also: syndicate. An association of independent companies in the form of an ordinary partnership formed to bid for and, if successful, to undertake a project requiring a pooling of skills and resources. For example, banks often form consortia to undertake large-scale financial operations (bond issues, capital increases, loans, etc.) for common account.

constant annual principal and interest repayment / Annuität / annuité / annuità 
The annual payment made by a borrower, consisting of an amortization of principal and an interest component. This payment remains unchanged throughout the entire repayment period. As the debt is worked down the interest payments are gradually reduced, while the principal repayment rate increases. 

constant prepayment rate 
Synonym for conditional prepayment rate.

construction loan / Baukredit / crédit de construction / credito edilizio 
In Switzerland, a current account-type loan granted specifically for financing the construction or renovation of a building. Funds are advanced at specific stages of construction in so-called progress payments. Accrued interest is factored into the loan. On completion of building work, a construction loan is usually converted into a mortgage.

consumer banking 
Synonym for retail banking.

consumer credit / Konsumkredit; Verbraucherkredit / crédit à la consommation / credito al consumo 
Also: consumer loan. Relatively small loan generally granted to private individuals to acquire consumer durables or finance holidays. See also personal loan.

Consumer Discretionary / Nicht-Basiskonsumgüter / Consommation discrétionnaire / Beni voluttari 
Equity sector incorporating shares of companies producing or distributing automobiles, luxury goods, watches, as well as service providers such as hotel and restaurant chains, consumer services, media, and wholesale trade. The respective MSCI Sector index acts as a benchmark for shares of companies belonging to this sector.

consumer loan 
Synonym for consumer credit.

consumer price index / Konsumentenpreisindex; Verbraucherpreisindex / indice des prix à la consommation / indice dei prezzi al consumo 
An index that measures the prices of consumer goods in a country, based on a basket of goods intended to replicate the purchasing habits of a typical consumer. The percentage change in the index level over time is a measure of inflation.

Consumer Staples / Basiskonsumgüter / Biens de consommation de base / Beni di prima necessità 
Equity sector incorporating shares of companies producing or retailing consumer goods such as food, household appliances and personal care. The respective MSCI Sector index acts as a benchmark for shares of companies belonging to this sector.

contango / Contango / report / contango 
Normal pricing situation in the market for commodities futures where the spot price is lower than the forward price. Opposite: backwardation.

contingency reserve 
Synonym for reserve for doubtful debts.

contingent liability / Eventualverpflichtung / engagement conditionnel / impegno eventuale 
A liability which will come into definite existence only on the occurrence of a specific event, e.g. bank liability arising from acceptance, guarantees and letters of credit. Contingent liabilities are not included in the balance sheet of a bank but have to be reported under supplementary notes.

contingent order / Ordre lié / ordre lié / ordine legato 
A stock exchange order that links two transactions so that one is contingent on the other and they can only be executed together. With a contingent order the proceeds of the sale of one security can be used when switching to another.

continuous trading / laufender Handel / marché permanent / contrattazione continua 
Also regular trading. The third session of stock market trading, during which new orders are continually matched to existing ones in the order book according to the matching rules, and orders that cannot be executed are entered in the order book.

contract volume / Kontraktwert / valeur du contrat / valore del contratto 
The underlying value of a forward or futures transaction. It is arrived at by multiplying the number of contracts by the contract size by the price of the underlying.

contract bond / Kautionskredit / crédit contre cautionnement / credito cauzionale 
A guarantee credit where the bank assumes liability towards a third party for the performance or payment obligations of its client. Contract bonds normally relate to the proper execution of work and the quality of materials supplied.

contract size / Kontraktgrösse / volume du contrat /volume del contratto 
Number of units of an underlying contained in a contract.

contractor loan / Unternehmerkredit / crédit d'entreprise / credito imprenditoriale 
Swiss banking term for an assignment credit granted to a building contractor or craftsman secured by an assignment of future receivables from a works contract.The contractor loan differs from a customary assignment credit in that it is always secured by the assignment of a future receivable and not an existing book claim.

control stock / Sperrminorität / minorité de blocage / azionista di riferimento 
Shareholding held by management or individual shareholders which represents less than a majority but is nevertheless sufficient to exert a decisive influence at shareholders' meetings.

convention; agreement / Konvention / convention / convenzione 
Written undertaking, for example on competition between banks or the repayment of savings deposits or account balances in the event of involuntary liquidation of a bank.

conversion / Konversion (1-4); Conversion (5) / conversion / conversione 
(1) Replacing an old, due or called bond issue by new bonds of the same company at different terms and conditions (debt restructuring or refinancing).
(2) Renewal of a bank-issued medium-term loan.
(3) Exchange of convertible bonds for shares.
(4) Forex: exchange of a credit balance or claim for one in a different currency.
(5) Synthetic forward purchase of an underlying by means of options. By purchasing a put and selling a call with the same exercise price, a falling market price is anticipated.

conversion parity / Wandelparität / parité de conversion / parità di conversione 
The conversion parity shows investors how much a stock will cost them if they exercise their conversion right. Conversion parity = nominal value x price / number of shares per convertible bond +/- payment per share.

conversion premium / Wandelprämie / prime de conversion / premio di conversione 
The difference in price between acquiring shares through conversion of a convertible bond and buying the corresponding number of shares directly on the stock exchange. The conversion premium shows how many percentage points more expensive it would be to acquire shares by buying and subsequently converting convertible bonds.

conversion price / Wandelpreis / prix de conversion / prezzo di conversione 
Price specified on the issue of convertible bonds for the conversion of the said bonds into shares or participation certificates. 

conversion ratio / Konversionsverhältnis / rapport de conversion / rapporto di conversione 
Number of shares which can be acquired for each convertible bond.

conversion right / Wandelrecht / droit de conversion / diritto di conversione 
The inalienable right attached to a convertible bond entitling the holder to convert it into shares or participation certificates of the respective company.

convertibility / Konvertibilität / convertibilité / convertibilità 
The ability of one currency to be converted into another. See also: full convertibility, partial convertibility.

convertible bond issue / Wandelanleihe / emprunt convertible / prestito convertibile 
Issue whose bonds can be converted into shares or participation certificates of the issuing company under certain conditions and at specified terms.

co-ownership / Miteigentum / copropriété / comproprietà 
Joint ownership of a property by two or more persons under which each retains title to a distinct part. Each co-owner can sell or pledge his or her portion, whereas disposal over the entire property requires the consent of all co-owners.

core inflation / Kerninflation / inflation sous-jacente / inflazione core 
Inflation excluding the components of the consumer price index with the greatest upward and downward fluctuations. See also inflation.

corner / Corner / corner / corner 
Also: squeeze. Anglo-American term for the market situation in which short sales by bears vastly exceed the number of stocks freely available on the market and not in firm hands. This forces buyers (especially speculators who have sold short and must make purchases to cover their sales) to pay an excessively high price. See also bear, short sale.

corner the market 
To attempt to purchase all of the available supply of a commodity with the intention of controlling the market and advancing the price at will, obtaining a large profit by so doing. In the securities trade, it is an attempt to purchase a company's stock availble on the market and so force buyers (especially speculators who have sold short and must make purchases to cover their sales) to pay a high price. 


corporate action / Corporate Action 
Any event that brings material change to a company and affects its shareholders, both common and preferred, as well as bondholders. These events, such as splits, dividends, mergers, acquisitions and spin-offs, are generally approved by the company's board of directors; shareholders are permitted to vote on some events as well.

corporate bond / Unternehmensanleihe / obligation d'entreprise / obbligazione societaria 
Fixed-income security issued by an industrial firm. See also bond, government bond.

corporate finance / Unternehmensfinanzierung / financement d'entreprise / finanziamento d'impresa 
Procurement of the short- to long-term financial resources needed by the enterprise. Consulting and support given to companies in the field of corporate finance is an important area of banking, esp. for big banks.

corporate pension fund foundation / patronale Finanzierungsstiftung / fondation patronale de financement / fondazione padronale di finanziamento 
Pension fund for the pooled investment of funds contributed exclusively by the employer. The invested capital can be used only for pensions or employee benefits.

corporate raider / Raider; Schwarzer Ritter / raider; chevalier noir / raider; corporate raider; cavaliere nero 
Synonym for black knight.

corporate social responsibility report / Sozialbilanz / bilan social / bilancio sociale 
Systematic and ongoing analysis of the positive and negative impact of a company's activities on society. Social accounting includes the social report, the statement of net value added and the social statement.

corporation / Aktiengesellschaft / société anonyme / società anonima 
Synonym for joint stock company.

correlation / Korrelation / corrélation / correlazione 
Statistical measure of the linear relationship between two series of figures (e.g. performance of a security and the overall market). A positive correlation means that as one variable increases, the other also increases. A negative correlation means that as one variable increases, the other decreases. By definition, the scale of correlation ranges from +1 (perfectly positive) to -1 (perfectly negative). A correlation of 0 indicates that there is no relationship between the two variables.

correspondence cheque / Korrespondenzcheck / chèque correspondance / assegno per corrispondenza 
Cheque provided with a separate tearsheet designed for writing messages to the recipient or beneficiary.

correspondent / Korrespondent / correspondant / corrispondente 
Synonym for correspondent bank.

correspondent bank / Korrespondenzbank / banque correspondante / banca corrispondente 
Credit institution acting as agent for a bank in a financial centre where the latter does not have its own branch.

corridor warrant 
Synonym for range warrant.

cost averaging 
Synonym for averaging.

cost, insurance and freight / Cost, Insurance and Freight / Cost, Insurance and Freight / cost, insurance and freight 
Abbr.: CIF. Also: Cost, Insurance and Freight. A contractual term usual in foreign trade which states that all costs for shipping, insurance and freight to the harbour of destination are included in the price of the goods. CIF is only practicable for sea or inland waterway transport. In all other cases the CIP clause is used in place of CIF. See also FAS, FOB.

COTO 
Abbr. of cash or title option.

countercyclical / antizyklisch / anticyclique / anticiclico 
Term that means trading against the trend. Countercyclical investors buy shares in a falling market, for instance, in the hope that prices will go up again. Opposite: procyclical.

counterparty risk / Gegenparteirisiko / risque de contrepartie / rischio di inadempienza della controparte 
Loss that a bank would incur if a business partner were to become insolvent. See also risk.

country risk / Länderrisiko / risque pays / rischio Paese 
Risk arising from political, economic, legal or social factors in a particular country.

country-specific fund / Länderfonds / fonds spécifique à un pays / fondo Paese 
Also: country fund. Investment fund which invests exclusively in a specific country.

coupon / Coupon / coupon / cedola 
A certificate attached to a bond or share which, when detached and presented to the issuer of the security, entitles the bondholder or shareholder to receive the interest payment or dividend or to exercise rights. Due to the dematerialization of securities trading, coupon is now often only used in a figurative sense. See also coupon sheet.

coupon sheet / Couponsbogen / feuille de coupons / foglio cedole 
A set of coupons attached to a bond or share certificate which entitle the owner to receive the interest or dividend on the respective due dates. Today payment of dividends is usually made directly to the shareholder or his or her bank account on the basis of the share register.

coupon stripping / Coupon-Stripping / démembrement d'obligation 
Coupon stripping is the act of detaching the interest payment coupons from a note or bond and splitting the security into a coupon sheet and a certificate, which is redeemed at face value on maturity. See also coupon.

coupon yield / Couponrendite / rendement du coupon / rendimento cedolare 
Annual interest paid out on a bond expressed as a percentage of the current market price. See also coupon.

cover / abdecken / garantir / garantire 
To furnish security for unsecured debt.

cover ratio / Deckungsverhältnis / coefficient de couverture / coefficiente di copertura 
In Switzerland, this expression refers to the relation of capital funds to total liabilities as stipulated by the Banking Law.

coverage capital / Deckungskapital / capital de couverture / capitale di copertura 
The mathematically computed capital required by an insurer or pension fund to meet its future commitments.

covering purchase / Deckungskauf / achat de couverture / acquisto di copertura 
Purchase of securities in order to be able to deliver stocks sold short (i.e. close the position).

covering transaction / Deckungsgeschäft / couverture de position / operazione di copertura 
(1) Transaction to cover stock market obligations incurred.
(2) Forcible settlement of a stock market transaction if the other party fails to meet its obligations.
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Cp

CPR 
Abbr. for conditional prepayment rate.

Cr

crash 
Synonym for stock market crash.

credit / Kredit / crédit / credito 
Also: loan. Legal operation by which the creditor transfers money to the borrower which he/she must repay at the end of the term, when called or in instalments. Loans must be repaid and normally entail interest payments. Loans are categorized according to length of term, cover, purpose or form of interest. See also: unsecured credit, mortgage, collateral loan, working capital loan, capital investment loan, consumer credit, fixed advance.

credit capacity / Kreditfähigkeit / capacité de crédit / capacità creditizia 
The capacity of a borrower to bear the financial burden of borrowing, taking into account his/her income, earnings and assets. See also creditworthiness.

credit card /Kreditkarte / carte de crédit / carta di credito 
An internationally accepted form of payment, permitting the cashless purchase of goods and services upon production and signature. Bills are issued monthly. Credit cards can be used at companies (shops, hotels, restaurants, transport companies, etc.) which have joined the appropriate credit card associations. Cash can also be withdrawn from ATMs using a PIN. Credit card companies include MasterCard, VISA, Diners Club and American Express.

credit commission; credit fee / Kreditkommission / commission de crédit / commissione di credito 
Additional form of remuneration in lending business, in addition to interest payments, charged for particular services or as a risk premium.

Credit Default Swap / Credit-Default-Swap / Credit Default Swap / Credit Default Swap 
Abbr.: CDS. Credit derivative under the terms of which one counterparty pledges to take on the other's future loan losses in exchange for the payment of a premium.

credit derivative / Kreditderivat / dérivé de crédit / derivato su crediti 
Bilateral financial transaction allowing credit risk to be isolated from other risks and from the instrument it is associated with and transferred from one counterparty to the other.

credit facility secured by mortgage / Hypothekarkredit / crédit hypothécaire / Hypothekarkredit / credito ipotecario 
Current account loan secured by a maximum-sum mortgage or pledge on a mortgage deed.

credit guarantee / Kreditsicherungsgarantie / garantie de couverture de crédit / garanzia di credito 
A guarantee to secure the lender's claim on the borrower in the event of the loan not being repaid as stipulated in the agreement. Credit guarantees are used all around the world.

credit interest / Habenzins / intérêt créditeur / interesse creditore 
Interest paid by banks on credit balances on client accounts. Opposite: debit interest.

credit limit; credit line / Kreditlimite / limite de crédit / limite di credito 
Also: credit facility, borrowing limit, credit line. An amount up to which the bank will lend money to a particular customer. Customers can draw down any unutilized part of the credit line immediately as they require, without needing to submit a further application.

credit line / Kreditlinie / ligne de crédit / linea di credito 
Synonym for credit limit.

Credit Linked Note / Credit-linked-Note / obligation à option sur crédit / credit linked note 
Abbr.: CLN. Security with an embedded credit default swap allowing the issuer to transfer a specific credit risk to credit investors.

credit risk / Kreditrisiko / risque de défaillance / rischio di credito 
Risk that a borrower will be unable to meet his/her payment obligations, and that the lender will suffer a financial loss. See also bad debt risk.

creditor / Gläubiger / créancier / creditore 
An individual or legal entity having a financial claim against another. Creditors are ranked, and in the event of the debtor's bankruptcy their claims are satisfied in order of precedence from the proceeds of realization of the debtor's assets.

creditworthiness; credit standing / Kreditwürdigkeit / honorabilité / merito creditizio 
Also: credit rating; credit quality; credit capacity. Totality of characteristics which make an individual or a corporate entity trustworthy enough to receive a loan.

cross rate / Cross-rate / taux croisé / cross rate 
An exchange rate between two currencies arrived at by dividing each currency's exchange rate by a third rate. For example, the two rates CHF/USD 1.4500 and EUR/USD 0.7600 result in a cross rate of 1.5132 for the CHF/EUR pair.

crossed cheque / gekreuzter Check / chèque barré / assegno sbarrato 
A cheque restricted in use by means of special endorsements. A general crossed cheque has two parallel diagonal lines across the face and may also be endorsed «& Co.» The bank on which a crossed cheque is drawn may only pay it to one of its customers or to a bank. A special crossed cheque bears the name of a bank between the parallel lines, denoting that it may only be paid to the designated bank. If the bank on which the cheque is drawn is itself the designated bank, then the cheque may be paid to one of its customers. A general crossed cheque may be converted into a special crossed cheque, but not vice versa.

cross-selling / Cross-Selling / cross-selling / cross selling 
The sale of different categories of products/services via common channels. Cross-selling is used primarily by full-service banks as part of an integrated financial advisory approach.


Top

Cu

cumulative preference share (GB); cumulative preferred share (US) / kumulative Vorzugsaktie / action privilégiée cumulative / azione privilegiata cumulativa 
Preference share on which unpaid dividends accumulate until they can be paid. In the case of limited cumulative preferred shares the number of years in which dividends may accrue is limited.

currency / Währung / monnaie / moneta 
The monetary system of a country or group of countries. Currencies can be referred to as being hard or soft depending on the level of confidence they enjoy worldwide. See also external value, ISO code.

currency area 
Synonym for currency zone.

currency clause / Valutaklausel; Währungsklausel / clause monétaire / clausola di cambio 
A clause in a contract aimed at excluding the risk posed by the devaluation of a currency relating to a particular claim by fixing the applicable exchange rate between this currency and the foreign currency in the terms of the contract.

currency option / Devisenoption / option sur devises / opzione su divise 
An option contract which grants the right to buy or sell a certain currency at a predetermined price for a limited period of time. Currency options are used above all for hedging currency risks.

currency swap / (1) Devisenswap (2) Währungsswap / échange de devises / swap su valute 
(1) Also referred to as a swap. An arrangement in which a currency is sold at the spot rate and then immediately repurchased forward or the other way round. Currency swaps are used to hedge currency risks on export credits. See also swap, spot transaction.
(2) Also referred to as a swap, cross-currency swap. Swap of a capital sum together with the related interest payments in one currency into a capital sum and the related interest payments in another currency.

currency unit / Währungseinheit / unité monétaire / unità monetaria 
The monetary unit of a country (e.g. the Swiss franc) or of an international monetary system (e.g. the euro).

currency zone / Währungszone / zone monétaire / area monetaria 
Also referred to as a currency area. Geographical area in which a currency is legal tender. A currency zone normally coincides with the national frontiers of a country because it is defined by the monetary order. Supra-national currency zones are created when a number of currencies are linked by convertible currencies with fixed exchange rates, e.g. franc zone, sterling zone. See also monetary union.

current account / Kontokorrentkonto / compte courant / conto corrent 
Chronological, ongoing entry of the debits and credits resulting from the business transactions between the bank and current account holders, with a running balance being kept. A current account may also be used for accounts receivable or payable. Current accounts offer little or no interest but unlimited withdrawal privileges and many other services (e.g. cheque books, automated cash withdrawal, payment transfers, etc.) are available.

current account balance; balance of payments on current account / Leistungsbilanz / balance des biens et des services / bilancia delle partite correnti 
Part of the balance of payments showing all accounts receivable and payable by a country over a given period as a result of foreign trade in goods and services, transfer payments, and wages and capital income.

current assets / Umlaufvermögen / actifs circulants / attivo circolante 
Assets of a company set aside for circulation in the operating process. In addition to liquid assets, these include goods and claims that can normally readily be turned into cash. Opposite: fixed assets.

custodian / Depotstelle / dépositaire / depositario 
Also: depositary; depository. Bank or broker where the valuables contained in a custody account are stored for safekeeping.

custody charge / Depotgebühr / commission de garde de titres / diritti di custodia 
Also custody price. The annual fee charged by banks for the custody and administration of securities.

custody price / Depotpreis / prix pour la garde en dépôt / prezzo del deposito 
Synonym for custody charge.

customer deposits / Kundengelder / fonds de la clientèle / depositi della clientela 
Also: customer funds. Accepting customer deposits is part of banks' core business in which they act as financial intermediaries. Banks use customer deposits as the main source of funding for their lending and investment activities.
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cycle / Zyklus / cycle / ciclo economico 
More or less regular sequence of uptrends and downtrends in the performance of a market or economy. See also economy.
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D/A 
Abbr. for documents against acceptance.

D/P 
Abbr. for documents against payment.

Da

daily balance interest calculation / Staffelmethode / méthode hambourgeoise / metodo scalare 
Method customarily used for calculating interest on current accounts, with interest based on the daily balance. Interest is paid on the existing balance until it changes.

DAX 
Abbr. for Deutscher Aktienindex.

day deposit (90 days) / Dreimonatsgeld / dépôt à 3 mois / deposito a tre mesi 
Bank deposit from clients or other banks fixed for a term of 90 days. See also time deposit.

day-to-day money 
Synonym for call money.
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dealer / Dealer / dealer / dealer 
Someone who, in addition to acting as a buying and selling agent for others, buys and sells for his own account. See also broker.

debenture / Debenture / debenture / debenture 
Fixed-interest debt obligation in the form of a security usually issued to bearer. Debentures may be secured or unsecured. See also bond.

debenture bond / Debenture Bond / debenture bond / debenture bond 
US: unsecured fixed-rate bond. Frequently sold at a discount since interest and redemption are less certain than in the case of ordinary bonds.

debenture stock / Debenture Stock / debenture stock / debenture stock 
US: infrequently used name for preferred stock. UK: an obligation or debt due from a company and secured by a trust deed, usually with real estate property as collateral.

debit card / Debitkarte / carte de débit / carta di debito 
A coded plastic card for making cashless payments which allows the holder to draw cash or make payment for goods electronically. See also credit card.

debit interest / Sollzins / intérêt débiteur / interesse debitore 
Interest charged by the bank on loans or on overdrawn accounts. Opposite: credit interest.

debt enforcement / Betreibung / poursuite / esecuzione 
Legal action to force the debtor to meet his or her payment obligations. Anybody may instigate debt collection procedures at the debt enforcement office at the domicile of the debtor. There are three types of debt enforcement procedure: debt enforcement by seizure, debt enforcement by realization of pledged assets and debt enforcement by bankruptcy proceedings. The procedure applied depends on the debt in question and whether or not the debtor is entered in the commercial register. The debt enforcement office reviews the circumstances and decides on the correct type of debt enforcement procedure on receipt of the appropriate application.

debt enforcement by bankruptcy proceedings / Betreibung auf Konkurs / poursuite par voie de faillite / esecuzione fallimentare 
Debt enforcement which seeks to sell all the assets of the debtor. Debt enforcement by bankruptcy proceedings (Art. 39 of the Swiss Federal Law on Debt Collection and Bankruptcy) is generally used if the debtor is a legal entity or is entered in the commercial register with a legally specified function.

debt enforcement by realization of pledged assets / Betreibung auf Pfandverwertung / poursuite en réalisation de gage / esecuzione in via di realizzazione del pegno 
Debt enforcement proceedings which seek to sell the pledged assets or mortgages used to secure the debt. This procedure is subject to the existence of a pledge agreement.

debt enforcement by seizure / Betreibung auf Pfändung / poursuite par voie de saisie / esecuzione in via di pignoramento 
Debt enforcement applied where no assets have been pledged and the debtor is not entered in the commercial register with a function which renders them subject to debt enforcement by bankruptcy proceedings. Debt enforcement by seizure is the most common type of debt enforcement.

debt financing 
See liabilities.

debt register claim / Schuldbuchforderung / créance inscrite au livre de la dette publique / credito scritturale 
A claim on the state arising from a loan or credit entered in an official register of debt (Switzerland: Federal Debt Register). No securities are issued for such claims; they are recorded solely in the Register.

debt rescheduling / Umschuldung / rééchelonnement de dettes / ristrutturazione del debito 
Adjustment of the terms applying to the existing liabilities of an overindebted company or country; for example, a reduction of interest rates and an extension of the time required for payment. See also moratorium.

debt rescheduling agreement / Schuldenkonsolidierungsabkommen / accord de consolidation de dettes / accordo di consolidamento del debito 
Agreement reached with borrowers, usually heavily indebted developing countries, to extend maturities, defer loan principal payments or reduce the interest rate of existing debt, especially by transforming short-term credit into medium- or long-term loans. See also moratorium.

debt-equity swap / Schuldenswap / échange de créances contre actifs / swap del debito 
Temporary assignment or conversion of debt into shares or similar equity paper. See also swap.

debtor warrant / Besserungsschein / bon de récupération / buono di ricupero 
Written promise from a debtor to make periodic payments to a creditor (payments being contingent on the profits generated by the debtor's company) thus compensating the creditor for not enforcing his right to have a restructuring program imposed on the debtor.

debt-to-equity ratio / Verschuldungsgrad / coefficient d'endettement / grado d'indebitamento 
Financial statistic comprising the ratio of a company's debt to its equity.

declaration of indemnity / Schadloserklärung / revers / dichiarazione di manleva 
A declaration whereby a person who has received substitute instruments upon the loss of securities, coupons or savings books undertakes to indemnify the bank or company concerned for any improper use of the lost documents. 

deep discount bond / Deep-Discount-Bond / obligation fortement escomptée / titolo a sconto 
Bond that has a coupon rate far below rates currently available on investments and whose value is at a significant discount from par value. See also zero bond.

default / Verzug / défaillance / inadempienza 
Failure to make required debt payments on a timely basis or to comply with other conditions of an obligation or agreement.

default interest / Verzugszins / intérêt moratoire / interesse di mora 
The rate of interest charged on an overdue debt, from the date of default to the date of eventual settlement. 

default probability / Ausfallwahrscheinlichkeit / probabilité de défaillance / rischio di inadempienza 
Likelihood that a counterparty will default on its obligation either over the life of the obligation or over some specified horizon. See also default.

defensive investment / Anlagepapier / titre de placement / titolo d'investimento 
Security with comparatively low price and earnings fluctuations in contrast to speculative securities. Defensive investments such as blue chips and bonds are especially suitable for long-term capital investment.

defensive stock / defensive Aktie / valeur défensive / azione difensiva 
Share which offers a good return but has only limited appreciation potential. The exposure to declining prices is also only marginal.

deferred payment / Deferred Payment / deferred payment / deferred payment 
Expression used for a letter of credit with a deferred payment date (e.g., 90/120/180 days after the date of the bill of lading). No draft is required.

deferred printing of securities / aufgeschobener Titeldruck / impression différée / stampa differita del titolo 
System of holding securities in safekeeping in non-certificate form, i.e. purchases and sales are merely recorded in customers' accounts. Security certificates are only printed at the express wish of the customer, e.g. for over-the-counter delivery.

deferred share / Nachzugsaktie / action différée / azione postergata 
(1) Stock with more limited rights than ordinary stock. This means that holders of deferred stock only have a claim on earnings once the dividend has been distributed to ordinary shareholders. Opposite: preferred stock; preferred shares; preference shares; preference stock.
(2) A share that does not have any rights to the assets of a company undergoing bankruptcy until all common and preferred shareholders are paid.
(3) A method of stock payment to directors and executives of a company through the deposit of shares into a locked account. The value of these shares fluctuates with the market and they cannot be accessed by the beneficiaries for the purpose of liquidation until they are no longer employees of the company.
(4) A share generally issued to company founders that restricts their receipt of dividends until dividends have been distributed to all other classes of shareholders.
Synonym for deferred stock.

deferred stock 
Synonym for deferred share (4).

deflation / Deflation / déflation / deflazione 
A sharp decline in prices or an increase in the purchasing power of money, brought about by a decrease in the amount of money in circulation relative to the amount of goods and services available. Accompanied as a rule by a contraction in capital spending activity. Opposite: inflation.

delisting / Dekotierung / décotation / delisting 
Cancellation of the listing of a security.

delivery note / Lieferschein / bulletin de livraison / bollettino di consegna 
Type of waybill accompanying merchandise shipments.

delta / Delta / delta / delta 
Statistical measure of the change in the price of an option when the underlying moves one unit in price.

demand deposits 
Synonym for sight deposits.

denomination / Stückelung / coupure / taglio 
Breakdown of bond issues or capital stock into parts.

deposit 
Synonym for bank deposit.

deposit base / Bodensatz / niveau plancher / giacenza dei base 
Average volume of customer deposits available to the bank for investment at any given time regardless of withdrawal options available to customers.

deposit business / Passivgeschäft / opérations passives / operazioni passive 
Transactions under which the bank accepts borrowed funds and thereby assumes liabilities in respect of customers in the form of savings or investments. Also includes the issue of medium-term notes and own offerings. Opposite: lending business.

deposit insurance / Einlagenversicherung / assurance des dépôts / assicurazione dei depositi 
In Switzerland there is no state deposit insurance, however Swiss banks offer depositor protection.

depository 
Synonym for custodian.

depositor protection / Einlegerschutz / protection des déposants / protezione dei depositanti 
Safeguard for customer claims in the event of a bank filing for bankruptcy. According to Art. 37a of Switzerland's Banking Law, certain claims are privileged in bankruptcy up to an amount of CHF 30,000. Under a private law agreement between the banks, the latter would advance the amount of these privileged claims in the event of a bankruptcy.

deposits and borrowed funds / Fremdgelder / fonds de tiers / fondi di terzi 
Funds (shown in the balance sheet) which a bank or other company borrows from third parties (depositors, shareholders, bondholders, etc). Together with the retained earnings and surplus carried forward, they make up the liabilities. Opposite: equity.

depreciation / Abschreibung / amortissement / ammortamento 
Also: amortization; write-off.
(1) The gradual decrease in value of an asset through wear and tear or other factors limiting its usefulness. Fixed assets are depreciated in accounts by regularly reducing their book value in the balance sheet.
(2) Write-down or write-off of doubtful debts or impaired assets. See also credit risk.

deregulation / Deregulierung / déréglementation / deregulation 
Dismantling or abolition of state intervention in economic matters with the purpose of reducing the influence of the state in the economy, abolishing bureaucratic obstacles and legal regulations.

derivative / Derivat / dérivé / derivato 
Also: derivative instrument, derivative financial instrument. Generic term for synthetic financial products which are linked to an underlying instrument such as shares, bonds, indices, goods etc. See also: financial future, option.

derivative instrument 
Synonym for derivative.

Deutscher Aktienindex / Deutscher Aktienindex / Deutscher Aktienindex / Deutscher Aktienindex 
Abbr.: DAX. Stock index, which measures the performance of the 30 largest German companies in terms of order book turnover and market capitalization.

devaluation / Abwertung / dévaluation / svalutazione 
Also: depreciation. Reduction of the external value of a currency. In a system of fixed exchange rates or bloc currencies, devaluation is effected by the legal or official lowering of the exchange rate (or parity) of a currency in terms of the other currencies (formerly against gold). In the case of flexible or floating exchange rates, depreciation is the result of a decline in the exchange rate on the currency market in synch with supply and demand. Opposite: revaluation.
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dilution 
Synonym for watering down effect.

direct banking 
Synonym for electronic banking.

direct debiting / Lastschriftverfahren / recouvrement direct / sistema di addebitamento diretto 
Also: direct debit system. A method of collection whereby the debtor gives authorization for his/her bank accounts to be debited directly.

direct investment / (1) Direktanlage (2) Direktinvestition / investissement direct / investimento diretto 
(1) Direct investment in individual securities instead of, for example, in funds.
(2) Capital export, i.e. by acquiring, establishing or making a strategic investment in companies abroad.

direct listing / direkte Kotierung / cotation directe / quotazione diretta 
In currency trading: price quote for a currency in which one unit (or 100 units) of a foreign currency are expressed in units of the domestic currency. See also indirect listing.

direct mortgage loan / direkter Hypothekarkredit / crédit hypothécaire direct / credito ipotecario diretto 
Under a direct mortgage loan, the bank is granted a mortgage lien as security for its credit exposure. Where security is given in the form of a mortgage note, this becomes the property of the bank. If the bank's claims are not met when due, it can take legal action to enforce the sale of the underlying property and use the proceeds to settle the outstanding debt directly. See also mortgage loan, indirect mortgage loan.

direct underwriting 
Synonym for firm underwriting.

dirty floating / schmutziges Floating / flottement impur / fluttuazione controllata 
Currency policy which in principle recognizes the free movement of exchange rates but where interventions are nonetheless made with some frequency in an attempt to influence the exchange rate. See also floating.

disagio / Disagio / disagio / disaggio 
Also: discount. The difference between the nominal or par value and the underlying market value, e.g. if the issue or market price expressed in percent of the nominal value drops below par (i.e. below 100). In foreign exchange operations, it is the term for the discount charged for exchanging a depreciated foreign currency and the charge or discount deducted for exchanging abraded or worn coins. See also premium (1).

disclosed reserves / offene Reserven / réserves ouvertes / riserve palesi 
Also: published reserves, declared reserves. Reserves openly reported in a company's balance sheet. Opposite: undisclosed reserves.

disclosure of holdings / Offenlegung von Beteiligungen / publicité des participations / pubblicità delle partecipazioni 
Provision contained in Switzerland's Stock Exchange Act stipulating that the shareholders of listed companies must disclose share purchases or sales that result in their voting rights exceeding or falling below a threshold of 5, 10, 20, 33 1/3, 50 or 66 2/3% of the company's total voting rights.

discount / (1) Skonto (2) Diskont / escompte / sconto 
(1) Price reduction expressed in percent which may be deducted from the invoiced amount if payment is made within a specified period.
(2) Interest deducted in advance if claims falling due later, esp. drafts and bills, are purchased. The net amount of the claim after deduction of the discount is immediately credited to the beneficiary upon presentation. Discounting is usually effected by a bank.
(3) Synonym for disagio.

discount broker / Discount-Broker / discount-broker / discount broker 
Broker who executes stock exchange transactions at favourable rates but without providing advice.

discount credit / Diskontkredit / crédit d'escompte / credito di sconto 
Credit or discount line granted to a customer by a bank to provide liquidity by discounting bills of exchange or similar commercial paper. On the strength of the discount approval, the customer can have bills discounted up to a stipulated total amount, but, having endorsed the bill, remains liable along with the other endorsers as joint and several debtor until the bill is paid on maturity.

discount in advance / eskomptieren / escompter / scontare 
To anticipate the future trend and performance of investments by placing a higher or lower value on them. For example, the announcement of a dividend increase is discounted by an increase in the market price of the related share.

discount rate / Diskontsatz / taux d'escompte / tasso di sconto 
The percentage rate of interest which a bank or other lender deducts in advance from loans made, or from the face value of bills of exchange or commercial paper bought. It is calculated for the period from presentation to maturity of the instrument. The amount of the discount rate depends on the liquidity of the financial markets and the party liable under the bill. Swiss commercial banks apply the private discount rate in their discounting operations; as a rule, this is higher than the official discount rate of the Swiss National Bank.

discount without recourse 
Synonym for forfaiting.

discretionary / diskretionär / discrétionnaire / discrezionale 
Safeguarding, fiduciary. Used in banking for account and custody account maintenance with a management agreement. See also managed account. 

disintermediation / Disintermediation / désintermédiation / disintermediazione 
Trend away from bank to market financing or - seen from the banks' perspective - away from balance-sheet to off-balance-sheet operations. Banks are acting less as independent deposit-takers and lenders and more as intermediaries between investors and borrowers. See also securitization.

distribution / Ausschüttung / répartition / distribuzione 
(1) Payment of dividend(s) on shares and participation certificates to shareholders. 
(2) Payment of the income of a fund to the holders of investment fund certificates.
(3) Payment of interest on bonds to the bondholders.

distribution fund / ausschüttender Fonds / fonds de répartition / fondo a distribuzione 
Investment fund which distributes the bulk of its earnings to unitholders. Opposite: capital appreciation fund.

distribution yield / Ausschüttungsrendite / rendement sur distribution / rendimento degli utili distribuiti 
Ratio of the income distributed to the current market price of an investment fund, less any accrued earnings since the end of the reporting year which are contained therein. See also distribution, dividend yield.

diversification / Diversifikation / diversification / diversificazione 
A strategy of spreading an investment over different assets in order to reduce the risk of earnings fluctuations.

dividend / Dividende / dividende / dividendo 
A share in the profits of a limited company (corporation) or cooperative. The rate of dividend is determined at the General Meeting upon the proposal of the Board of Directors. Distributions to the owners of participation certificates and dividend-right certificates are also called dividends. Dividends can take the form of a cash dividend (payment in cash), stock dividends and dividends in kind.

dividend coupon / Gewinnanteilschein / part bénéficiaire / cedola di partecipazione all'utile 
Securitized claim to a share in the profit or dividend. Dividend coupons may be attached to regular shares, dividend-right certificates or participation certificates. Not customary in the United States. Opposite: fixed-interest securities.

Dividend Discount Model / Dividend-Discount-Modell / Dividend discount model / Dividend discount model 
Model for calculating the current value of a share which consists in discounting future dividends anticipated.

dividend yield / Dividendenrendite / rendement sur dividendes / tasso di rendimento azionario 
Also: stock yield. Ratio showing the yield on an equity investment calculated by dividing the dividend by the current share price and which enables a comparison to be made with other returns obtainable in the capital markets.

dividend-right certificate / Genussschein / bon de jouissance / buono di godimento 
Equity paper which does not confer any ownership rights but grants the holder the right to participate in the net profit and the liquidation proceeds, as well as the right to subscribe to new shares.

divisional coin / Scheidemünze / monnaie divisionnaire / moneta divisionale 
Inferior coin that need only be accepted as legal tender up to a certain amount (in Switzerland, a maximum of 100 coins). As a rule, the value of the metal contained in divisional coins is less than the nominal value stamped on them. See also full legal tender coins (1).
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documentary acceptance credit / Rembourskredit / crédit de remboursement / credito di rimborso 
Acceptance credit used for import or export financing. Usually secured by an irrevocable documentary credit issued by the buyer's bank. See also documentary credit.

documentary collection / Dokumentarinkasso / encaissement documentaire / incasso documentario 
The collection of a sum due from a buyer by a bank against delivery of certain documents. The bank undertaking the collection only delivers the documents once the prescribed conditions have been fulfilled. Documentary collection offers exporters considerably more security than is offered by an open account basis, however not as much security as is offered by the documentary credit.

documentary credit / Dokumentenakkreditiv / crédit documentaire / credito documentario 
Also: letter of credit, import credit, export credit. The most common form of the commercial letter of credit, the documentary credit is an arrangement for the safe negotiation of a payment and credit transaction, esp. in connection with international deliveries of merchandise. The documentary credit covering merchandise consists of a written undertaking on the part of a bank to pay, on instructions from the buyer, a certain amount to the seller within a prescribed period and against surrender of stipulated documents covering the shipment of goods contracted for between seller and buyer, to accept said payment or to negotiate it, or to authorize another bank to make such payments or draft negotiations if the conditions are met. All instructions to open, confirm or advise of a documentary credit must list precisely the documents to be presented. Permissible documents include: bill of lading, insurance documents, trading invoice, consular invoice, certificate of origin, weight and quality certificates. A documentary credit can be revocable or irrevocable.
Unless expressly stated to the contrary it is regarded as irrevocable. The basis for the execution of documentary credit is provided by the «Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Letters of Credit» (UCP) drafted by the International Chamber of Commerce in Paris.

documentary draft / Dokumentartratte / traite documentaire / tratta documentaria 
A draft drawn by the seller on the buyer and accepted by the latter in connection with a documentary collection. If the draft contains the notation D/A (documents against acceptance) the documents are handed over upon acceptance of the draft. If it is marked D/P (documents against payment), they are handed over only after the acceptance has been paid. See also draft.

documents against acceptance / Documents against Acceptance / documents against acceptance / documents against acceptance 
Abbr.: D/A. Notation used in foreign trade transactions signifying that documents may be surrendered to the drawee only against acceptance of the accompanying bill.

documents against payment / Documents against Payment / documents against payment / documents against payment 
Abbr.: D/P. Notation used in foreign trade transactions indicating that documents may be handed over to the buyer only against payment.

dollar roll / Dollar-Roll / dollar roll / dollar roll 
Relatively common transaction in the US mortgage-backed securities market that is similar to a reverse repo transaction. A client sells a security for normal settlement (2-3 days) and agrees to repurchase similar securities for future settlement (typically one month). It is basically a financing of securities for the repurchaser. 

domestic bond / Inlandanleihe / emprunt intérieur / prestito interno 
Bond issue placed for public subscription by a borrower who is domiciled in the country where the issue is floated. Opposite: foreign bond issue.

domestic economy / Binnenwirtschaft / activité domestique / economia interna 
Economic activity that does not include any cross-border transfer of goods, services and money flow.

domiciled bill / Domizilwechsel / effet domicilié / cambiale domiciliata 
Bill containing a domicile clause which shows where the bill is payable. In actual practice, bills are usually domiciled at the bank of the acceptor.

Double Eagle / Double Eagle / Double Eagle / Double Eagle 
US 20 dollar gold coin bearing the image of an eagle. See also Eagle.

double taxation / Doppelbesteuerung / double imposition / doppia imposizione 
The practice of taxing the same wealth, income or property twice with different taxes or by the tax authorities of two different countries.

double taxation agreement / Doppelbesteuerungsabkommen / convention contre la double imposition / convenzione per evitare la doppia imposizione 
Also: double taxation treaty. Agreement (or treaty) signed between different nations for the purpose of eradicating or alleviating the effects of double taxation. The OECD has drafted a model treaty and recommendations.

Dow Jones Index / Dow-Jones-Index / indice Dow Jones / indice Dow Jones 
Also Dow Jones Industrial Index, Dow Jones Industrial Average. Share index of the New York Stock Exchange which has been regularly calculated since 1897 and which includes the top 30 US companies. Dow Jones & Company calculates this index along with a whole range of other indices.

Dow Jones STOXX / Dow Jones STOXX / Dow Jones STOXX / Dow Jones STOXX 
Family of indices produced jointly by the Deutsche Börse AG, SWX Swiss Exchange as well as the media company Dow Jones via the company Stoxx Ltd. Dow Jones STOXX includes indices for European countries and for the euro currency zone. Website: www.stoxx.com. 

downgrade / Downgrade / dégrader / downgrade 
Negative change in ratings for a security. An example is an analyst's downgrading of a stock such as from "buy" to "sell".
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Dr

draft / Tratte / traite / tratta 
Bill of exchange that has not yet been accepted by the drawee. Opposite: acceptance.

draw by lot / Auslosung / tirage au sort / estrazione di titoli 
Lots are drawn to determine which bonds are to be redeemed according to the redemption schedule.

drawee / Trassat / tiré / trattario 
(1) In terms of the law pertaining to bills of exchange: person or firm in whose name a bill of exchange has been made out (person ordered to pay under the bill). The drawee is only subject to legal obligations in respect of the bill of exchange when he/she/it has accepted the latter. See also acceptance.
(2) In terms of the law pertaining to cheques: the bank on which a cheque was drawn and which cashes the cheque to the debit of the drawer provided the necessary cover is available.

drawer / Aussteller; Trassant / tireur / traente 
Issuer of a bill of exchange.
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Dt

DTA 
Abbr. for double taxation agreement.
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Du

dual currency bond / Doppelwährungsanleihe / emprunt à deux monnaies / obbligazione in valuta doppia 
A bond issue where interest payments are not made in the same currency as the payments of the principal. In Switzerland, this type of issue is limited to foreign bonds. As a rule issue and interest payments are generally made in CHF, while payments of principal are made in USD. The variety of dual currency loans on the Euromarket is considerably larger.

due date / (1) Echéance, Fälligkeit (2) Verfalltag / échéance / scadenza 
(1) Due date, in particular for coupons of securities.
(2) Also: maturity date, expiration date. The date on which a debt (such as a bond) becomes payable or when an option expires. If the debtor fails to perform payment by that date, he is said to be in default.

due diligence / Due Diligence / due diligence / due diligence 
Detailed check of a company's financial position, results of operations and cash flows, its strengths and weaknesses, future potential and the risks it is subject to; conducted prior to a planned merger or takeover.

due diligence agreement / Sorgfaltspflichtvereinbarung / Convention relative à l'obligation de diligence des banques / Convenzione relativa all'obbligo di diligenza delle banche 
The Agreement on the Swiss banks' code of conduct with regard to the exercise of due diligence (CDB) is a multilateral agreement between the Swiss Bankers Association (SBA) and banks domiciled in Switzerland. By signing the Agreement banks place themselves under an obligation to the SBA to identify their contracting partners and, in cases of doubt, to obtain a declaration as to the identity of the beneficial owner of the deposited assets. The banks also place themselves under an obligation not to provide any active assistance in the flight of capital or tax evasion. The original CDB dates from 1977, and it has been revised and made more stringent several times since then. The CDB is now also a key instrument in combating money laundering and served as the model for the Money Laundering Act.

due from banks and customers / Debitoren / débiteurs / debitori 
Synonym for receivables. Antonym: due to banks and customers.

duration / Laufzeit / durée / durata 
Also: term; maturity; life.
(1) The time that elapses from the date a debenture is issued until it is repaid.
(2) The time for which a loan or credit is granted.

Dutch auction / Dutch-Auction / adjudication à la hollandaise / asta olandese 
Method of sale by auction which consists of an initial public offer at a maximum price which is then gradually lowered until someone makes an offer at the current price and becomes the purchaser. See also auction, English auction.
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E 
In numerical data, indicates that the value is estimated. For example, «PE ratio 2006E» indicates that the price-earning ratio is based on estimated corporate earnings for fiscal year 2006.

Ea

Eagle 
US 10 dollar gold coin bearing the image of an eagle. See also Double Eagle.

earnings growth / Gewinnwachstum / croissance des résultats / crescita degli utili 
Fundamental figure describing the average percentage change in earnings per share.

earnings per share / Earnings per Share / bénéfice par action / earnings per share 
Abbr.: EPS. Ratio showing the net profit per issued share or per share entitled to a dividend.

earnings yield / Gewinnrendite / rendement réel / rendimento degli utili 
Figure obtained by dividing adjusted earnings per share by the share price for the financial year in question. It is the reciprocal of the price/earnings ratio, and is multiplied by 100 to give a percentage for comparison purposes.

easily realizable assets / leicht verwertbare Aktiven / actifs facilement réalisables / attivi facilmente realizzabili 
Also: readily marketable assets. Assets for which a market exists at all times. Defined by Article 16 of Switzerland's Ordinance to the Banking Law as those assets of a bank which must be reported in the liquidity statement (such as bills eligible for discount with the National Bank or bonds qualifying as collateral).
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Eb

e-banking 
Short form for electronic banking.

EBIT / EBIT / EBIT/ EBIT 
Also: earnings before interest and tax. Basic earnings figure of a company derived from net profit for the year before deducting tax, interest or extraordinary items.

EBITDA / EBITDA / EBITDA / EBITDA 
Also: earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization. Absolute earnings figure of a company consisting of net profit for the year plus tax, interest, depreciation and amortization.
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Ec

ec 
See Maestro card.

ec card / ec-Karte / carte ec / carta ec 
See Maestro card.

ECB 
Abbr. for European Central Bank.

economic cycle / Konjunkturzyklus / cycle conjoncturel / ciclo congiunturale 
See economy.

economic indicator / Konjunkturindikator / indicateur conjoncturel / indicatore congiunturale 
A measure of economic activity, providing information on the state of the economy. 

economic viability / Tragbarkeit / capacité financière / sostenibilità 
Credit system mainly used in property financing and defined as the burden on the borrower's income (expressed as a percentage) that the cost of a property will incur.

economy / Konjunktur / conjoncture / congiuntura 
Also: business cycle, economic cycle, trade cycle. All the regular and irregular fluctuations in gross domestic product around a long-term trend level. An economic cycle consists of the following phases: upswing, peak, downturn or recession, and trough.

ECP 
Abbr. for Eurocommercial paper.

ECU 
Abbr. for European Currency Unit. 
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Ef

effective gold clause 
Synonym for gold clause (1).

EFT/POS 
Abbr. for Electronic Funds Transfer at the Point of Sale.
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El

electronic bank / elektronische Bank / banque électronique / banca elettronica 
Bank offering electronic self-service facilities which customers can avail themselves of regardless of bank opening hours.

electronic banking / Electronic Banking / electronic banking / electronic banking 
Short form: e-banking. Also: direct banking. Use of banking services via electronic channels or via designated providers and private transmission media regardless of time of day or location.

Electronic Funds Transfer at the Point of Sale / Electronic Funds Transfer at the Point of Sale / Electronic Funds Transfer at the Point of Sale / Electronic Funds Transfer at the Point of Sale 
Abbr.: EFT/POS. Payment system which enables cashless payment at sales points.

electronic trading system / elektronische Börse / Bourse électronique / borsa elettronica 
Also: electronic bourse, screen-based trading. Trading system where stock exchange transactions are carried out via a computer system, e.g. SWX Swiss Exchange. 
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Em

emerging market / Emerging Market / marché émergent / mercato emergente 
Newly industrializing country or market with above-average growth potential and developing financial markets.

EMI 
Abbr. for European Monetary Institute. 

employment / Beschäftigung / occupation / occupazione 
Macro-economic term: effective deployment of the production factor labour over a given period of time. Employment can be measured in absolute (hours worked/number of people in employment) or in relative terms (employment rate).

employment rate / Beschäftigungsgrad / degré d'occupation / grado di occupazione 
Macro-economic term: percentage of persons actually in employment in a country in relation to the potentially employable workforce. See also employment.

EMS 
Abbr. for European Monetary System.

EMU 
Abbr. for European Monetary Union.
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En

English auction / englische Auktion / enchère anglaise / asta inglese 
Auction in which buyers submit increasing bids, usually following a pre-established bid increment, and in which the highest bidder wins and is required to pay the seller the amount of the winning bid. See also auction, Dutch auction. 

en nom participation 
Synonym for underwriter listed in prospectus. Term derived from the French «en nom» (meaning «in the name of»).

endorsee / Indossatar / endossataire / giratario 
Person to whom the title to and rights of an order instrument are transferred by virtue of an endorsement.

endorsement / Indossament / endossement / girata 
The transfer of title or rights to an order instrument by signing on the back of the instrument. See also assignment.

endorser / Indossant / endosseur / girante 
Person who has title to a negotiable instrument and writes his name on it in order to transfer said title or rights to another person or persons.

endowment capital 
Synonym for capital stock.

Energy / Energie / Energie / Energia 
Equity sector incorporating shares of companies involved in oil and natural gas exploration, production, transportation and/or refininement. The respective MSCI Sector index acts as a benchmark for shares of companies belonging to this sector.

enforced saving / Zwangssparen / épargne forcée / risparmio forzato 
All measures imposed by government bodies through legislation or collective agreements to establish a social security system that provides for retirement and invalidity. In Switzerland, the compulsory saving takes the form of mandatory pension savings and essentially covers contributions to the first pillar (AHV) and the second pillar (occupational pension schemes).
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Eq

equity / eigene Mittel / fonds propres / mezzi propri 
Also: capital base.
(1) In a broader sense a synonym for equity capital.
(2) Banking: Article 11 of the Implementing Ordinance for the Swiss Banking Law stipulates that equity consists of core capital (Tier 1 comprising paid-up capital, disclosed reserves and profit brought forward) as well as certain additional capital components eligible for inclusion in tier one (undisclosed reserves and subordinated bond issues). Equity capital must satisfy the requirements set out in the Banking Law, but in most cases it goes beyond these prescribed limits. Equity is an important measure of how financially sound a bank is.
(3) Lending: the capital or assets which an applicant must usually have (except in leasing) in order to be granted a loan. 

equity (2) / Aktien / actions / azioni 
Asset class for investments in the securities category share.

Equity banking / Equity-Banking / equity banking / equity financing 
Also: equity financing. Equity financing provided by a bank for newly incorporated companies or those exhibiting strong growth with a good credit rating.

equity capital; shareholders' equity / Eigenkapital / capitaux propres / capitale proprio 
Net assets of a company calculated as the excess of assets over liabilities. Opposite: liabilities. See also equity.

equity earnings yield 
Synonym for earnings yield.

equity financing / Eigenfinanzierung / autofinancement / autofinanziamento 
Funds raised by a company for capital investment in plant and equipment or for acquisition purposes, via the issue of shares and participation certificates or, in the case of a cooperative, the issue of unit certificates. Opposite: debt financing.

equity fund / Aktienfonds / fonds de placement en actions / fondo d'investimento azionario 
Investment fund that invests in shares as stipulated in its regulations.

equity method / Equity-Methode / méthode de la mise en équivalence / metodo dell'equivalenza 
Method of valuing and accounting for associated companies in the consolidated financial statements based on the percentage of net asset value held.

equity paper / Beteiligungspapier / titre de participation / titolo di partecipazione 
Certificated equity instrument or dividend-right certificate. See also share.

equity portfolio / Aktienportefeuille / portefeuille d'actions / portafoglio azionario 
Also: share portfolio. Portfolio which is invested in equities and to a small extent in money market investments and where the investment objective is to achieve a high long-term return on the international equity markets through capital gains and forex revenues.

equity ratio / (1) Eigenfinanzierungsgrad (2) Eigenkapitalquote / coefficient d'autofinancement / grado di autofinanziamento 
(1) Ratio of a company's equity to its entire capital. See also self-financing.
(2) Basic ratio which expresses equity capital as a percentage of a company's total assets.

equity return 
See also dividend yield.

equity security / Dividendenwert; Dividendenpapier / valeur à revenu variable / titolo azionario 
Security with an entitlement to share in profits, as against fixed-income securities with an entitlement to interest payments. Shares, participation and dividend-right certificates are equity securities. See also dividend.

equity trading ring 
See ring.
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Er

ERG 
Abbr. for export risk guarantee.
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Es

estimated value / Schatzungswert / valeur d'estimation / valore di stima 
Also: appraised value. Value of a real estate property based on an appraisal carried out by experts.
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Eu

EUA 
Abbr.: for European unit of account.

European Monetary Union / Europäische Währungsunion / Union économique et monétaire européenne / Unione monetaria europea 
Abbr. EMU. The convergence of monetary policy which occurred on 1 January 1999 amongst the majority of EU member states. This convergence led to the introduction of the euro, the common European currency, in the countries party to the agreement.

EURCO 
European Composite Unit. European Unit of Account.

Eurex / Eurex / Eurex / Eurex 
Umbrella organization founded jointly in the second half of 1998 by the Swiss Exchange and Deutsche Börse AG to operate the first ever cross-border futures market. The merger of SOFFEX and DTB Deutsche Terminbörse produced a common platform for full electronic trading and clearing of derivatives instruments. One of the world's largest derivatives exchanges. Website: www.eurexchange.com.

Euribor 
Abbreviation for Euro Interbank Offered Rate, the interest rate at which euro interbank term deposits within the euro zone are offered by one prime bank to another prime bank.

euro / Euro / euro / euro 
Single currency for European Monetary Union (EMU) launched on 1 January 1999.

euro area 
Synonym for Eurozone.

Euro Traveller's Cheque / Euro Traveller Cheque / Euro Traveller Cheque / Euro Travellers Cheque 
Brand of travellers cheque accepted throughout the world and marketed by a large number of financial institutions.

Eurobond 
See Eurobond issue.

Eurobond issue / Euroanleihe / euro-obligation / eurobbligazione 
Also: Eurobond. Bond issued on the Euromarket in a currency other than that of the issuer's country of origin.

Eurocapital market / Eurokapitalmarkt / euromarché des capitaux / euromercato dei capitali 
The segment of the Euromarket where instruments with medium- to long-term maturities (i.e. maturities of longer than 18 months), above all eurobonds, are issued and traded.

Euroclear / Euroclear / Euroclear / Euroclear 
International securities clearing system formed by banks and securities dealers for the collective custody and book-entry transfer of securities (initially primarily Eurobonds).

Eurocommercial paper /Euro-Commercial-Paper /europapier commercial / euro-commercial paper 
Abbr.: ECP or Euro-CP. Short-term money market paper issued by major first-class companies on the Euromarket without any underwriting commitment on the part of a bank or banking consortium. Very similar to the commercial paper issued in the United States.

Euro-CP 
Abbr.: for Eurocommercial paper.

Eurocredit / Eurokredit / eurocrédit / eurocredito 
International bank credit denominated in a Eurocurrency.

Eurocurrency / Eurowährung / eurodevise / eurovaluta 
Currency employed for balances and liabilities on the Euromarket. Examples of eurocurrencies are: Eurodollar, euro, euro-GBP, euro-CHF.

Eurodollar / Eurodollar / eurodollar / eurodollaro 
Eurodollars are dollar balances and dollar liabilities beyond the borders of the United States. These transactions collectively form the Eurodollar market. See also Euromarket.

Euroland 
Synonym for Eurozone.

Euromarket / Euromarkt / euromarché / euromercato 
International financial market consisting of several spezialized markets on which bank loans and bond and equity issues are transacted in Eurocurrencies such as Eurodollars, Euro-DEM and Euro-FRF. Despite its name, the Euromarket is by no means confined to Europe geographically; the most important trading currency is the US dollar. Since the introduction of the euro the term 'international financial market' is increasingly being used. See also Euromoney market, Eurocapital market.

Euromoney market / Eurogeldmarkt / euromarché de l'argent / euromercato monetario 
The segment of the Euromarket which specializes in settling short- to medium-term deposits (with maturities not exceeding 18 months).

Euronext / Euronext / Euronext / Euronext 
Euronext came into existence in September 2000 as a result of the merger of the spot and forward exchanges of the financial centres Amsterdam, Brussels and Paris. Since then it has grown further due to the addition of the Portugese spot and forward exchange BVLP and London's LIFFE. Website: www.euronext.com.

Euronote / Euronote / euronote / euronota 
Medium-term notes issued on the Euromoney market.

Euronote facility / Euronote-Facility / facilité d'euronote / euronote facility 
A financial innovation based on an agreement between one or more financial institutions and a borrower which allows the borrower to borrow funds up to an upper limit through the revolving placement of Euronotes on the Euromarket within a time frame of five to seven years. A key feature is the obligation of participating banks (underwriters) to purchase the Euronotes at the contractually agreed interest rate or to make alternative backup or standby facilities available if the borrower is not able to sell the Euronotes on the market. Euronotes only have a maturity of a few months and must therefore - depending on demand - be reissued by the borrower upon expiry (revolving underwriting facility or note issuance facility).

European Central Bank / Europäische Zentralbank / Banque centrale européenne / Banca Centrale Europea 
Abbr.: ECB. Central bank of the European Monetary Union whose remit is to implement European monetary policy within the EMU. The headquarters of the European Central Bank are in Frankfurt; it is wholly independent and not subject to instructions from governments or the EU executive. The central banks of member countries, which also enjoy complete independence, remain in existence and along with the ECB constitute the European System of Central Banks (ESCB). Website: www.ecb.int.

European Currency Unit / Europäische Währungseinheit / unité monétaire européenne / Unità monetaria europea 
Abbr.: ECU. Former currency unit equal to the sum of the values of the currencies of the previous 12 EU member states whose currencies made up the ECU currency basket: the value of an ECU was calculated as a weighted average of these currencies. The ECU was abandoned upon introduction of the euro on 1 January 1999. The euro replaced the ECU on the basis of 1 ECU = 1 euro.

European Monetary Institute / Europäisches Währungsinstitut /Institut monétaire européen / Istituto monetario europeo 
Abbr.: EMI. Precursor of the European Central Bank responsible for coordinating monetary and economic policy in the EMU countries in preparation for the third phase of the introduction of the euro.

European Monetary System / Europäisches Währungssystem / Système Monétaire Européen / Sistema Monetario Europeo 
Abbr.: EMS. The European Monetary System I (EMS I) was a system of fixed, but nonetheless flexible, exchange rates determining the exchange rates for the currencies of certain EU member countries. Since the European Monetary Union came into force a new system (EMS 2) has governed the fixing of exchange rates between the euro and the currencies of those EU countries not participating in the single currency.

European Monetary Union / Europäische Währungsunion / Union économique et monétaire européenne / Unione monetaria europea 
Abbr.: EMU. Established under the Maastricht Treaty on European Union. In the broader sense an economic and monetary union. Participating countries are obligated to pursue a common economic policy and use a single currency (euro). Entered into force on 1 January 1999.

European option / europäische Option / option européenne / opzione europea 
Option which can only be exercised on the last day of trading, i.e. on maturity. See also: American-style option.

European System of Central Banks 
Abbr. ESCB. See European Central Bank.

euroSIC / euroSIC / euroSIC / euroSIC 
Clearing system of Swiss Interbank Clearing for Swiss payment transactions in euros within Switzerland and beyond its borders.

Eurozone / Eurozone / zone euro / Eurozona 
Also: euro area, Euroland. Currency area of the euro.


Top

Ev

event-driven /Event-Driven / event driven / event driven 
Hedge fund strategy in accordance with which fund managers attempt to profit from extraordinary events triggered by special exceptional situations such as company mergers, insolvencies or restructuring.
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Ex

ex dividend / ex Dividende / ex dividende / ex dividendo 
A share is quoted ex dividend when the amount of the dividend has been deducted from the price. When a stock is dealt ex dividend, the buyer has no right to the last dividend, only to the next one.

ex right / ex Anrecht / ex droit / ex diritto d'opzione 
Designation of a share which once trading begins in its subscription rights is traded without them. The rights are traded separately for a stipulated period on the stock exchange where they have been listed.

excess return / Überschussrendite / excédent de rendement / rendimento eccedente 
Return above the money market rate.

exchange / Börse / Bourse / borsa 
Financial market that operates regularly and is organized in accordance with fixed customs and practices, e.g. security, forex, option and commodity exchanges. The key exchanges include the New York Stock Exchange, the Nasdaq and the London and Tokyo stock exchanges. See also SWX Swiss Exchange.

exchange of data carriers / Datenträgeraustausch / échange de supports de données / scambio dei supporti di dati 
Processing of payment transactions via data carriers or file transfer.

exchange office; bureau de change / Wechselstube / bureau de change / ufficio cambi 
Also: bureau de change. Banking department/teller area that handles currency exchange and related business (such as coin dealing, traveller's cheques and letters of credit).

exchange rate / Devisenkurs / cours des devises / corso delle divise 
The rate at which one currency is exchanged for another. The average of the bid and asked prices is taken as the mean rate.

exchange rate mechanism / Wechselkursmechanismus / mécanisme de change / meccanismo di cambio 
The European Monetary System (EMS) was replaced following the decision taken by the European Council on 16 June 1997 to set up an Exchange Rate Mechanism (ERM II) in the third stage of the Economic and Monetary Union. The aim of this Exchange Rate Mechanism is to ensure stability and solidarity in terms of exchange rates between those countries that have introduced the euro as their currency and those that have not. Primary objective: to prevent excessively large exchange-rate fluctuations between the EUR and the currencies of non-participating nations.

exchange rate parity / Währungsparität / parité de change / parità monetaria 
The officially fixed ratio of the value of one currency against another, i.e. the equivalence between the market or declared values of two different currencies. Dollar parity, for example, is the ratio of a currency against the US dollar. See also gold parity.

exchange-traded fund /Exchange-Traded-Fund / Exchange Traded Fund / exchange traded fund 
Abbr.: ETF. Index fund whose composition is tied to the weighting of an index and can be traded at any time without issuing commission. See also basket product.

ex-date / Ex-Tag / jour ex droit / giorno ex 
The first day after a stock dividend has become due, i.e. the day after the relevant stock is traded without the dividend.

exercise / Ausübung / exercice / esercizio 
The action taken by the holder of an option contract to exercise his right to buy or sell one or more underlyings at the terms specified in the option contract.

exercise price 
Price at which an option buyer can buy (call) or sell (put) the underlying securities, currencies, etc.

exotic fund 
Synonym for offshore fund.

expiry / Verfall / expiration / scadenza 
Also: maturity. Date on which a debt (e.g. a bond) falls due or an option expires. Borrowers who fail to meet their obligations by the expiry date are said to be in default. See also default interest.

export credit / Exportkredit / crédit à l'exportation / credito all'esportazione 
Medium- to long-term credit granted for the purpose of financing export shipments. There are two main forms of export credits: supplier credit (trade credit), i.e. credit granted by the supplier to the buyers, and customer or buyer's credit granted directly to the foreign buyer or his bank. Large credits of this kind are generally furnished by a syndicate of banks (in Switzerland syndicated credit). An export credit granted jointly by a commercial bank and the government is referred to as a mixed loan or credit. This type of loan is commonly granted to developing economies.

export credit insurance / Exportkreditversicherung / assurance crédit à l'exportation / assicurazione del credito all'esportazione 
Usually government-sponsored (but autonomously financed) schemes offering protection against the specific risks associated with the granting of export credits. In Switzerland known as export risk guarantee.

export documentary credit 
Synonym for documentary credit.

export finance / Exportfinanzierung / financement des exportations / finanziamento delle esportazioni 
Providing exporters with the required capital for the shipment abroad of merchandise, or for the rendering of services such as construction, engineering and development operations in a different country. Export finance generally takes the form of bank credits granted to the supplier or credit given to the foreign purchaser of the goods. The documentary credit plays an important role in short-term export finance. Medium- to long-term export credits furnished by the banks are the most usual form of export financing in Switzerland today. Special types of export finance are factoring, non-recourse financing and offset transactions. In Switzerland, export finance is frequently provided in combination with an export risk guarantee from the Federal Government.

export finance credit / Export-Finanzkredit / crédit financier à l'exportation / credito finanziario all'esportazione 
One of the instruments in export finance. In Switzerland, export finance credits are granted by Swiss banks to finance export shipments not covered by the official export risk guarantee program, to finance downpayments, intermediate payments and local costs related to the installation of plant or equipment delivered by the Swiss producer.

export risk guarantee / Exportrisikogarantie / garantie contre les risques à l'exportation / garanzia contro i rischi delle esportazioni 
Guarantee safeguarding claims arising from export operations. The Swiss Federal Government's export risk guarantee scheme has been in place since 1934 (ERG). The guarantee cover includes not only the actual merchandise exports but also certain other business services rendered by the exporter, such as the leasing of goods, construction, engineering and development work, licensing and scientific, technical and economic consulting.

exposure / Engagement / engagement / impegno 
(1) Securities trade: obligation arising from new purchases of securities. Also a designation for the entire securities portfolio of an investor or group of buyers.
(2) Lending business: the credit liability which a bank has assumed in regard to a customer or borrowing country.
(3) When an investor exposes assets to the influence of uncertain variable (risk factors), the assets are exposed to these factors.

external balance / Aussenbilanz 
Synonym for balance of payments. Balance of cross-border flow of goods, services and capital transfers.

external payments balance 
Synonym for external balance.

external value / Aussenwert / valeur extérieure / valore esterno 
Purchasing power of a domestic currency unit abroad. The external value is generally taken as the reciprocal value of the exchange rate.

extra dividend / Bonus / bonus / dividendo straordinario 
Also: bonus. Special dividend distribution on shares and participation certificates made by a company in addition to its regular dividend, e.g. as a jubilee bonus.
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facility / Fazilität / facilités / facilitazione di credito 
Synonym for credit line.

factoring / Factoring / affacturage / factoring 
A form of financing which enables companies to generate liquidity. Factoring involves the sale of short-term trade receivables (usually of 30 days) to a factoring company (factor). The purchase price represents a certain percentage of the face value of the receivables. The remaining balance is returned to the client after deduction of a service charge once the debt is collected. The purchase price paid by the factor is credited to the client after deduction of the factoring fee and the financing charges (depending on the amount of credit drawn).

fair value / Fair Value / juste valeur / fair value 
(1) The amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction.
(2) The estimated value of all assets and liabilities of an acquired company used to consolidate the financial statements of both companies.
(3) In the futures market, fair value is the equilibrium price for a futures contract. This is equal to the spot price after taking into account compounded interest (and dividends lost because the investor owns the futures contract rather than the physical stocks) over a certain period of time.

falling market 
Synonym for bear market.

falsification 
Synonym for forgery.

family company / Familienunternehmen / entreprise familiale / società a carattere familiare 
Company which is wholly or predominantly owned by one family. If the family company is a limited company, it is known as a family limited company. In contrast to this, ownership of a public limited company or other limited company is more broadly based. 

Fannie Mae / Fannie Mae / Fannie Mae / Fannie Mae 
Short name for the Federal Mortgage Association, a mortgage institution whose main business is in the securitization of existing loans for the purchase of real estate. According to the US Treasury it is the largest US borrower and acts as a mortgage financing agency. See also Freddie Mac.

FAS 
Abbr. for free alongside ship.
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FBC / EBK / CFB / CFB 
Abbr. for Federal Banking Commission.
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FED 
Abbr. for Federal Reserve System.

Federal Banking Commission / Eidgenössische Bankenkommission / Commission fédérale des banques / Commissione federale delle banche 
Abbr.: FBC. Also: SFBC. Short form: banking commission. Independent supervisory and regulatory body responsible for overseeing banks and investment funds.

federal funds / Federal Funds / fonds fédéraux / federal funds 
A form of money market investment developed in the US which is mainly used by the large commercial banks to balance daily liquidity needs. The surplus reserves of banks are traded through the Federal Reserve System.

Federal Reserve System / Federal Reserve System / Réserve fédérale / Federal Reserve System 
Abbr.: FED. The central bank system in the United States, established by the Federal Reserve Act in 1913 and consisting of 12 Federal Reserve Banks, one in each Federal Reserve District.

FER / FER / RPC / RCP 
(1) Abbr. for Swiss Foundation for Accounting and Reporting Recommendations (ARR)
(2) Abbr. for Swiss Accounting and Reporting Recommendations.


Top

Fi

fiduciary transactions / Treuhandgeschäfte / opérations fiduciaires / operazioni fiduciarie 
Fiduciary transactions are fundamentally characterized by the fact that a trustee or fiduciary acquires in his own name goods, assets or claims (receivables) at the instructions of the trustor or beneficiary and manages the assets held in trust in the interest of the principal and in accordance with his instructions. The trustee or fiduciary acts in his own name but for the account and at the risk of the trustor or beneficiary. Fiduciary transactions performed by a bank in the form of money market investments or as fiduciary loans are effected or granted in its own name, but in response to a written order, exclusively for the account and at the risk of the customer (fiduciary investments, fiduciary loans). The principal bears the currency, transfer and del credere risks. Fiduciary transactions rank among off-balance-sheet business but are shown by banks under the line. In the wider sense of the word they also include all other transactions entrusted to a fiduciary or trust company.

fill-or-kill order / (1) Accept-Order, Akzeptauftrag (2) Fill-or-kill-Auftrag / (1) ordre accept (2) ordre tout ou rien / (1) accept order (2) ordine «fill or kill» 
Stock exchange order that is executed immediately, i.e. matched with all orders within a specific limit. When a fill-or-kill order is issued on the Swiss stock exchange, the order must be executed immediately in full or not at all. If it cannot be executed in full immediately, the part not executed is cancelled and eliminated from the order book.

final dividend / Schlussdividende / dividende final / dividendo finale 
Dividend paid out by a corporation at the end of the year (annual dividend) after quarterly, semi-annual or other interim dividends have already been distributed in the course of the year.

final settlement value / Final Settlement Value / final settlement value / final settlement value 
Settlement value specified at the end of the last trading day of a financial contract.

finance bill / Finanzwechsel / effet financier / cambiale finanziaria 
Bill of exchange not directly connected with an actual business transaction. Frequently takes the form of a promissory note. Finance bills include Treasury notes, bills issued by public authorities and banker's acceptances.

financial analysis / Finanzanalyse / analyse financière / analisi finanziaria 
Also: investment research. Analysis of political and economic conditions, the state of the financial markets, specific industries and companies with a view to developing an investment policy, an asset allocation and individual share recommendations. See also basic analysis, technical analysis.

financial centre / (1) Börsenplatz (2) Finanzplatz / (1) place boursière (2) place financière / (1) piazza borsistica (2) piazza finanziaria 
1) Also: trading centre. City where there are one or more active stock exchanges.
2) Collective term for the interface between national and international financial systems in the broadest sense (banks, financial markets, insurance and other financial service companies). A financial centre may be national (Switzerland), regional (Ticino) or a hub location with a strong banking presence and close ties to the international financial community (Zurich).

financial engineering / Financial engineering / ingénierie financière / ingegneria finanziaria 
Also: structured finance. A field of corporate finance, financial engineering refers to the application of various mathematical, statistical and computational techniques to solve practical problems in finance. Such problems include the valuation of derivatives instruments such as options, futures and swaps, the trading of securities, risk management and regulation of financial markets. In a broader sense the term generally means qualified financial consulting services (e.g. solving capital and asset management problems, selecting financing strategies and instruments, drawing up financial and cash plans, assessing and evaluating investment projects).

financial future / Financial Future; Finanz-Future; Finanzterminkontrakt / financial future / financial future 
Also: futures contract. A futures contract based on a financial instrument. Depending on the type of underlying a distinction is made between interest futures, currency futures, index futures and precious metal futures. See also commodity futures contract.

financial innovations / Finanzinnovationen / innovations financières / innovazioni finanziarie 
Financial market instruments embodying novel conditions.

financial loan; medium term financing / Finanzkredit / crédit financier / credito finanziario 
A bank loan for a fixed amount and term the use of which is not tied to a commercial transaction. See also export finance credit.

financial market instrument / Finanzmarktinstrument / instrument du marché financier / strumento finanziario 
Collective term for any form of standard, tradable financial products such as securities, foreign exchange instruments, precious metals, options, financial futures, etc.

financial statement / Abschluss / bouclement / chiusura 
Also: accounts, annual accounts. The balance sheet and profit and loss account/income statement of a company prepared at the end of an accounting period.

Financials / Finanzwesen / Finance / Finanza 
Equity sector incorporating shares of companies offering services in banking, insurance, or real estate. The respective MSCI Sector index acts as a benchmark for shares of companies belonging to this sector.

financing / Finanzierung / financement / finanziamento 
Obtaining or supplying money for specific projects.

fineness / Feinheit / titre / titolo 
Ratio of weight of pure precious metal to gross weight of alloyed metal. Expressed in parts per thousand.

FIPS 
Abbreviation for Foreign Interest Payment Securities. Foreign-issued bonds denominated in Swiss francs where the interest payment is expressed in US dollars. See also dual currency bond.

firm underwriting / Festübernahme / prise ferme / assunzione a fermo 
Also: direct underwriting. Undertaking by a bank or syndicate to assume the risk of buying a new issue of securities and to offer them for public subscription at its own risk.

first mortgage / erste Hypothek; erstrangige Hypothek; Hypothek im ersten Rang 
Mortgage that has precedence over all other mortgages. Usually granted for up to two-thirds of the property's market value. See also second mortgage.

fixed advance / fester Vorschuss; Festkredit / avance à terme fixe / anticipazione fissa 
Fixed-rate commercial loan of a specific amount repayable on an agreed due date or subject to a period of notice.

fixed assets / Anlagevermögen / capital fixe / immobilizzazioni 
Assets acquired by a company that are not intended for immediate consumption, e.g. land, machinery, tools, equipment, furniture, etc. Also includes certain immaterial values (patents, licenses, processes) and permanent participations. Opposite: current assets.

fixed exchange rate / fester Wechselkurs / taux de change fixe / cambio fisso 
Official exchange rate of a currency fixed by central banks. The rate is kept within the permitted fluctuation margin in trading on the foreign exchange markets, if necessary by central bank intervention through purchasing or selling the relevant currency. Opposite: floating. See also intervention point.

fixed mortgage 
Synonym for fixed-rate mortgage.

fixed-date bill / Datowechsel / effet à un certain délai de vue / cambiale a certo tempo data 
Bill of exchange which becomes due and payable at a stipulated date after the issue date. Fixed-date bills are common in overseas trade.

fixed income / festverzinsliche Werte / revenu fixe / titoli a reddito fisso 
Asset class for investments in the securities category bond. 

fixed-income fund /Fixed-Income-Fund /fonds à revenu fixe / fondo fixed income 
Investment fund that invests in fixed-income securities. See also bond fund.

fixed-income security 
Synonym for fixed-interest security.

fixed-interest mortgage 
Synonym for fixed-rate mortgage.

fixed-interest security / festverzinslicher Wert / valeur à revenu fixe / valore a reddito fisso 
Security on which the borrower must pay interest at a set rate for their entire maturity (such as bonds, notes, medium-term notes, debentures, etc). Opposite: share, floating rate bond.

fixed-rate loan 
Synonym for fixed advance.

fixed-rate mortgage / Festzinshypothek / hypothèque à taux fixe / ipoteca a tasso fisso 
Also: fixed mortgage, fixed-interest mortgage. Mortgage with a fixed, unchangeable interest rate running for a period agreed on between the bank and the borrower, usually between two and ten years.

fixing / Fixing / fixing / fixing 
The setting of firm reference prices, e.g. for silver, gold and platinum. Prices are re-set at the same time each day. Reflecting the prevailing market conditions at the time it is set, the fixed price remains valid for all trader transactions until next determined.
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flat / flat / tel quel / flat 
Indicates
(1) a net interest rate, in other words one without further additions, or
(2) in the purchase or sale of fixed-income securities, trading without accrued interest (only applies to bonds in default).

flight capital / Fluchtgeld; Fluchtkapital /capitaux en fuite / fuga di denaro 
Also: hot money. Capital transferred by the owner to another country in violation of capital export or exchange control laws. See also Agreement on the Swiss banks' code of conduct with regard to the exercise of due diligence.

floating / Floating / flottement / fluttuazione 
Central bank policy which involves allowing exchange rates to be dictated by supply and demand on the foreign currency market. See also dirty floating.

floating exchange rate / flexibler Wechselkurs / taux de change flottant / cambio flessibile 
An exchange rate which is allowed to move freely, finding its level as a function of supply and demand on the foreign currency market, and is subject to only limited intervention by the central bank. Opposite: fixed exchange rate.

floating rate bond; floating rate note (FRN) / Anleihe mit variablem Zinssatz / obligation à taux d'intérêt variable / obbligazione a tasso d'interesse variabile 
Abbreviation: FRB. Synonym for floating rate note.

floating rate note / Floating-Rate-Note / Floating Rate Note / floating rate note 
Abbreviation: FRN. Also: floating rate bond. Bond with a variable interest rate based on a reference interest rate, plus or minus a further component as risk premium.

floor / Floor / floor / floor 
(1) Financial instrument guaranteeing a contractually agreed minimum rate of interest. Opposite: cap.
(2) Area of a stock exchange in which trading is conducted.

floor trader / Floor-Trader / négociateur individuel de parquet / floor trader 
Also: local. Exchange trader who executes trades strictly for his own account.
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FOB 
Abbreviation for Free on Board. Contract clause common in international trade. Denotes that the transport, insurance and loading costs incurred until the merchandise is loaded on board the ship are included in the price of the goods.

for deposit only / nur zur Verrechnung / à porter en compte / da accreditare 
Endorsement on the face of a check indicating that the amount must be credited to an account and cannot be paid out in cash.

forced sale of collateral / Exekution / exécution / realizzazione forzata 
The forced sale of the assets pledged as security to the bank for a loan if the credit utilization exceeds the lending value of the pledged collaterals or if the customer is in default regarding repayment of principal or payment of interest.

forced saving / Zwangssparen / épargne forcée / risparmio forzato 
Compulsory saving on a large scale by a state-imposed limitation of consumer spending, engineered in such a way that the money «saved» is directed into investments, pension fund financing etc.

foreign assets / Auslandaktiven / créances sur l'étranger / attività sull'estero 
Credit balances or claims, for example in the form of loans, granted to customers abroad. Opposite: foreign liabilities.

foreign bond issue / Auslandanleihe / emprunt étranger / prestito estero 
Bond issue placed outside the country of domicile of its issuer in the currency of the country where it is offered for subscription. Opposite: domestic bond.

foreign currency account / Fremdwährungskonto / compte en monnaie étrangère / conto in moneta estera 
An account not denominated in local currency but in the currency of another country.

foreign currency clause / Valutaklausel; Währungsklausel / clause monétaire / clausola valutaria 
A clause aimed at removing the risk (with regard to a particular claim) of a devaluation of one's own currency, by designating a fixed ratio or exchange rate between this currency and the foreign currency.

foreign currency market; currency market; exchange market / Devisenmarkt / marché des changes / mercato dei cambi 
Market on which currency is offered and purchased.

foreign exchange / Devisen / devises / divise 
Instruments used to make payments between countries, especially in the form of checks, bills of exchange, debits and credits, etc.

foreign exchange controls / Devisenkontrolle / contrôle des changes / controllo dei cambi 
State measures to regulate inflows and outflows of domestic and foreign currency.

foreign exchange trading / Devisenhandel / opérations sur devises / negoziazione di divise 
Also: foreign exchange. Business activity which consists of the purchase and sale of currencies, holding currency positions, currency arbitrage and speculation on the currency markets. See also banknote trading.

foreign liabilities / Auslandpassiven / engagements envers l'étranger / passività verso l'estero 
Financial obligations towards foreign creditors, for example in the form of balances due to banks located abroad. Opposite: foreign assets.

foreign trade balance / Aussenhandelsbilanz 
Synonym for balance of trade.

forex 
Abbreviation for foreign exchange.

forfaiting / Forfaitierung / financement à forfait / forfetizzazione 
A method of purchasing medium term claims whereby the purchaser waives any entitlement to enforce the claim against its original owner. Forfaiting is normally used as a method of export financing, with an exporter selling a claim for receivables against an importer to a third party, thereby converting a sale on deferred payment terms (between 1 and 5 years) into a sale against cash payment.

forfeiture of shares / Kaduzierung / déclaration de déchéance / dichiarazione di decadenza 
Cancellation of participation rights in a public limited company, limited liability company or cooperative due to the shareholder, partner or member's failure to pay the subscription price of new shares or failure to pay a call duly made on them.

forgery / Falsifikat / fausse monnaie / falsificazione 
Also: falsification. Term for forged bank notes, coins, securities and stamps.

forward contract / Forward-Kontrakt / contrat à livraison différée / contratto forward 
Agreement between two parties to buy or sell a specific quantity of a commodity subject to conditions agreed beforehand, with delivery and payment taking place at a later date. Unlike standardized futures contracts, forward contracts are traded over the counter, rather than on a stock exchange. See forward transaction.

forward rate / Terminkurs / cours à terme / corso a termine 
The price paid for a future transaction or on the futures markets. Opposite: spot rate.

forward rate agreement /Forward-Rate-Agreement / Forward Rate Agreement / forward rate agreement 
Abbreviation: FRA. A forward transaction between banks and industrial firms whereby the two parties agree on an interest rate for a future period and no initial margin payment is required at the time the contract is concluded. Unlike financial futures, FRAs are not standardized and are not traded on interbank markets. They are used to hedge the risk of a change in interest rates by locking in the current interest rate for future payments.

forward transaction / Termingeschäft; Zeitgeschäft / opération à terme / operazione a termine 
Transaction (purchase or sale), whereby the contractual obligations (e.g. delivery of and payment for currency, goods or securities) are not performed immediately but instead at a later date and at a price either fixed in advance or determined on the basis of market developments. A distinction is drawn between unconditional forward transactions (futures, forwards) and conditional forward transactions (options). Opposite: spot transaction.

forwarder's receipt / Spediteurempfangsschein / récépissé du transporteur / ricevuta dello spedizioniere 
Forwarding agent's written declaration confirming receipt of goods for shipment. Not a security, but often necessary for the execution of a documentary credit. See also documentary credit.

founder's share / Gründeranteilschein / part de fondateur / parte di fondatore 
Shares issued to founders of a company as compensation for previously unpaid services. They grant certain preferential rights, e.g. to a part of the net profit or the liquidation proceeds. Known in the United Kingdom as deferred shares. 
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FRA 
Abbreviation for forward rate agreement.

fraction / Fraktion / fraction / spezzatura 
(1) Also: odd lot. In share trading, a number of share units which is smaller than the number of units usually traded, as distinguished from the round lot, which is a multiple of the trading unit.
(2) In bond and rights trading: fractional item.

fractional rights / Spitze / rompus / spezzatura 
Term used in the securities business for subscription rights which are not sufficient to subscribe to a whole new share. The shareholder can either purchase additional rights on the market to buy whole new shares or can sell their fractional rights at the prevailing market price.

franchising / Franchising / franchisage / franchising 
System under which a licence is granted to manufacture or market a product or service for which the equipment or supplies are manufactured and furnished by the franchisor. The franchisee makes an initial payment and/or pays a royalty on the product or service to the franchisor. Franchises are often granted for a particular territory and for a particular period. The franchisor usually performs certain managerial functions and assumes specific investment and operating costs, while the franchisee operates for his own account.

FRB 
Abbreviation for floating rate bond.

Freddie Mac 
Short name for the Federal Loan Mortgage Corporation, a mortgage institution whose main business is in the securitization of existing loans for the purchase of real estate. See also Fannie Mae.

free alongside ship / Free Alongside Ship / free alongside ship / free alongside ship 
Abbreviation: FAS. A contract clause commonly used in foreign trade which stipulates that the price of the goods includes transport and insurance costs until the goods are delivered to the quay at the port of lading.

free cash flow / Free Cash-Flow / free cash-flow / free Cash-Flow 
Total liquid funds not required to finance operations or for capital expenditure on replacement. These free funds are available for distribution to shareholders, for new investment or for the repayment of debt capital.

free float / Free Float / flottant / flottante 
The part of a company's shares which is not held as a long-term investment by the founder, management, etc. and can therefore be traded on a stock exchange at any time, making it available to the investing public.

freight collect / Freight Collect / port dû / porto assegnato 
Term used in commercial contracts stating that the purchaser must pay the freight charges for a consignment of goods on delivery. See also freight prepaid.

freight prepaid / Freigth Prepaid; franko / franco; port payé; franc de port / franco; porto affrancato 
Term used in commercial contracts indicating that the seller has paid the costs of freight beyond a named point to a second named point. Title to the shipment passes to the buyer at the first named point. See also freight collect.

friendly takeover / freundliche Übernahme / rachat amical / scalata amichevole 
Takeover welcomed and supported by the management of the company which is the subject of the takeover. Opposite: hostile takeover.

FRN 
Abbreviation for floating rate note.
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FTSE-100 / FTSE-100 / indice FTSE 100 / FTSE 100 
UK share price index compiled by FTSE, a company owned by the Financial Times and the London Stock Exchange. This index comprises the 100 most highly capitalised blue chip companies, representing approximately 80% of the UK market. 
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full convertibilty / Vollkonvertibilität / convertibilité totale / piena convertibilità 
Full convertibility means a currency can be exchanged into other currencies with virtually no restrictions. See also partial convertibility, convertibility.

full legal tender coin / Kurantmünze / pièce courante / moneta corrente 
(1) Original meaning: coins which by law must be accepted as legal tender without restrictions. See also divisional coin.
(2) In Switzerland, gold coins that have been in circulation since 1850 but have not been minted for a long time, e.g. the «Goldvreneli».

full set / Full Set / jeu complet / full set 
Term commonly used in documentary credit transactions denoting the complete set of bills of lading (i.e. the full set of original documents).

full-service bank / Universalbank / banque universelle / banca universale 
A bank operating in all banking sectors and for all types of clients. Banks combining investment banking, commercial banking, and other activities are now also possible in America, via a holding company structure.

fully diluted earnings 
Earnings per share of a company calculated by dividing the net profit by the number of outstanding shares and those shares which could potentially come into existence through the exercise of rights attached to convertible bonds or other securities conferring entitlement to purchase the company's shares.

fund / Fonds / fonds / fondo 
Short for investment fund.

fund management company / Fondsleitung / direction du fonds / direzione del fondo 
Independent company which manages investment funds for the account of investors and in its own name. The fund management company decides which investments to acquire and sell, in the same way as it decides on distributions and the issuing of units.

fund of funds / Fund-of-Funds; Dachfonds / fonds de fonds / fondo di fondi 
An investment fund which invests in a number of other funds with a variety of investment strategies. See also umbrella fund. 

fund regulations / Fondsreglement / règlement du fonds / regolamento del fondo 
A document forming the basis for the business activities of an investment fund and governing the rights and responsibilities of the contracting parties (fund management company, custodian, investors).

fund unit / Fondsanteil / part de fonds / quota di fondo 
Unit of ownership in an investment fund. Embodies the investor's right, enforceable against the management company, to a share in the assets and income of the investment fund.

fundamental analysis 
Synonym for basic analysis.

fundamentals 
Key figures which relate directly to a company and are not dependent on the market. They include sales or revenues, cash flow and profits. Basic analysis uses such data to determine the theoretical value of a share, which may indicate that the share is undervalued, overvalued or fairly valued on the market. The term is also used to denote the important economic numbers (growth, inflation, current account balance, government finances) which can influence the financial markets.

funded system / Kapitaldeckungsverfahren / financement par un capital de couverture / sistema della capitalizzazione 
Also: funded pension scheme, funded pension system. Method of financing employed by insurance companies and pension funds. The contributions of the insured parties are accumulated to form the capital required for the payment of insurance benefits. Opposite: pay-as-you-go system. 

fungible / fungibel / fongible / fungibile 
Freely exchangeable.

fungible items / fungible Sachen / biens fongibles / beni fungibili 
In general, any good, product or instrument in which every unit is so similar to or identical with every other unit that they can be exchanged for one another without legal consequences, e.g. bearer shares, commodities, etc.

future 
Synonym for futures contract.

futures contract / Futures-Kontrakt; Terminkontrakt / contrat à terme de gré à gré / contratto a termine 
Also: future. Standardized contract traded on an exchange by which the seller undertakes to sell or buy a specified quantity of a commodity of a defined quality (commodity future) or a specified amount of a financial instrument (financial future) on a specified due date and for a specified price.

futures exchange / Terminbörse / Bourse à terme / borsa a termine 
Exchange on which certain futures market products are offered. Eurex is an example of a futures exchange.

futures market / Terminmarkt / marché à terme / mercato a termine 
Commodity exchange on which futures contracts are traded. Opposite: spot market.

futures trading / Terminhandel / négoce à terme / commercio a termine 
See forward transaction. 

futures transaction / Termingeschäft / opération à terme / operazione a termine 
The buying and selling of commodities, foreign exchange or securities under contracts providing for the delivery of specific amounts, at a particular price and at some specified future date. Opposite: spot transactions. 
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FX 
Abbreviation for foreign exchange.
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G7 
Abbreviation for Group of 7, a group comprising the major industrialized nations in economic terms, which in view of the global economic importance of the member states have made it their objective to coordinate their respective economic policies.

Ga

gain / anziehen / hausser / aumento 
Increase in the price or rate of securities, foreign exchange, bank notes, etc.

gamma / Gamma / gamma / gamma 
Statistical measure of the absolute change in the delta of an option when the price of the underlying moves.

gap / Gap / écart / divario 
Sharp price leap between two exchange trading sessions.

gateway 
Electronic gateway, e.g. at the Swiss Exchange, linking trader systems with the exchange system. Guarantees equal treatment of exchange members.
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GDP / BIP / PIB / PIL 
Abbr. for gross domestic product.
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gearing / Hebelfaktor / gearing / fattore leva 
UK synonym for leverage. Indicates how much more an options investment can earn than an equity investment with the same initial capital outlay. The higher the gearing, the more volatile the option.

general business conditions / Allgemeine Geschäftsbedingungen (AGB) / conditions générales / condizioni generali 
The principles and guidelines that govern business relations. They are an integral part of contracts concluded between a company (e.g. a bank) and any of numerous business partners.

general crossed cheque / allgemein gekreuzter Check / chèque à barrement général / assegno bancario con sbarramento generale 
See crossed cheque. 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles / Generally Accepted Accounting Principles / Generally Accepted Accounting Principles / Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
Abbreviation: GAAP. Mandatory US standards for the presentation of accounts. See also Swiss Accounting and Reporting Recommendations, International Financial Reporting Standards.

gentlemen's agreement / Gentlemen's Agreement / Gentlemen's Agreement / Gentlemen's Agreement 
A voluntary agreement between parties secured only by the honour of the participants. In Switzerland, this expression is often applied to the agreements between the commercial banks and the Swiss National Bank.

German stock index 
Abbr. DAX. Stock index, which measures the performance of the 30 largest German companies in terms of order book turnover and market capitalization.
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gilt-edged bonds 
Highly rated bonds whose issuers have long-standing reputations for paying interest on time.

GIPS 
Abbreviation of Global Investment Performance Standards.

giro transfer / Giro / transfert / bancogiro 
(1) The cashless transfer of payments.
(2) Transfer by endorsement of an order instrument (e.g. bill of exchange).
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Glass-Steagall Act / Glass-Steagall Act / Glass-Steagall Act / Glass-Steagall Act 
US banking law introduced in 1931 in response to the stock market crash of 1929 which prohibits commercial banks from engaging in investment banking and prevents deposit banks from dealing in securities.

global custody / Global custody / global custody / global custody 
Comprehensive service for the management of large, globally diversified securities portfolios. The aim is to provide institutional investors with an efficient, transparent form of securities administration.

Global Investment Performance Standards / Global Investment Performance Standards / Global Investment Performance Standards / Global Investment Performance Standards 
Abbreviation: GIPS. Recommendations issued by the Association for Investment Management and Research (AIMR) aimed at ensuring globally uniform and modern performance reporting. The objectives are to ensure full disclosure and fair presentation of the performance of asset managers, and also to enable performance comparisons. See also Swiss Performance Presentation Standards.


Top

Gn

GNP / BSP / PNB / PNL 
Abbr. for gross national product.


Top

Go

go-go fund / Go-Go-Fund / go-go fund / go go fund 
Investment fund promising investors superior earnings achieved by frequently shifting portfolio weightings (trading) and through speculative exposure. See also initial public offering.

going private / Going Private / going private / privatizzazione 
Movement from public to private ownership of a company, typically when a shareholder or group of shareholders makes a public offer for the shares in outside ownership or when the shares are purchased by an outside private investor. Opposite: initial public offering.

going public 
Synonym for initial public offering.

gold / Gold / or / oro 
See precious metals.

gold clause / Goldklausel; Goldwertklausel / clause or / clausola oro 
(1) Term in an agreement that certain payments must be effected in gold or gold coins.
(2) Agreement that the amount of certain payments must be linked to the value of fine gold or of specified gold coins (gold value clause).

gold coin / Goldmünze / pièce d'or / moneta d'oro 
Coin minted from gold or gold alloys. Some gold coins are still valid as legal tender. In practice, however, all gold coins are traded at their market value, which is subject to continual fluctuations. Bullion coins have a market value broadly in line with their gold value.

gold coverage / Golddeckung / couverture-or / copertura aurea 
Coverage of a country's banknotes in circulation by the official gold reserves. Abolished in Switzerland by the 2003 revision of the National Bank Law. 

Gold GIPS / Gold GIPS / Gold GIPS / Gold GIPS 
Revised version of the Global Investment Performance Standards (GIPS) which introduces a number of important changes to the existing guidelines and also contains new provisions. The Gold GIPS are expected to come into force in 2006.

gold option / Goldoption / option sur l'or / opzione sull'oro 
The right to buy or sell a specified amount of gold bullion at a stipulated price on the option expiration day.

gold parity / Goldparität / parité or / parità aurea 
Legally stipulated amount of gold which is equivalent to one currency unit. The Swiss Federal Law on Currency and Legal Tender, which came into force on 1 May 2000, abolished the gold parity principle in Switzerland.

gold pool / Goldpool / pool de l'or / pool dell'oro 
Short for Zurich gold pool. Name of the gold trading organization set up by Switzerland's big banks in March 1968 after a two-tier gold market had been created.

gold standard / Goldwährung / étalon or / gold standard 
A system whereby notes issued are backed by gold. In place in the UK from 1821-1914. The system has the advantage that it gives an automatic check on inflation, and the drawback that the total of world trade must always be limited by the total output of gold in the world. Three conditions must be satisfied for a gold standard to work:
(1) there must be free mintage of gold into the standard legal coins;
(2) gold must be freely importable into or exportable from the country;
(3) the legal paper money of the country must be convertible by the central bank into gold on request. 

golden rule of banking / goldene Bankregel / règle d'or de la liquidité bancaire / regola d'oro della liquidità bancaria 
A principle which states that the maturities of the loans granted by a bank should be congruent with, or match, the maturities of the deposits used to finance such loans. According to the rule, short-term transactions should be financed with short-term money, long-term transactions with long-term funds.

good delivery / Good Delivery; Gute Lieferung / de bonne livraison / buona consegna 
Stipulation in purchase and sale contracts that the precious metals, securities or merchandise delivered must meet the general delivery conditions of the market. The most widely accepted standard for gold and silver bars from companies and official bodies is the good delivery list maintained by the London Bullion Market Association (LBMA). Bars must bear the stamp of an approved melter or assayer.

good-till-cancelled / widerrufgültig / révocable / valido a revoca 
See good-till-cancelled order.

good-till-cancelled order / widerrufgültiger Börsenauftrag; Good-till-cancelled-Auftrag / ordre à révocation / ordine good-till-cancelled 
Also: GTC order. A stock exchange order which remains valid until executed or cancelled.

goodwill / Goodwill / survaleur / avviamento 
The portion of the value of a company which is over and above its market price. It includes all intangible assets which are not reported on the balance sheet, such as the reputation and familiarity of a company and its products. Goodwill is of major importance in assessing the value of the company's stock.

government bond / Staatsanleihe; Regierungsanleihe 
Also known as government paper, government issues. Bonds issued by a government to cover its financial obligations. In Switzerland, government bonds are issued by the Confederation and the cantons. See also Treasury bills, corporate bonds.

government paper 
Synonym for government bond.


Top

Gr

grandfathered bond / Grandfathered bond 
Bond issued before 1 March 2001 that have not been supplemented since 1 March 2002 whose interest income is not subject to the EU interest tax directive during a transitional period through 2010. Under the directive, 12 of the 15 old EU member states and all 10 new member states must be notified of cross-border interest payments to EU citizens. Austria, Belgium and Luxembourg require imposition of a source tax. The directive entered into effect in 2005.

greenback / Greenback / billet vert / greenback 
Colloquial term for the US dollar.

greenmail / Greenmail / greenmail / greenmail 
Repurchase by a company of shares acquired by a raider, with a view to preventing a complete takeover. Usually involves payment of a price considerably above the market value of the shares involved.

greenshoe / Greenshoe / greenshoe / greenshoe 
An option permitting the underwriter of an initial public offering to issue more shares than originally planned if demand is substantially stronger than expected. The greenshoe enables an issuer to place additional shares on the market at the original conditions.

grey market / grauer Markt; Graumarkt / marché gris / mercato grigio 
Illegal part of the capital market which is not regulated or not supervised by the state. It is used to trade securities which have not yet been issued before their subscription period ends. The grey market is a kind of forward transaction, as the investor purchases shares via the bank at the grey market price before their first listing.

gross domestic product / Bruttoinlandprodukt / produit intérieur brut / prodotto interno lordo 
Abbr.: GDP. Measure of macroeconomic performance within the domestic economy over a given period of time. See also gross national product.

gross interest / Bruttoverzinsung / intérêt brut / interesse lordo 
Interest paid before deduction of any taxes at source (such as withholding tax, excise tax, etc). Opposite: net interest.

gross national product / Bruttosozialprodukt / produit national brut / prodotto nazionale lordo 
Abbr.: GNP. Measure of the economic performance of a national economy over a given period of time. See also gross domestic product.

gross operating profit / Bruttogewinn / bénéfice brut / utile lordo 
In commercial companies, the gross operating profit corresponds to the net sales revenue minus manufacturing costs for goods sold. For banks, the gross operating profit is the total of net interest income, net fee and commission income, net income from trading operations and other ordinary income after deduction of operating costs.

gross yield / Bruttorendite / rendement brut / rendimento lordo 
The income produced by investments (such as securities, real estate property, etc) before any deductions, charges or taxes. Opposite: net yield.

group balance sheet / Konzernbilanz / bilan du groupe / bilancio di gruppo 
Consolidated balance sheet of a group of companies, showing combined results with the exception of inter-company participations, supplies, receivables and debts, shipments and services (i.e. purchases and sales) and similar items. A group income statement is prepared together with the consolidated balance sheet. Regulated by Art. 663e ff. of the Swiss Code of Obligations.

Group of Ten / Zehnerclub / Club des Dix / Club dei Dieci 
Term applied to the group of ten countries that concluded the General Arrangements to Borrow (1962). International credits are granted in conjunction with the International Monetary Fund (IMF). Switzerland became an associated member of the Club of Ten in 1964 and a full member in 1984.

group / Konzern / groupe / gruppo 
Affiliation of legally independent companies in an economic unit under common management by means of financial participation. This structure is normally chosen to strengthen market positions.

growth fund / Wachstumsfonds; Growth-Fund / fonds de croissance / growth fund 
Investment fund with an investment policy chiefly oriented towards growth. Such funds place only marginal emphasis on generating a cash yield.

growth rate / Wachstumsrate; Zuwachsrate / taux de croissance / tasso di crescita 
The percentage increase in a given value (e.g. real GDP) over a certain period of time (usually one year).

growth stock / Wachstumsaktie; Growth-Stock / action de croissance / azione di crescita 
Shares of a corporation which have scored faster-than-average earnings gains and are expected to show high levels of profit growth. As a consequence, they justify a higher P/E ratio but also constitute riskier investments than average equities.

growth-style investing / Growth-Style-Investing / growth-style investing / growth investing 
Investment strategy that focuses on companies whose earnings are expected to rise at an above-average rate.
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Gt

GTC / AGB / CG/ CG 
(1) Abbr. for General Terms and Conditions as used by the banks.
(2) Abbr. for good-till-cancelled.


Top

Gu

guarantee / Bürgschaft; Kaution / cautionnement / fideiussione 
Also: guaranty. A contractual engagement to answer for the debt, default or failure of another person. The guarantor is obligated in respect of the obligee of a third party (principal debtor or obligor) to pay the debt if the third party fails to perform. The purpose of a guarantee is to secure a claim, mainly in order to raise credit (guaranteed credit). 

guarantee credit / Verpflichtungskredit / crédit d'engagement / credito di firma 
Bank credit where the bank does not grant funds but incurs liabilities or obligations on behalf of the customer, e.g. bill guarantee, acceptance or surety credit, contingent liability. Opposite: cash loan.

guaranteed bond / garantierte Anleihe / emprunt garanti / prestito garantito 
Bond issue for which a third party (e.g. parent company) guarantees fulfillment of the terms vis-à-vis the issuer's creditors.

guaranteed credit / Bürgschaftskredit / crédit contre cautionnement / credito contro fideiussione 
Credit which is not secured by real or personal property but by one or several guarantees. In Switzerland, special guarantee cooperatives have been founded for this purpose, e.g. mortgage guarantee cooperatives. The banks usually require joint and several guarantees before granting guaranteed credit.
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Ha

hamster warrant 
Synonym for range warrant.

hard currency / harte Währung / devise forte / moneta forte 
Freely convertible currency characterized by low inflation rates in the country of issue and particularly high currency stability. Opposite: soft currency.


Top

He

Health Care / Gesundheitswesen / Santé / Salute 
Equity sector incorporating shares of companies producing or distributing pharmacueticals, biotechnology equipment and accessories, or providing medical care. The respective MSCI Sector index acts as a benchmark for shares of companies belonging to this sector.

hedge / Hedgegeschäft / opération de couverture / operazione di copertura 
Also: hedging transaction. Countertrade or covering transaction designed to offset an existing or potential risk position by eliminating or diminishing the element of risk, in particular price, interest rate or exchange rate risks. Risk compensation is achieved by incurring a similar yet countercurrent risk to that entailed by the position to be hedged. Futures transactions are classic examples of hedging instruments. Securities portfolios can be hedged with financial derivatives. See also hedging, financial future, option.

hedge fund / Hedge-Fund / hedge fund / hedge fund 
A private collective investment vehicle which is active in the global capital markets, is oriented towards absolute returns and aims to achieve rapid capital growth. Hedge funds use a variety of hedging techniques, are lightly regulated and accept only a limited number of investors so as to ensure that their investment strategy remains flexible. Under Swiss law, hedge funds are categorized as «other funds with special risks» as they are subject to few limitations in terms of investment techniques and instruments. In addition to the management fee, it is customary for hedge funds to remunerate their management by means of a performance-related share of the fund's profits. Hedge funds are categorized not only according to the asset classes in which they invest (equities or bonds) or their geographic or thematic orientation, but also in terms of their strategies (e.g. arbitrage, macro, event-driven or opportunistic).

hedge ratio / Hedge-Ratio / ratio de couverture / hedge ratio 
Ratio of options or futures to the number of underlyings at which the portfolio is fully hedged. The hedge ratio is the reciprocal of the delta.

hedging / Absicherung / couverture / copertura 
Strategy used to protect a position or an entire portfolio against negative market fluctuations.

hedging transaction 
Synonym for hedge. 


Top

Hi

high flyer / High Flyer / valeur volatile / high flyer 
Expression used for shares showing extreme increases in their market price and mostly above-average price/earnings ratios.

high water mark / High-Water-Mark / high watermark / high water mark 
Principle whereby the manager of a hedge fund does not receive a percentage of the growth in the fund's value until any losses incurred in the previous year have been made up during the current year.

high-grade fund / High-Grade-Fund / high-grade fund / high-grade fund 
Investment fund investing solely in first-class assets.

high-priced shares / schwere Papiere / titres lourds / titoli pesanti 
Shares with a market price which far exceeds the average. They are therefore generally acquired only by large investors.

high-yield bond / High-Yield-Bond / obligation à haut risque et à haut rendement / high yield bond 
Bond which is rated BB+ or below by the leading rating agencies, or is of comparable quality. Because of their inferior credit quality, high-yield bonds offer a higher return than paper with a better credit rating, but also involve higher risks. The chief issuers of high-yield bonds are companies and emerging markets. Opposite: investment grade bond.


Top

Hk

HKFE / HKFE / HKFE / HKFE 
Abbr. for Hong Kong Futures Exchange.


Top

Ho

holding company / Holdinggesellschaft / société holding / società holding 
Company with permanent holdings in other, legally independent companies for the purpose of control or financing. See also holding privilege.

holding privilege / Holdingprivileg / privilège des sociétés mères et filiales / privilegio per le holding 
Tax relief granted to holding companies by the Swiss federal government and most cantons.

home banking 
Obsolete name for electronic banking.

hostile takeover / feindliche Übernahme / rachat hostile / scalata ostile 
Takeover, usually made in the form of a public offering, with the intention of replacing the current management of the target company. Opposite: friendly takeover.

hot issue 
Newly issued securities strongly oversubscribed in the primary market and often traded at higher-than-issue prices in the secondary market. 

hot money 
Synonym for flight capital. 

hotel financing / Hotelfinanzierung / financement hôtelier / finanziamento alberghiero 
Financing especially adapted to the needs and practices of the hotel industry. For banking institutions, hotel financing is an important facet of the commercial lending business in tourist regions. 

house bank / Hausbank / banque principale / banca di riferimento 
Bank with which a company transacts the major part of its business. 
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Ia

IAS / IAS / IAS / IAS 
Abbr. for International Accounting Standards.


Top

Ib

IBAN / IBAN / IBAN / IBAN 
Abbr. for International Bank Account Number.

IBRD 
Abbr. for International Bank for Reconstruction and Development. Synonym for the World Bank.


Top

Id

IDA 
Abbr. for International Development Association. One of two organizations (along with the IFC) later created to further the aims of the World Bank by providing loans to underdeveloped countries at less rigorous terms than the Bank would normally stipulate. 


Top

If

IFA 
Abbr. for Investment Fund Act.

IFC 
Abbr. for International Finance Corporation. An organization of the World Bank Group. It was created to further economic development in LDCs by dealing with private investors acting without government guarantors. IDA. 

ifo Business Climate Index / ifo Geschäftsklima-Index / Indice IFO / indice Ifo della fiducia delle imprese 
Also known as the ifo index. German leading indicator of economic trends published every month and derived from a survey of over 7,000 companies conducted by the ifo Institute for Economic Research. Firms polled are asked to offer their assessment of the economic situation and provide details of their short-term plans.

IFRS 
Abbr. for International Financial Reporting Standards.
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Ig

IGLU 
Abbr. for Index Growth Linked Unit.


Top

Il

illiquid; not easily marketable / unkurant / non courant / illiquido 
Also: not easily marketable. Refers to securities that are difficult to sell and value. Opposite: marketable. 

illiquidity / Illiquidität / illiquidité / illiquidità 
A lack of liquid and easily marketable assets resulting in payment liabilities and obligations not being met on time. See also insolvency.


Top

Im

IMF / IWF / FMI / FMI 
Abbreviation for International Monetary Fund.

import credit 
Synonym for documentary credit. 


Top

In

in option 
Synonym for knock-in option. 

in the money / im Geld / dans la monnaie / in the money 
Situation where the spot price of an option's underlying is well above (call) or below (put) the strike price. See also at the money, out of the money.

income 
See yield.

income statement 
Synonym for profit and loss account.

index / Index / indice / indice 
Indicator which can be used to compare the value or level of a statistic with its value or level at an earlier point in time, accounting for changes due to factors such as price changes and movements in the economy. See also share index.

index certificate 
Basket product based on a number of equities selected on the basis of an index or in accordance with particular criteria laid down by the issuing bank. See also basket certificate.

index fund / Indexfonds / fonds indiciel / fondo indicizzato 
Investment fund whose portfolio is selected to match the structure of a recognized stock market index.

index future / Index-Future / future sur indices / future su indice 
A financial future based on the development of a share or price index within a specified period. See also share index.

Index Growth Linked Unit / Index-Growth-linked-Unit / Index Growth linked Unit / Index Growth linked Unit 
Abbreviation: IGLU. Structured product consisting of a bond and a call option on the market index. IGLUs offer a synthetic diversified share portfolio which is also hedged against losses (minimum capital redemption is guaranteed). See also structured product.

index hedging / Index-Hedging / garantie indicielle / index hedging 
Strategy of hedging a share portfolio with put options on a share index, e.g. SMI. See also hedging.

index-linked bond issue / Indexanleihe / emprunt indexé / prestito indicizzata 
Bond issue which links the amount to be repaid for principal and interest to the changes in a specific index. A price index clause can protect bondholders to a large extent against the consequences of monetary erosion (inflation).

indicator / Indikator / indicateur / indicatore 
A series of data used as a proxy for the development of another statistic. See also economic indicator.

indirect listing / indirekte Kotierung / cotation indirecte / quotazione indiretta 
Also known as indirect quotation. Term used in foreign exchange for a method of indicating currency prices, whereby one unit (or 100 units) of the home currency is expressed in units of a foreign currency. Most countries use direct listing.

indirect mortgage loan / indirekter Hypothekarkredit / crédit hypothécaire indirect / credito ipotecario indiretto 
A mortgage credit in which a debt instrument secured by real estate (such as a mortgage note) is pledged as collateral. If the debtor becomes insolvent, the bank can dispose of or realize the property only after it has obtained title to it. See also mortgage loan, direct mortgage loan.

indirect quotation 
Synonym for indirect listing.

individual custody / Einzelverwahrung / dépôt individuel / custodia individuale 
Also: jacket custody. The safekeeping of securities separate from the customer's holdings of other types of securities or from the securities of other customers. Opposite: collective custody.

Industrials / Industrie / Industrie / Industria 
Equity sector incorporating shares of companies producing capital goods, offering corporate services, and transports. The respective MSCI Sector index acts as a benchmark for shares of companies belonging to this sector.

inflation / Inflation / inflazione / inflation 
Increase in the general level of prices and wages and a decrease in the purchasing power of money, resulting from growth in the money supply in relation to the supply of goods. Opposite: deflation. See also inflation rate.

inflation rate / Inflationsrate / taux d'inflation / tasso d'inflazione 
Statistically determined measure of the rise in price levels and therefore the decline in the value of money. The inflation rate shows the percentage change in price levels over a given period (month, year). See also inflation.

Information Technology / Info-Technologie / Technologies de l'information / Informatica 
Equity sector incorporating shares of companies developing, producing and/or distributing software, hardware, or semiconductors. The respective MSCI Sector index acts as a benchmark for shares of companies belonging to this sector.

inhouse fund / Inhouse-Fonds / inhouse fund / inhouse fund 
Fund created by a closely restricted group of investors for the purpose of joint capital investment and managed according to the principle of risk diversification. Unlike investment funds, inhouse funds may not be publicly advertised.

initial margin / Initial Margin / marge initiale / margine iniziale 
In forward contracts, amount of cash or eligible securities required to be deposited by the buyer or seller at the clearing office via a broker or bank before engaging in margin transactions. See also variation margin.

initial public offering / Initial Public Offering / Initial Public Offering / Initial Public Offering 
Also known as IPO or going public. First sale to the general public, by issuing and listing shares, of stock in a company whose equity had previously been held by a restricted group of persons. Opposite: going private.

insider / Insider / initié / insider 
Person party to confidential information on the strength of his or her professional position. Normally used in connection with information which when made public is likely to have a significant influence on the price of securities. See also insider transactions.

insider dealing 
Synonym for insider transaction.

insider transaction / Insidertransaktion / opération d'initié / operazione insider 
Transaction designed to secure a pecuniary advantage by improperly exploiting an information lead. According to Penal Code Article 161, insider transactions are punishable offences under Swiss law. Any insider obtaining a pecuniary advantage for himself or a third party by exploiting confidential information relevant to the price of a stock shall be liable to punishment. It is also a punishable offence for persons (even if they are non-insiders) to receive and make use of insider information. 

insolvency / Zahlungsunfähigkeit / incapacité de paiement / insolvibilità 
The inability of borrowers to meet their payment obligations. Opposite: solvency.

instalment loan 
A loan paid back in several (monthly) instalments over a specified period of time. Also: hire purchase loan (UK).

institutional investor / institutioneller Anleger / investisseur institutionnel / investitore istituzionale 
Organization with substantial (mostly continuous) investment needs which trade large volumes of securities, e.g. insurance companies, pension funds, investment funds, etc.

instrike / Instrike / instrike / instrike 
Limit value set in advance and stipulated within an in-option, in addition to the strike price. See also outstrike.

intangible assets 
Synonym for intangibles.

intangibles / Intangibles / valeurs immatérielles / beni immateriali 
Also: intangible assets. Identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes. Examples include rights, patents, licences, brands, goodwill and client relationships.

interbank business / Interbankengeschäft / opération interbancaire / operazioni interbancarie 
Loans and deposits processed directly between banks. Shown on the balance sheet as sums due from or to banks.

interbank funds 
Borrowed funds raised within the banking system in contrast to funds placed with the bank by the public.

interbank rate / Interbankrate / taux interbancaire / tasso interbancario 
Interest rate applied to credit operations between banking institutions. On the Euromoney market the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) is calculated daily and serves as a guide for the interest rates used for many international loans in euros. Another example of an interbank rate is the federal funds rate (funds that banks lend one another for short periods). 

interchangeable items 
Synonym for fungible items.

interest / Zins / intérêt / interesse 
Remuneration paid on capital that has been borrowed. Normally refers to monetary capital, but can also be used in the case of physical capital (rent). See also interest rate, interest days.

interest coupon / Zinscoupon / coupon / cedola degli interessi 
Coupon attached to bonds and medium-term notes and presented to collect interest on the due dates.

interest days / Zinstage / jours (nombre) portant intérêts / giorni per il calcolo degli interessi 
The number of days per month and year taken for interest calculations. German practice (also followed in Switzerland): 1 month = 30 days, 1 year = 360 days. UK practice (followed on the Euromarket): the exact number of days in a calendar month is taken; 1 year = 365 days.

interest divisor / Zinsdivisor / diviseur fixe / divisore fisso 
A constant used to simplify the calculation of interest, corresponding to the number of the days in the year divided by the rate of interest

interest margin / Zinsmarge / marge d'intérêts / margine d'interesse 
(1) The difference between the interest earned by a bank and the interest paid by it.
(2) The difference between the interest rates in a particular sector of the banking business, e.g. between the interest rate for first mortgages and the interest rate on the deposits and borrowings used to refinance the mortgages.

interest operations / Zinsdifferenzgeschäft / opération d'intérêts / (1) operazioni sul differenziale degli interessi (2) operazioni su interessi 
(1) All bank transactions based on an interest margin. The margin derives from the fact that the bank pays a lower rate of interest on the funds received from clients than it earns on the loans it grants. The bank uses the income from this margin to cover its expenses and make a profit.
(2) Bank transactions connected with the payment or receipt of interest (claims, liabilities). Bills of exchange and the money market securities business are generally also included under interest operations.

interest paid / Passivzinsen / intérêts débiteurs / interessi passivi 
Balance sheet item showing the interest paid by the bank on funds it has received on deposit. Usually called credit interest in current account transactions. Opposite: interest received.

interest rate / Zinssatz / taux d'intérêt / tasso d'interesse 
The rate of interest for a year expressed as a percentage of the capital. See also accrued interest, variable interest rate.

interest rate arbitrage / Zinsarbitrage 
Exploiting arbitrage opportunities offered by differences in interest rates.

interest rate risk / Zinsrisiko / risque d'intérêt / rischio di tasso 
Risk stemming from the influence of interest-rate changes on existing investments and loans and on the costs of future borrowings or liquidity to be invested in the future.

interest rate spread / Zins-Spread / écart de taux / differenziale d'interesse 
Synonym for spread (3).

interest-rate swap / Zins-Swap / échange de taux d'intérêt / swap su interessi 
Swap transaction whereby the two parties undertake to swap variable interest payments for fixed interest payments in respect of a certain nominal value at regular intervals over a specified period.

interest received / Aktivzinsen / intérêts actifs / interessi attivi 
Interest paid to a bank for the money it has lent out. Opposite: interest paid.

interest spread / Zinsspanne / différence d'intérêts 
Synonym for interest margin. 

interim account 
Synonym for suspense account.

interim certificate / Interimszeugnis / avis d'instrumentation / certificato interinale 
Document issued by the registrar of the land register evidencing that a real estate lien (normally a mortgage certificate) has been founded but not yet officially registered. Prior to delivery of the real estate lien the rights associated with the latter can be claimed using the interim certificate.

interim dividend / Interimsdividende / dividende intérimaire / dividendo interinale 
Initial distribution of part of the annual dividend on a company's shares. Dividends may be paid quarterly or half-yearly, on the basis of the company's ongoing accounts. Interim dividends are generally low and are kept as even as possible. The balance is paid out in the form of the final dividend. Interim dividends are common in countries such as the US; in Switzerland, only annual dividends are permitted. See also dividend, final dividend.

interim statement / Zwischenbilanz / bilan interimaire / bilancio intermedio 
Balance sheet of a company covering a period ending between the regular annual closing dates. According to Article 23b of the Ordinance to Swiss Banking Law, the banks falling under the law with total assets exceeding CHF 100 million must draw up and publish interim financial statements (balance sheet plus income statement). Article 7 of the Banking Law further states that under certain circumstances the banks must submit monthly interim balance sheets to the Swiss National Bank. See also balance sheet.

International Accounting Standards / International Accounting Standards / normes comptables internationales / International Accounting Standards 
Abbreviation: IAS. Standards drawn up by the International Accounting Standards Board with a view to ensuring the quality, transparency and comparability of balance sheets and annual accounts. The International Accounting Standards are now known as the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), but the individual IAS standards have not been renamed.

International Accounting Standards Board / International Accounting Standards Board / International Accounting Standards Board / International Accounting Standards Board 
Abbreviation: IASB. Independent, privately funded international organization based in London which is responsible for drawing up the International Accounting Standards. Website: www.iasb.org.

International Bank Account Number / International Bank Account Number / International Bank Account Number / International Bank Account Number 
Abbreviation: IBAN. Standard developed by the ISO and the ECBS for identifying banks and account numbers. Its main purpose is to simplify cross-border financial transactions and thereby rationalize payments between various countries.

International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / Internationale Bank für Wiederaufbau und Entwicklung / Banque Internationale pour la Reconstruction et le Développement / Banca Internazionale per la Ricostruzione e lo Sviluppo 
Synonym for the World Bank.

International Chamber of Commerce / Internationale Handelskammer / Chambre de commerce internationale / Camera di commercio internazionale 
Abbreviation: ICC. Private, politically independent organization formed to improve trade and business relations between nations. Based in Paris, it brings together national chambers of commerce and large professional associations. See also ERA.

international financial market 
See Euromarket.

International Financial Reporting Standards / International Financial Reporting Standards / International Financial Reporting Standards / International Financial Reporting Standards 
Abbreviation: IFRS. Accounting standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The International Accounting Standards are now referred to as the IFRS, but the individual IAS standards have not been renamed. 

International Monetary Fund / Internationaler Währungsfonds / Fonds monétaire international / Fondo monetario internazionale 
Abbreviation: IMF. The most important international organization for monetary policy cooperation. The IMF, like the World Bank, was established in 1944 in Bretton Woods and is headquartered in Washington, D.C. Its aims are to monitor and stabilize the international financial system to prevent crises such as the crash of 1929. Switzerland joined in May 1992. Website: www.imf.org.

International Payment Instruction / International Payment Instruction / International Payment Instruction / International Payment Instruction 
Abbreviation: IPI. Standardized payment slip for international payments.

International Securities Market Association / International Securities Market Association / International Securities Market Association / International Securities Market Association 
Abbreviation: ISMA. Umbrella association of institutions and traders active on the Eurobond market which develops rules and regulations governing Euromarket transactions. Website: www.isma.org.

Internet banking 
See electronic banking.

intervention point / Interventionspunkt / cours d'intervention / punto d'intervento
Limit of the range within which exchange rates are allowed to deviate from parity in a system of fixed exchange rates. If there is a risk that the exchange rate will move beyond the permitted range, the regulating body is obliged to intervene in the market. There are no intervention points in a system of flexible exchange rates. See also fixed exchange rate, floating exchange rate.

intrinsic value / Substanzwert / valeur intrinsèque / valore intrinseco 
(1) Value, for example of a company, obtained using objective valuation methods. See also net asset value.
(2) Options: positive difference between the current price of the underlying and the lower strike price of a call or higher strike price of a put.

inverse interest rate structure / inverse Zinsstruktur / structure inversée des taux d'intérêt / struttura inversa dei tassi 
Also: inverse yield curve. Situation in which interest rates and yields for longer durations are lower than for shorter duration Normally, the interest rate or yield increases as the investment period increases.

inverse yield curve 
Synonym for inverse interest rate structure.

investment / (1) Anlage, Kapitalanlage (2) Investition / (1) placement (2) investissement / investimento 
(1) Banking: the act or process of placing money in a property, security or other item of value or in a venture, generally on a longer-term basis.
(2) Business management: medium and long-term investment of capital in means of production to replace worn-out equipment or expand production capacity.

investment advisory services / Vermögensberatung / conseils patrimoniaux / consulenza patrimoniale 
Counselling facilities of a bank or other specialized units in the area of asset management. Advisory services are geared to clients' requirements: capital growth or income-oriented. Unlike with a managed account, the client ultimately makes his own investment decisions. Investment advisory services may also include succession planning, drafting agreements and establishing foundations.

investment banking / Investment-Banking / Investment Banking / investment banking 
Area of banking which is primarily concerned with the securities business and corporate finance.

investment foundation / Anlagestiftung / fondation de placement / fondazione d'investimento 
Tax-exempt foundation for the collective investment and management of the capital accumulated by Swiss company pension funds. As with investment funds, company pension funds may buy or sell so-called claims on their sub-funds. These sub-funds vary depending on their asset class and currency (some are mixed).

investment fund / Anlagefonds / fonds de placement / fondo d'investimento 
Also: unit trust (UK), mutual fund (USA). Entity in which investors pool their capital for joint investment. The assets are managed by the fund management company for the account of the investors based as a rule on the principle of risk distribution. Depending on the type of investment fund, the assets may be invested in securities, money market instruments or in real estate; investments can also be made in special fund products and asset allocation funds. Swiss investment funds must have a variable capital and are obliged to redeem units whenever requested. See also securities fund, money market fund, real estate fund, country-specific fund, regional fund, sector fund.

Investment Fund Act / Anlagefondsgesetz / loi fédérale sur les fonds de placement / Legge sui fondi d'investimento 
Swiss law which, together with the related ordinances issued by the Federal Council and the Swiss regulatory authority, governs the relationships between investors, fund management and custodian bank. 

investment fund under Luxembourg law / Luxemburger Fonds / fonds de placement luxembourgeois / fondo lussemburghese 
An investment fund established by a Swiss or other management company, based in Luxembourg but usually for the domestic market. Unlike Swiss products, these funds enjoy certain fiscal advantages, e.g. income is exempt from withholding tax.

investment grade / Investment-Grade / investment grade / investment grade 
Term used to denote securities with ratings of between BBB and AAA, indicating that their credit quality is satisfactory or good. See also non-investment grade.

investment grade bond / Investment-Grade-Bond / obligation investment grade / investment grade bond 
Bond of satisfactory to very good quality, for example a government bond or bond issued by a company with a high credit rating (BBB or above). Opposite: high-yield bond.

investment horizon / Anlagehorizont / horizon de placement / orizzonte temporale 
Period of time for which an investor wishes to invest part of his assets.

investment list / Anlageliste / liste de placement / lista degli investimenti 
List prepared periodically by a bank which contains a selection of the securities recommended for investment.

investment order / Anlageauftrag / mandat de placement /ordine di investimento 
Order given by the client to his bank to invest the funds in his account, in particular income from securities, capital repayments and incoming payments.

investment paper / Anlagepapier / titre de placement / titolo d'investimento 
Securities which are particularly suitable for longer-term investments.

investment plan / Anlageplan / plan d'investissement / piano d'investimento 
Plan for the optimum investment of specific funds.

investment policy / Anlagepolitik / politique de placement / politica d'investimento 
All operations to be performed in connection with the investment of funds in order to optimally attain a specific investment objective. Depending on the financial circumstances of the investor, special importance is attached to security, yield, the price and growth potential of the holdings or their liquidity. Of equal significance is the timing of the acquisition and sale of the investments.

investment research / Investment-Research / Investment Research / investment research 
Synonym for financial analysis.

investment risk guarantee / Investitionsrisikogarantie / garantie contre les risques de l'investissement / garanzia contro i rischi degli investimenti 
Abbreviation: IRG. Swiss federal government institution set up to facilitate investment in developing countries. Investors can use the guarantee to cover certain risks which neither they nor their partners in the recipient country can influence and which they cannot cover in any other way. Under certain conditions, the investment risk guarantee covers inability or refusal to pay on the part of governments and public authorities, as well as the risks of political events or government measures in the recipient country. In Switzerland, the IRG is governed by the Federal Law on the IRG dated 20 March 1970.

investment strategy / Anlagestrategie / stratégie de placement / strategia d'investimento 
Entirety of the guidelines that determine the portfolio structure in terms of investment vehicle, currency, sector and maturity structure required to achieve the defined investment objective .

investor / Anleger / investisseur / investitore 
Person or institution purchasing securities or tangible assets for the purpose of earning a return or receiving the monetary value. See also institutional investor. 

investors' account / Anlagekonto / compte de placement / conto d'investimento 
Special savings product for the medium-term investment of savings at a relatively high interest rate and normally with limited withdrawal conditions. Cash machine and cheque withdrawals are generally not possible. 

investors' savings account / Anlagesparkonto / compte épargne de placement / conto di risparmio-investimenti 
Account with special interest rate for medium-term savings deposits of private investment clients in combination with a securities portfolio and related transaction account.
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Ip

IPI / IPI / IPI / IPI 
Abbreviation of International Payment Instruction. 

IPO / IPO / IPO / IPO 
Abbreviation of initial public offering. 
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Ir

IRG / IRG / GRI / GRI 
Abbreviation of investment risk guarantee.

irrevocable letter of credit / unwiderrufliches Akkreditiv / accréditif irrévocable / credito documentario irrevocabile 
Letter of credit that cannot be changed or cancelled without the agreement of all parties, this being the norm in international trading. An irrevocable letter of credit gives the seller the security that the opening bank will make the payment if the documents stipulated under the documentary credit terms are presented as agreed. If payment is made via a correspondent bank, the opening bank can ask the latter at the demand of the principal to confirm the irrevocable letter of credit rather than merely issuing notification. The correspondent bank is then obliged to make the payment itself at the domicile of the beneficiary on due presentation of the documents (confirmed letter of credit). See also documentary credit.
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Is

ISIN / ISIN / ISIN / ISIN 
Abbreviation of International Securities Identification Number. A twelve-digit number consisting of three elements used to identify securities. The first two places are reserved for a combination of letters indicating the country of origin (e.g. DE for Germany, LU for Luxembourg). These are followed by a national identification number consisting of up to ten digits.

ISM index / ISM-Index / indice ISM / indice ISM 
See Purchasing Managers Index.

ISMA 
Abbreviation for International Securities Market Association. 

ISO code / ISO-Währungscode / code ISO / codice ISO 
Internationally recognized 3-letter currency code created by the International Standardization Organization (ISO). Designed to overcome the problem of ambiguous currency references and facilitate computer processing. Code structure: the first two letters identify the country (e.g. CH for Switzerland), and the third the unit of currency (e.g. F for franc), giving CHF for the Swiss franc.

issue / Emission / émission / emissione 
Issue of securities with identical features and the placement of these securities within a short space of time at the same conditions for the purpose of procuring long-term debt capital or shareholders' equity on the capital market.

issue at par / Pari-Emission / émission au pair / emissione alla pari 
Securities issued at the nominal or face value, i.e. without agio or disagio (premium or discount). In the case of an above par issue the price is higher than the nominal value and in the case of a below par issue it is lower.

issue price / Ausgabepreis / prix d'émission / prezzo d'emissione 
Price at which an investment fund sells newly issued units to the public.

issue prospectus / Emissionsprospekt / prospectus d'émission / prospetto di emissione 
Document required by law and issued by a company or public authority planning to issue securities on the Swiss securities market. It provides detailed information about the modalities of the issue, the company's earnings outlook and the securities to be issued (bonds, shares etc.) as well as information about the issuer/guarantors. See also prospectus liability.

issuer / Emittent / émetteur / emittente 
Also: borrower. Private sector corporation or public authority raising capital for its own use by issuing securities on the public market.

issuer of a covered warrant / Stillhalter / émetteur / venditore di un'opzione 
Also: writer of a covered warrant, writer. Seller of an option, who is obliged to buy or sell the underlying security at the pre-determined strike price. Whether the option is exercised depends on the buyer and the price of the underlying.
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January effect / Januareffekt / effet janvier / effetto gennaio 
Capital market anomaly which often results in shares, especially those of small companies, outperforming in January compared with the rest of the year. One of the strongest seasonal trends, it is sometimes attributed to the realization of tax losses which can be offset against profits accruing during the year.
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Jo

jobber 
A dealer engaged in the wholesaling of securities. Unlike a stockbroker, the jobber deals only with brokers and other jobbers, but not with the general public. More generally known as dealer or specialist on the American stock exchanges and as stockjobber in the UK, where they are usually organized into firms.

joint account / Gemeinschaftskonto / compte joint / conto congiunto 
Account opened jointly in the names of two or more persons whereby it is agreed that each can dispose of the assets in the account individually and without having to obtain the consent of the other(s). See also collective account.

joint and several guarantee / solidarische Bürgschaft / cautionnement solidaire / fideiussione solidale 
Guarantee, under the terms of which the guarantor can be ordered to pay prior to the principal debtor and prior to the realization of the real estate mortgages if the principal debtor is in arrears with his or her payment despite reminders or is clearly insolvent (Article 496 of the Swiss Code of Obligations). See also simple guarantee, guaranteed credit.

joint liability / Solidarschuld / dette solidaire / debito solidale 
Contractual obligation of several debtors under which each is individually answerable to the creditor for the discharge of the entire debt (governed by Article 144, para. 1, Swiss Code of Obligations).

joint property / Gesamteigentum / propriété commune / proprietà comune 
Undivided ownership of a property by a community of persons. They can only dispose of the property by unanimous decision because each has a right to the undivided property and not to quotas or shares.

joint safekeeping account / Dépôt joint / dépôt joint / deposito congiunto 
An account held jointly at a bank by two or more people each of whom has sole power of disposal over the assets in the joint safekeeping account without the signature of the other.

joint stock company (GB); corporation (USA) / Aktiengesellschaft / société anonyme / società anonima 
A group or association of people recognized in law as an individual entity with a fixed capital stock (share capital) divided into parts (shares).

joint transaction / Metageschäft / transaction jointe / transazione congiunta 
Agreements are reached whereby all transactions are carried out in conjunction with a partner, with all profits or losses split equally between the parties.

joint venture / Jointventure / joint venture / joint venture 
Strategy for opening up a foreign market, whereby a company joins forces with partners in another country to set up a business there. Under this arrangement, ownership, management and control of the business are shared.
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junior mortgage / Nachgangshypothek / hypothèque de rang postérieur / ipoteca di grado posteriore 
A mortgage which has a lending limit less than that for first mortgages and therefore carries a higher interest rate. If it is stipulated in the Land Register that a junior mortgage may be ascribed a higher priority, it moves up in ranking if a lien with a higher ranking claim is cancelled.

junk bond / Junk-Bond / junk bond / junk bond 
Colloquial term for high-yield bond.
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Ke

key interest rate / Leitzins / taux directeur / tasso guida 
Also: key rate, base rate (GB), prime rate (USA). The interest rate set by a central bank for central bank funds. 

key rate 
Synonym for key interest rate.
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Ki

kinebar / Kinebar / kinebar / kinebar 
Gold bar bearing a forgery-proof «kinegramm».

Kiwi bond / Kiwi-Bond / obligation Kiwi / kiwi-bond 
NZD-denominated bond issues placed by foreign borrowers.
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knock-in option / Knock-in-Option / option knock-in / opzione knock in 
Barrier option which only has a value on expiry when the underlying reaches a specified price level (barrier) during the term of the product. See also knock-out option.

knock-out option / Knock-out-Option / option knock-out / opzione knock out 
Barrier option which expires worthless when the underlying touches or exceeds a specified price level (barrier) during the term of the product. See also knock-in option.
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Ko

Koala / Koala / Koala / Koala 
Australian platinum coin containing one ounce of platinum with a face value of AUD 100. Koala coins containing 1/2, 1/4 and 1/10 of an ounce of platinum are also minted.
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Krugerrand / Krügerrand / Krugerrand / Krugerrand 
South African gold coin, containing exactly one ounce or 31.1035 grams of pure gold. Small Krugerrand coins have fine weights of 1/2, 1/4 and 1/10 of an ounce.
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Land Register / Grundbuch / registre foncier / registro fondiario 
Public register in which all rights to real estate properties are entered. Under Swiss law, the Land Register consists of the main ledger (one page for each property), supporting documents and a chronological register for entries, building lot plans and property descriptions. The Land Register is kept by the Land Register Office under the supervision of the cantons.

Land Register extract / Grundbuchauszug / extrait du registre foncier / estratto del registro fondiario 
Description of all entries (rights, charges, notations, provisional reservations, encumbrances, etc) in the Land Register referring to a particular property.

large cap / Standardwert / valeur de fond de portefeuille / titolo a largo mercato 
Also known as blue chip. Share of widely known companies with large stock market capitalizations and which are heavily traded on the stock markets.

large-denomination share / schweres Papier / titre lourd / titolo pesante 
Share with a high par value or a price well above the average.
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LBO 
Abbr. for leveraged buyout.
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Le

lead bank 
Synonym for lead manager.

lead manager / Lead-Manager / chef de file / lead manager 
Also: lead bank. Bank acting as the leader of an issuing or lending syndicate, managing the transaction. It is normally responsible for contact with the borrower, for the structure, organization and text of the loan agreement and prospectus, plus the composition of the issuing syndicate and the selling group and, ultimately, for the placement itself.

leading indicator / Frühindikator / indicateur avancé / indicatore anticipatore 
Economic indicator which changes before the overall economy itself changes, and is therefore seen as an indicator of future developments.

leasing / Leasing / crédit-bail / leasing 
The renting out, for a specific period, of industrial equipment, facilities and capital goods (machines, technical installations, vehicles, etc). The manufacturer or - in the case of leasing in the narrower sense of the word (financial leasing) - special leasing companies act as principals. Leasing helps to preserve liquidity. 100% borrowing on a pay-as-you-earn basis. Fixed monthly costs cover interest, amortization, the upfront fee and (e.g. with car leasing) the insurance premium.

legal reserves / gesetzliche Reserven / réserves légales / riserve legali 
The reserves which a company is required to form to comply with legal requirements (e.g. company law). Art. 5 of Switzerland's Banking Law stipulates that 5% of the annual profit is to be allocated to a reserve fund (until 20% of the paid-in capital has been reached) plus a tenth of the amount distributed from the annual profit after the regular allocation to the reserve fund and after payment of 5% to shareholders and others entitled to a share in profits. Any premiums generated during share issues must be allocated to the legal reserves, unless they are used for depreciation or employed for charitable purposes. See also voluntary reserves, reserves.

legalization / Legalisation / légalisation / legalizzazione 
Also: authentication. To give legal validity to documents or signatures by having them verified by authorized officials. See also apostille.

lending business / Aktivgeschäft / opérations actives / operazioni attive 
Generally covers the banking business on the assets side of the balance sheet. In a narrower sense, the loans, advances, mortgages and other types of credit granted to customers or banks. Opposite: deposit business.

lending limit / Belehnungsgrenze / limite d'avance / limite di anticipo 
The maximum value of a particular object which may serve as collateral for a loan or mortgage (sometimes expressed as a percentage).

letter of credit 
Synonym for documentary credit.

letter of credit issuance / Akkreditiv-Eröffnung / ouverture d'un crédit documentaire / apertura di un credito documentario 
Letter by the bank of the applicant notifying the beneficiary that a letter of credit has been opened. See also documentary credit.

leverage / Hebelwirkung / effet de levier / effetto leva 
Means of enhancing profitability using borrowed money by exploiting the fact that the rate of interest on equity capital is higher than the interest payable on borrowed funds. A leverage effect can also be achieved with derivatives, enabling market operators to invest in sizeable holdings of an underlying for a relatively modest capital outlay. The upshot of leveraging is that any percentage change in the gains and losses on options and futures contracts will be larger than the corresponding change in the underlying.

leveraged buyout / Leveraged Buyout / leveraged buyout / leveraged buyout 
Abbr.: LBO. Takeover of a company by internal or external investors using the acquired firm's assets as security for the bulk of the loans taken out for this purpose.
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liabilities / (1) Verbindlichkeiten (2) Fremdkapital, Passiven / (1) engagements (2) fonds de tiers / (1) impegni (2) fondi di terzi 
(1) A company's debts appearing on the liabilities side of its balance sheet. The liquidity requirements of Swiss banking legislation draw a distinction between short-term liabilities, which include those repayable on demand or often within one month, and total liabilities, consisting of all liabilities vis-à-vis third parties (including any provisions required). Frequently used as a synonym for obligations.
(2) The obligations of a business to its creditors, suppliers, customers, etc, as distinguished from those to its proprietors, partners or shareholders. Liabilities can be short-tem, medium-term or long-term. Opposite: assets.

liability / Obligo / engagement / impegno 
Widely used term for an obligation under a bill or other instrument, but can also refer to many other forms of liability, undertaking or guarantee. See also liability under bills of exchange, without our liability.

liability under bills of exchange / Wechselobligo / engagement de change / obbligazione cambiaria 
Liability assumed on signing a bill of exchange.

LIBID 
Abbr. for London Interbank Bid Rate.

LIBOR 
Abbr. for London Interbank Offered Rate.

licence fee (GB); license fee (US) / Lizenzgebühr / redevance de licence / diritto di licenza 
Payment made by licensees to the holder of a patent on a licensed invention or process. See also royalty.

lien in rem 
Synonym for right of lien.

life assurance policy (GB); life insurance policy (US) Lebensversicherungspolice / police d'assurance vie / polizza di assicurazione sulla vita 
Document confirming that a contract for life insurance coverage has been concluded. Serves only as evidence and is not a negotiable instrument.

LIFFE 

Abbr. for London International Financial Futures Exchange.

LIMEAN 
Abbr. for London Interbank Mean Rate. Arithmetical mean of bid and asked rates (LIBID and LIBOR) on the London market for interbank rates.

limit / Limite / limite / limite 
(1) Highest price given for the purchase or sale of securities (price limit).
(2) Upper limit for the utilization of a credit (credit line).

limit option 
Synonym for barrier option.

limited / limitiert / limité / limitato 
A stipulation when placing an order to buy below or sell above a certain limit fixed by the customer. Opposite: at best.

liquid funds / greifbare Mittel / disponibilités / fondi disponibili 
Assets which can be used immediately to make payments (cash liquidity). According to Article 15 of the Implementing Ordinance for the Swiss Banking Law, liquid assets consist of cash and equivalent, giro (clearing) balances and postal checking account balances.

liquid yield option note / Liquid Yield Option Note / Liquid Yield Option Note / Liquid Yield Option Note 
Zero bond convertible into equities on maturity.

liquidate a position / glattstellen / dénouer / pareggiare 
Also: close a position, square a position. The action of offsetting an open stock exchange or foreign exchange position with the related hedge position (for example, covering securities sold forward for a certain date by a forward purchase as of the same date). 

liquidation / Liquidation / liquidation / liquidazione 
(1) Dissolution of assets or of a company by realizing the assets and settling the debts.
(2) Settlement of forward or future transactions on the exchanges, with specific dates stipulated ahead of time for the individual operations (option declaration, payment, delivery of securities, etc). The liquidation calendar is determined by the stock exchange board.
(3) Closing (squaring) a forward transaction in foreign exchange or precious metals by a corresponding contra transaction with the same due date.

liquidity / Liquidität / liquidité / liquidità 
The ability of an enterprise to meet its payment obligations on time. In a wider sense it means the availability of cash and cash-like funds within a company, on the money and capital markets and within the national or world economy.

liquidity statement / Liquiditätsausweis / état de liquidité / stato di liquidità 
Statement showing the relationship between the disposable means and the easily marketable assets on the one hand and the short-term liabilities on the other. Regulated in Switzerland by Article 4 of the Banking Law and Articles 15-20 of the Implementing Ordinance.

list of drawings / Verlosungsliste / liste des tirages / lista delle estrazioni 
Published list showing the numbers of the securities drawn for premature redemption (such as the bonds of a particular issue).

listing / Kotierung / cotation / ammissione alla quotazione 
Also: admission. Admission of a security (shares, bonds, etc) for official trading on a stock exchange or exchanges. 
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LME 
Abbr. for London Metal Exchange.
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loan / Darlehen / prêt / prestito 
A specified sum of money lent by a creditor or lender (e.g. a bank) to a person or entity and repayable at a predetermined due date or after notice of repayment is given. See also fixed advance.

loan against pledge / Faustpfandkredit / crédit contre nantissement / credito su pegno 
Loan secured by the pledging of collateral.

loan against pledged bill / Wechselpension / mise en pension d'effets / pensione di effetti 
A loan by the bank in exchange for a bill of exchange as pledge, blank endorsed by the customer.

loan for an unlimited period / unbefristeter Kredit / crédit de durée illimitée / credito a tempo indeterminato 
Credit that is not granted for a specific period of time and where repayment can generally be demanded at any time (e.g. overdraft facility).

loan from central mortgage bond institution / Pfandbriefdarlehen / emprunt auprès d'une centrale d'émission de lettres de gage / mutuo presso una centrale di emissione di obbligazioni fondiarie 
In Switzerland: long-term loan granted by a central mortgage bond institution to one of its member banks as funding for loans secured by mortgages.

loans to directors, senior executives and auditors / Organkredit / crédit aux organes / crediti a organi 
Loans and advances to members of the Board of Directors, the Executive Board or the internal auditors, as well as to any companies controlled by these persons.

loan to value ratio / Belehnungssatz / taux d'avance / tasso di anticipo 
Ratio of the fair market value of a collateral to the value of the loan that will finance the purchase. The more stable the value of an asset, the higher the loan to value ratio. The more unstable the asset, the lower the loan to value ratio. 

local bill / Platzwechsel / effet sur place / cambiale sulla piazza 
Bill of exchange accepted by a bank for collection or discounting and which is payable at the place where the accepting bank is located.

lock-up period / Lock-up-Periode / période de lock-up / lock-up period 
Period in which the lead underwriter restricts insiders from selling their shares for a period of time, usually 180 days, from the effective date of the offering.

lombard loan (GB); collateral loan (USA) / Lombardkredit / crédit lombard / credito lombard 
Loan granted against the pledging of securities as collateral (broker's loan) or against the pledging of goods (advance against goods as security). The costs of a lombard loan are calculated on the basis of the official or private lombard rate (rate for advances against collateral).

London Interbank Bid Rate / London Interbank Bid Rate / London Interbank Bid Rate / London Interbank Bid Rate 
Abbr.: LIBID. Interest rate at which banks in London are prepared to accept each other's short-term deposits.

London Interbank Offered Rate / London Interbank Offered Rate / London Interbank Offered Rate / London Interbank Offered Rate 
Abbr.: LIBOR. Interest rate at which banks in London offer to lend out short-term deposits to one another.

London International Financial Futures Exchange / London International Financial Futures Exchange / London International Financial Futures Exchange / London International Financial Futures Exchange 
Abbr.: LIFFE. See Euronext.

London Metal Exchange / London Metal Exchange / London Metal Exchange / London Metal Exchange 
Abbr.: LME. Exchange for non-precious metals such as aluminium, copper, nickel, tin and zinc, as well as for options and futures on these underlyings. Website: www.lme.co.uk.

long position / Long-Position / position longue / posizione long 
A positive exposure to a quantity. Owning a security or commodity. Investor's position where the number of contracts bought exceeds the number sold. Opposite: short position.

losses on receivables / Debitorenverluste / pertes sur débiteurs / perdite su crediti 
Losses on claims, receivables or loans, e.g. through bankruptcy, fruitless attachment or distraint or composition agreement if the dividend obtained is insufficient.
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LTV 
Abbr. for loan to value.

Ly

LYON 
Abbr. for liquid yield option note.
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M&A 
Abbr. for mergers & acquisitions.

Ma

macro / Macro / macro / macro 
A hedge fund strategy that invests in currencies, exchange rates, commodities, gold, bonds and fixed-income securities and is based on fundamental analysis of the global macroeconomy. Macro hedge funds are the oldest and best known. Their trading volumes are very high, and they apply a diverse range of instruments. These funds are regarded as highly speculative, as leverage is particularly high and managers also make use of derivatives, and especially financial futures. The aim is to maximize returns on the hedge fund through leverage.

Maestro card 
A form of payment accepted in Switzerland and worldwide when shopping, filling up at gas stations or withdrawing cash from ATMs. Outside Switzerland, it can be used to withdraw cash in the local currency wherever the Cirrus sign is displayed. The CASH chip function also permits cashless payment for small amounts, e.g. when parking, on buses and trams and at numerous outlets throughout Switzerland. See also CASH. 

maintenance margin / Maintenance-Margin / marge de maintenance / margine di mantenimento 
Also: variation margin. Minimum level to which a margin account for a futures contract is allowed to shrink during the term to maturity.

managed account / Vermögensverwaltungsdepot / dépôt titres avec mandat d'administration / deposito in amministrazione 
Also: managed portfolio. A (generally sizeable) securities safekeeping account managed by the bank on the basis of a mandate awarded by the client. The bank is authorized to perform all operations regarded as expedient within the generally accepted definition of asset management, e.g. the adjustment of securities weightings in line with market conditions and the reinvestment of freed-up resources.

managed portfolio 
Synonym for managed account.

management buyout / Management-Buyout / management buyout / management buyout 
Purchase of a company's entire share capital (or a controlling percentage) by managers already active in the firm. Frequently combined with changes in the management structure and legal form of the company.

management's share of profits / Tantième / tantième / tantième 
Share of net earnings paid to a company's management, or members of the Board of Directors.

mandatory exchange trading rule / Börsenpflicht / obligation de traiter en Bourse / obbligo di esecuzione in borsa degli ordini 
Requirement that during trading hours exchange members (e.g. on the Swiss Exchange) settle all orders up to a pre-agreed size (limit) via the exchange.

Maple Leaf / Maple Leaf / Feuille d'érable / Maple Leaf 
Canadian gold coin with a nominal value of CAD 50 and containing one ounce of pure gold. Coins containing 1/2, 1/4 and 1/10 of an ounce are also minted.

margin / Marge / marge / margine 
(1) Difference between the lending and deposit rates of a bank, between purchase and sale prices or between bid and ask rates. See also interest margin or spread.
(2) Security deposited in stock market, option, foreign currency or precious metals trading for a forward or futures transaction or in connection with the sale of an option to cover the price risk. See also initial margin, variation margin. 
(3) Loan-to-value ratio for collateral loans. See also collateral security margin.

margin account / Margenkonto / compte sur marge / conto a margine 
An account which must be opened when concluding futures contracts so that the margin required for these transactions can be paid into it. See also initial margin, maintenance margin and variation margin.

margin call / Margin-Call / appel de marge / margin call 
Demand for additional funds to increase the value of the cover for loans collateralized by securities or for financial futures whose prices have fallen below a predetermined level. See also margin account, maintenance margin.

market capitalization / Börsenkapitalisierung / capitalisation boursière / capitalizzazione di borsa 
Also: stock market capitalization, capitalization. Value of a corporation as determined by the price of its equity. Calculated by multiplying the market value of the security (share, participation certificate) on a given day by the total number of securities in issue. See also market value.

market decline 
Synonym for bear market.

market discount rate / Privatdiskontsatz / taux d'escompte privé / tasso privato di sconto 
Also: prime rate (USA). Rate at which banks discount bank acceptances and first-rate commercial paper. Also called private discount rate.

market inefficiency / Marktineffizienz / inefficience du marché / inefficienza di mercato 
Inequalities of information, liquidity, expertise, etc. in the market. These can result in price, rate or interest-rate differences between different marketplaces at a given time.

market maker / Market-Maker / teneur de marché; contrepartiste / market maker 
Securities dealer who regularly quotes bid and ask prices for selected instruments and buys and sells at those prices for own account.

market manipulation / Marktmanipulation / manipulation du marché / manipolazione del mercato 
Market manipulation is the practice of using sham transactions, other transactions without an economic basis or simply placing orders with intent to create the impression of market activity or to distort supply and demand, share prices or the valuation of securities.

market order / Bestensauftrag / ordre au mieux / ordine al meglio 
Also: unlimited order. Order for the purchase or sale of a security without specifying a price limit. This means that the entire transaction must be carried out as quickly as possible at the best possible price. See also at best, stock market order.

Marketperform 
Rating of a stock relative to the relevant sector. Over a specific investment horizon, the stock's performance is not expected to be more than 10% above or below that of the benchmark.

market price / Börsenwert; Kurswert / valeur boursière / valore di borsa 
Also: market value. The price at which a security (share or bond, etc.) is traded on the stock exchange. The market price changes independently of the par value, if any, of the security in response to supply and demand.

market risk 
Synonym for systematic risk.

market theories / Börsentheorien / théories boursières / teorie borsistiche 
Principles or models used for predicting future stock market performance or for explaining past price trends.

market timing / Market-Timing / market timing / market timing 
Hedge fund strategy characterized by large commitments to one or two asset classes, depending on economic or market outlook.

market value / (1) Kurswert (2) Verkehrswert / (1) valeur boursière (2) valeur vénale / (1) valore di borsa (2) valore venale 
(1) Synonym for market price.
(2) Also: market price. The price that can be obtained (usually with reference to real estate) on the open market under ordinary circumstances. In the case of real estate, the market value is determined by an expert appraiser on the basis of the intrinsic value and the capitalized income value, and adjusted in line with local rates and the situation on the property market. See also intrinsic value, capitalized value.

marketable / kurant / courant / liquido 
Securities or other assets which can be readily sold or otherwise disposed of for cash. Opposite: illiquid.

marking to market 
Synonym for mark-to-market.

mark-to-market / Mark-to-Market / mark to market / mark to market 
Also: marking-to-market. Daily adjustment of (generally exchange-traded) derivative contracts to calculate daily gains or losses on the relevant position. 

Markowitz model / Markowitz-Modell / modèle de Markowitz / teoria di Markowitz 
See modern portfolio theory.

marrying price / Applikationskurs / cours d'application / corso di applicazione 
Price quoted on the stock exchange and used by the stock exchange dealer to offset purchases and sales within the bank.

MasterCard 
International company for electronic payment systems, whose activities include offering the MasterCard and Maestro card.

master letter of credit 
Synonym for prime letter of credit.

matcher / Matcher / matcher / matcher 
Component of the Swiss Exchange system which matches bids and offers in the order book to bring about trades.

Materials / Roh-, Hilfs- und Betriebsstoffe / Matériels / Materiali 
Equity sector incorporating shares of companies producing chemicals, metals (including mining), building materials, textiles, or paper and cardboard. The respective MSCI Sector index acts as a benchmark for shares of companies belonging to this sector.

material-value clause / Sachwertklausel / clause valeur réelle / clausola valore reale 
Clause in a bond loan agreement linking the amount of the nominal claim to a material substance or assets or to changes in the price of real (material) values. Depending on the type of link, a distinction is made, for instance, between a gold clause and an index clause.

maturity / Verfall / échéance / scadenza 
See expiry.

maturity date 
Synonym for due date (2).

maximum-sum mortgage / Maximalhypothek / hypothèque maximale / ipoteca massimale 
Mortgage where the underlying real estate property provides collateral in an amount not exceeding the sum entered in the Land Register (in contrast to a security interest).
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MBO 
Abbr. for management buyout. 

MBS 
Abbr. for mortgage-backed security.
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medium-term bank bond 
Synonym for medium-term note.

medium-term note / (1) Kassenobligation (2) Medium-Term Note / (1) obligation de caisse (2) bon à moyen terme négociable / (1) obbligazione di cassa (2) medium-term note 
(1) Also: cash bond, medium-term bank bond. In Switzerland: bond issued by a bank with a term of two to eight years.
(2) Abbr.: MTN. Medium-dated bond issued by a prime borrower as part of a revolving programme.

merchant banking / Merchant-Banking / services bancaires d'investissement / merchant banking 
Also: private equity investing. A form of banking where interests in companies are acquired with the intention of selling them off years later once their value has increased.

merger / Fusion / fusion / fusione 
The combining of two or more separate companies into one. In Switzerland, mergers are governed by Articles 748 and 749 of the Swiss Code of Obligations. A special form of merger is the leveraged buyout.

merger arbitrage 
Synonym for risk arbitrage.

mergers & acquisitions / Mergers & Acquisitions / mergers & acquisitions / Mergers & Acquisitions 
Abbr.: M&A. The M&A package of services that commercial and investment banks offer companies acquiring major shareholdings or entire companies. Usually embraces consultancy, identifying suitable investments, engineering the actual transaction and financing.

metal account / Metallkonto / compte métal / conto metallo 
Precious metal account managed by a bank giving the accountholder a claim to a specified quantity of precious metal or a specified number of precious metal coins but not yet conferring title to the assets at the time they are credited.
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mid cap / Mid Cap /mid cap / mid cap 
Medium-sized company, which ranks between a large cap and a small cap in terms of market capitalization and trading volumes.

middle rate / Mittelkurs / cours moyen / corso medio 
Also: middle price. Arithmetic mean between several rates, for example between the bid and asked rates. Another term for average rate. 

mid-month / Medio / au 15 du mois / medio 
15th day of the month. Date on which forward transactions are settled (squared) on the exchanges, especially in Belgium and the United Kingdom.

minimum balances 
Synonym for minimum reserves. 

minimum reserves / Mindestreserven / réserves minimales / riserve minime 
Also: minimum balances. Minimum amount of funds which by law must be deposited by the banks with the central bank. Usually non-interest-bearing. The amount which must be deposited is generally calculated as a percentage of specific liabilities. Minimum reserves restrict the ability of the banks to grant loans and thus influence the money supply. 

mixed investment fund / gemischter Anlagefonds / fonds de placement mixte / fondo d'investimento misto 
Investment fund investing its assets in various securities, money market instruments or real estate property. 

mixed loan / Mischkredit / crédit mixte / credito misto 
Type of credit granted to economically weak countries to subsidize the cost of exports and facilitate trade. The loan consists of a tranche on preferential terms (government tranche) and a tranche on market terms (bank tranche).
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model of Black and Scholes / Black-Scholes-Modell / modèle Black-Scholes / formula di Black e Scholes 
Model developed by Fischer Black and Myron Scholes in 1973 for calculating the price of European options on shares and indices or warrants. The model of Black and Scholes is one of three valuation models for calculating the fair value of an option or warrant. The fair value calculation includes the price of the underlying, the strike price, the residual term to maturity, the dividend, the interest rate and the volatility.

modern portfolio theory / moderne Portfoliotheorie / théorie moderne du portefeuille / teoria moderna di gestione del portafoglio 
Theory exploring how to achieve optimum risk/return characteristics for customer portfolios through international diversification of investments. Modern portfolio theory was developed by the US economist H.M. Markowitz.

momentum indicator / Momentum / momentum / indicatore di momento 
An indicator used to evaluate the trend in a share price, arrived at by dividing the current price by the price n days before. 

monetary base / monetäre Basis / base monétaire / base monetaria 
Banknotes and coins circulating in the private sector of the economy as well as giro (clearing) balances maintained with the central bank by commerce, industry and the banks. Another name is central bank money supply. 

Monetary Fund 
See International Monetary Fund.

monetary policy / Geldpolitik / politique monétaire / politica monetaria 
Totality of measures taken by a central bank to control the money supply, interest rates and the exchange rate against foreign currencies.

monetary policy instruments / Notenbankinstrumentarium / moyens d'action de l'institut d'émission / strumentario dell'istituto di emissione 
Instruments of credit, monetary and currency policy which the central bank is authorized to use. The classical instruments include discount and Lombard policy, repurchase transactions, open market policy and minimum reserves.

monetary union / Währungsunion / union monétaire / unione monetaria 
Group of countries that have a single currency and a common central bank, e.g. the European Monetary Union. See also currency zone.

money / Geld / argent / denaro 
Generally accepted medium of exchange and payment in a society. 

money laundering / Geldwäscherei / blanchiment d'argent / riciclaggio di denaro 
Infiltration of illegally acquired assets into the legal financial system. Generally, a distinction is made between three phases of laundering:
(1) Feeding money of criminal origin into the financial system.
(2) Masking the origin of funds by frequently transferring and converting.
(3) Reintegrating the funds into the legal economy. See also money laundering law.

money laundering law / Geldwäschereigesetz / loi sur le blanchiment d'argent / legge sul riciclaggio di denaro 
Law introduced in Switzerland in 1998 to supplement the pertinent provisions of the penal code and the Agreement on the Swiss banks' code of conduct with regard to the exercise of due diligence. Under the law, financial brokers and agents are required to identify their contracting partners, to establish the beneficial owner's identity, to clarify the background of any unusual looking transactions, and to keep a record of this data. If there are reasonable grounds to suspect that the funds in question are of criminal origin, this is to be reported immediately to the relevant authorities and the funds blocked.

money market / Geldmarkt / marché de l'argent / mercato monetario 
The open market for lending or borrowing short-term funds (as a rule up to 12 months) and dealing in negotiable instruments. In addition to the national money markets, the Euromoney market has developed in recent years into an efficient international marketplace for dealing in short-dated loanable funds.

money market book claim / Geldmarktbuchforderung / créance comptable / credito contabile 
Switzerland: short-term capital raised by first-class Swiss and foreign borrowers by tender at a fixed interest rate and maturity (up to 364 days).

money market fund / Geldmarktfonds / fonds en instruments du marché monétaire / fondo in strumenti del mercato monetario 
Investment fund investing in short-dated money market paper. 

money market paper / Geldmarktpapier / papier monétaire / titolo del mercato monetario 
Security with a short maturity. Classical money market instruments in Switzerland are domestic (Swiss) bills of exchange, Treasury bills and Treasury notes issued by the Confederation and so-called federal rescriptions. Of particular importance for short-term investments abroad are US money market instruments or paper, usually with terms of 3 to 6 months (Treasury bills, banker's acceptances, commercial paper, finance paper and certificates of deposit issued in New York, as well as London certificates of deposit).

money market rate / Geldmarktsatz / taux du marché monétaire / tasso del mercato monetario 
Also short-term rate. Interest rate applied on the money market. See also capital market rate.

money supply / Geldmenge / masse monétaire / massa monetaria 
Also: money stock. The stock of money that exists in an economy at a given time. Stabilizing prices by steering the money supply is an important economic policy target. In Switzerland, money supply policy measures focused for some years (until 1978) on M1 (circulation of coins and notes in the non-banking sector and domestic non-bank demand deposits at banks and in postal checking accounts). In 1980 the Swiss National Bank began setting a new money supply target based on the adjusted central bank money supply. Factoring in further monetary aggregates (time deposits, savings) gives M2 and M3. The latter has served as reference parameter for the Swiss National Bank since 1997.

month-end closing / Ultimo / ultimo / fine mese 
(1) Refers to transactions settled as at the end of the month (last business day of the month).
(2) Time when forward transactions are closed out (liquidated, squared). See also mid-month.

month-end borrowing / Ultimofinanzierung / financement de l'échéance mensuelle / finanziamento di fine mese 
Borrowing in order to bridge temporary liquidity shortages at month-end. This kind of financing furnished by the Swiss National Bank to commercial banks helps to avoid extreme interest-rate fluctuations.

moratorium / Moratorium / moratoire / moratoria 
A freeze on the repayment of debt or the extension of the lending period. Moratoriums are often declared by governments, typically in favour of developing countries. See also Paris Club, debt rescheduling, debt rescheduling agreement.

mortgage / Hypothekardarlehen / prêt hypothécaire / mutuo ipotecario 
A written conveyance of title to real estate property, but not its possession, to secure the payment of a debt or the performance of some obligation. Distinguished from a lien in that the creditor has actual title to the property and from a pledge in that the debtor retains possession. In Switzerland, such rights may take the form of a mortgage assignment or mortgage note. See also fixed-rate mortgage, portfolio mortgage.

mortgage-backed security / Mortgage-Backed-Security / mortgage-backed security / mortgage backed security 
Abbr.: MBS. Security similar to an asset-backed security, where the underlying assets are loans to owners of residential or commercial real estate secured with a mortgage over the property. 

mortgage bank / Realkreditinstitut / établissement de crédit hypothécaire / istituto di credito ipotecario 
Bank that specializes in granting mortgage loans.

mortgage-backed bond 
Synonym for mortgage bond.

mortgage bond / Pfandbrief / lettre de gage / obbligazione fondiaria 
Also: mortgage-backed bond. Bond issued by central mortgage bond institutions in Switzerland and secured by property mortgages granted by the banks. The bondholders have a lien on the underlying assets enforceable against the mortgage bond institution. The German Pfandbrief is more tightly defined than the English term «mortgage-backed bond/mortgage bond» and may only be issued by mortgage banks, ship mortgage banks and a number of public sector issuers (central mortgage bank institutions). Also available in the form of public sector Pfandbriefe.

mortgage fund / Hypothekarfonds / fonds hypothécaire / fondo ipotecario 
Investment fund that invests in mortgage deeds and other similar securities. Under Art. 72 of Switzerland's Investment Fund Act, the Federal Council can issue instructions regarding the construction of mortgage funds. The Council has never yet made use of this power, and mortgage funds have therefore not been established in Switzerland.

mortgage loan / Grundpfandkredit / crédit garanti par hypothèque / credito ipotecario 
Loan secured by a mortgage on real property. In granting these loans, the banks differentiate between mortgage investments, indirect mortgage loans and construction loans.

mortgage note / Schuldbrief / cédule hypothécaire / cartella ipotecaria 
A security which is vested by a personal claim and secured by a lien or mortgage on real estate property. It incorporates both the claim and its lien.

mortgage note in the name of the owner / Eigentümerschuldbrief / cédule hypothécaire en faveur du propriétaire / cartella ipotecaria a nome del proprietario 
Mortgage note in which both lender and borrower are the same person. A mortgage note in the name of the owner is issued, for example, when a mortgage is repaid and the mortgage note is transferred to the name of the borrower.
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MSCI World Index / MSCI-World- Index / MSCI World Index / indice mondiale MSCI 
Short form: MSCI World. A global equity index for the world's developed equity markets. The MSCI World Index is compiled by Morgan Stanley, a major financial service provider. MSCI is short for Morgan Stanley Capital International.
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MTN / MTN / BMTN / MTN 
Abbr. for medium-term note.
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multicurrency credit line 
Credit line which may be drawn on in one or more currencies stipulated in the credit agreement.

multiple lien (on property) / Gesamtpfandrecht / acte de gage collectif / diritto di pegno generale 
The pledging of several pieces of land as security for the repayment of the same claim, each property being encumbered with the full amount of the pledge. A multiple lien may be established only if the pieces of land belong to the same owner or are owned by debtors granting joint and several guarantee.

mutual fund 
Synonym for investment fund. 
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naked position / ungedeckte Position / position à découvert / posizione scoperta 
Long or short position which is not hedged by a corresponding opposite position. See also long position, short position.

Napoleon coin / Napoleon / Napoléon / napoleone 
French 20-franc gold piece bearing the picture of Napoleon I or III.

narrow market / enger Markt / marché étroit / mercato ristretto 
A market is referred to as narrow if a security is traded irregularly or if only a few units of a particular issue are in circulation. Sizable buying or selling orders for such securities generally lead to sharp price fluctuations in a narrow market.

Nasdaq / Nasdaq / Nasdaq / Nasdaq 
Acronym for National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations. US electronic exchange for high-growth, innovative stocks, catering for OTC traders.

National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations 
See Nasdaq.

national bank / Nationalbank / banque nationale / banca nazionale 
Synonym for central bank. See also Swiss National Bank.

national income / Volkseinkommen / revenu national / reddito nazionale 
Total income earned by the population of a country or region in a year. The national income is calculated on the basis of the income earned by the nationals of the country or region in question both at home and abroad. See also per capita income.
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negative clause / Negativklausel / clause négative / clausola negativa 
(1) Synonym for negative mortgage clause.
(2) Synonym for negative pledge clause.

negative correlation / negative Korrelation / corrélation négative / correlazione negativa 
See correlation.

negative interest / Negativzins / intérêt négatif / interesse negativo 
Also: interest charge. Interest which is deducted from the principal. 

negative mortgage clause / negative Hypothekenklausel / clause hypothécaire négative / clausola ipotecaria negativa 
The promise made by a mortgage borrower to the creditor not to encumber the property with any additional pledges in favour of third parties without the creditor's consent and not to raise existing ones. Usually agreed in writing. See also negative pledge clause.

negative pledge clause / negative Verpfändungsklausel / clause de nantissement négative / clausola di pegno negativa 
Promise made by the borrower in writing to the creditor not to pledge any assets in favour of third parties (securities, goods, claims, etc.) without the agreement of the creditor. This clause is also applied when issuing bonds. Here, the issuer undertakes to his/her creditors not to pledge assets in favour of third parties. See also negative mortgage clause.

negotiating bank / negoziierende Bank / banque négociatrice / banca che negozia i documenti 
In a letter of credit operation, the bank which accepts the documents for the purpose of examining and crediting the documentary credit amount from the exporter (beneficiary).

net asset value / (1) Nettoinventarwert (2) (3) (4) Substanzwert / (1) valeur d'inventaire nette (2) (3) (4) valeur intrinsèque / (1) valore d'inventario netto (2) (3) (4) valore reale 
(1) Value of an investment fund unit corresponding to the market value of the fund on a set reference date, minus liabilities and divided by the number of units outstanding.
(2) Business management: market value of the fixed and current assets of the company to be valued. See also intrinsic value.
(3) Options: positive difference between the price of the underlying and an option's strike price.
(4) Real estate: value of land and buildings.

net position / Nettoposition / position nette / posizione netta 
A market player's total position, ascertained by offsetting purchases against sales.

netting / Netting / netting / netting 
Mutual offsetting of claims and liabilities from identical types of transaction between two parties. Important in connection with the capital adequacy requirements applicable to banks. In industry: a method of optimizing intra-group capital transfers via a central account of net credits.

new issue / Neuemission / nouvelle émission / nuova emissione 
Security offered to the public for the first time when a company is floated. See also initial public offering, issue.

new issues market 
Synonym for primary market.

new share / junge Aktie / action nouvelle / azione di nuova emissione 
Share issued on the occasion of a capital increase which does not yet entitle the owner to receive the full dividend for the year and is therefore traded separately until the dividend is distributed.

New York Stock Exchange 
Abbr.: NYSE. Also known in stock market jargon as the Big Board or Wall Street. It was founded in 1792 and is the world's largest stock exchange. Website: www.nyse.com.


Top

Ni

NIF 
Abbr. for note issuance facility.

night safe / Nachttresor / trésor de nuit / cassa continua 
Night depository in the form of a vault which is used mainly by commercial clients to deposit their takings in safeboxes or safebags outside opening hours. Their use is regulated by written agreement.
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Noble / Noble / Noble / Noble 
Platinum coin minted on the Isle of Man. Usual size contains 1 ounce of platinum, but coins containing 1/10 ounce are also produced.

nominal claim / nominelle Forderung / créance nominale / credito nominale 
See claim.

nominal value / Nominalwert / valeur faciale / valore facciale 
Synonym for par value.

nominee / Nominee / nominée / nominee 
A company recorded in the share register of a stock corporation as a shareholder, but which does not actually own any shares. This practice is particularly commonplace when trading US registered shares outside the USA, as each transaction must be entered in the share register, which can be a problem because of the distance. However, where a nominee is entered in the share register, it issues a stock certificate attesting to the possession of these foreign registered shares. These can be traded in Switzerland in the same way as bearer shares.

non-cash dividend / Naturaldividende / dividende en nature / dividendo in natura 
Also: dividend in kind. Dividend that is paid out in the form of real assets, rather than cash.

non-conforming mortgage / Non-conforming Mortgage / non-conforming mortgage / non-conforming mortgage 
Mortgage loan that does not conform to US agency-established limits such as loan-to-value ratio, term to maturity and other characteristics. Non-conforming mortgages are usually mortgages not meeting the purchase requirements of the two Federal agencies, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, because they are too large or for other reasons such as poor credit or inadequate documentation. 


non discretionary / nicht-diskretionär / non discrétionnaire / non discrezionale 
Opposite of discretionary. Used in banking for account and custody account maintenance without a management agreement, i.e., the bank conducts transactions only at the express order of the client.

non-interest business / indifferentes Bankgeschäft / affaire en commission / operazione indifferente 
Synonym for off-balance-sheet operations.

non-investment grade / Non-Investment-Grade / non investment grade / Non-investment grade 
Also: high yield. Broad term for all credit ratings below BBB, signifying that the security is speculative in nature. See also investment grade.

non-operating assets / betriebsfremdes Vermögen / actif hors exploitation / capitale non d'esercizio 
Assets of a company that are not required for operational purposes. Opposite: operating assets.

non-paid-up capital / nicht einbezahltes Kapital / capital non versé / capitale non versato 
Difference between the capital of a corporation (joint stock company) stipulated in the articles of association and the capital actually paid in.

non-performing loan / notleidender Kredit / crédit en souffrance / credito in sofferenza 
Also: impaired loan. A loan on which the borrower is late in repaying the agreed interest and/or capital or where the borrower is declared insolvent. 

non-resident / Devisenausländer / non-résident / non residenti 
Natural person or legal entity which is treated as non-resident for the purpose of exchange and currency regulations. Opposite: resident.

non-systematic risk / unsystematisches Risiko / risque non systématique / rischio non sistematico 
Risk exposure dependent on factors which influence an individual security only, e.g. corporate results. Opposite: systematic risk.

non-versé / Non-versé / non-versé / non-versé 
French expression, synonym for unpaid capital.

no-par stock / Quotenaktie; nennwertlose Aktie / action de quotité / azione senza valore nominale 
Also: non-par value share. Share issued by a corporation with no par value shown on the face of the share. Used most frequently in the United States.

no-par-value share 
Synonym for no-par stock.

normal order / Normal Order / ordre normal / normal order 
Spot order for the purchase or sale of securities traded on the SWX Swiss Exchange. May be entered as a market or limit order. See also market order.

nostro account / Nostro-Konto / compte Nostro / conto Nostro 
The account maintained by a domestic bank with a foreign bank in foreign currency. Opposite: vostro account.

not easily marketable / unkurant / non courant / illiquido 
Also: illiquid. Refers to securities of such low investment quality that they cannot be readily sold to investors. 

not to order clause / Rektaklausel / clause non à ordre / clausola non all'ordine 
A bill or cheque marked «not to order» cannot be transferred through endorsement. Transfer may only be effected by assignment since the «not to order» clause changes an order paper into a registered security.

note / Note / note / note 
(1) In the Swiss context only: a fixed or variable-rate security legally classed as a bond or debenture issued as a private placement. The maturity is usually between five and seven years. Notes are inexpensive financing instruments for foreign issuers and have become a popular medium-term investment among institutional investors.
(2) In other contexts, a note is a credit instrument consisting of a written, unconditional promise to pay a sum of money at some specified future date to a named person or to bearer.

note issuance facility / Note-Issuance-Facility / facilité d'émission d'effets / Note Issuance Facility 
Abbreviation: NIF. Credit limit extended to first-class borrowers in the Euromarket which cover their medium-term capital requirements through revolving issues. See also revolving underwriting facility.

note-issuing bank / Notenbank / institut d'émission / istituto di emissione 
Also: bank of issue. Bank vested with the right to issue bank notes (note-issuing privilege). In addition to performing this key historic function, today's note-issuing banks are also responsible for organizing monetary operations in the broadest sense, mainly by implementing a monetary policy that serves the interests of the country. Example: Swiss National Bank.

note-issuing privilege / Notenmonopol / monopole d'émission des billets de banque / monopolio dell'emissione di moneta 
Exclusive right to issue banknotes. In Switzerland, this privilege has been granted to the Swiss National Bank by the Federal Government. 

notification / Notifikation / notification / notifica 
(1) Formal communication to the borrower by the former or new creditor when a claim is assigned or assets pledged as security.
(2) Under bill of exchange law, notification means the legally prescribed communication addressed by the cheque or bill holder to the previous holder and drawer or by the endorser to the previous endorser concerning the refusal of the drawee to pay under the bill.

notify address / Notadresse / recommandataire au besoin / occorrendo 
Person named on a bill by the drawer, endorser or guarantor and expected to accept or pay should the need arise.
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Nugget / Nugget / Nugget / Nugget 
Australian gold coin with a face value of AUD 100 containing 1 ounce of fine gold. Nugget coins with 1/2, 1/4 and 1/10 ounce of fine gold are also minted.

numbered account / Nummernkonto / compte numérique / conto cifrato 
An account where the name of the accountholder is known only to a small circle of people within the bank, as all transactions are processed under a number.

numbered safekeeping account / Nummerndepot / dépôt numérique / deposito cifrato 
A safekeeping account where the name of the accountholder is known only to a small circle of people within the bank, as all transactions are processed under a number. See also numbered account.

numismatics / Numismatik / numismatique / numismatica 
The study of coins in all aspects, i.e. as a state-approved form of payment, as artefacts conveying information about language, writing and metallurgy, and as works of art.
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NYSE 
Abbr. for New York Stock Exchange.
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Ob

obligation to provide additional cover / Nachdeckungspflicht / obligation de fournir des garanties supplémentaires / obbligo di fornire garanzie sussidiarie 
Obligation on the part of the borrower to return the cover for the loan to its contractually agreed level by furnishing additional collateral if the value of the objects pledged as security for the credit has declined.
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odd lot / Odd Lot / Odd Lot / odd lot 
Also: fraction. Securities trade less than a round lot. The Swiss Exchange only accepts unlimited orders for odd lots.
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Of

off-balance-sheet operations / Ausserbilanzgeschäft / opérations hors bilan / operazione fuori bilancio 
Also: non-interest business. Transactions conducted by the bank which are not reported in the balance sheet. Under Swiss law these include contingent liabilities (e.g. guarantees), irrevocable commitments, liabilities for calls on shares, commitment facilities, open derivatives contracts and fiduciary transactions. These transactions must be reported separately below the line and underpinned by equity capital. Bank services such as investment counselling, asset management, securities trading and payments also fall under off-balance-sheet operations.

off-exchange trading / Freiverkehr / marché libre / fuori borsa 
Over-the-counter securities trading involving securities which do not meet the requirements for official trading on a regulated market, but where there is interest on a transparent market. Off-exchange trading is not governed by the Swiss Stock Exchange Act and is subject only to the supervisory mechanisms implemented by the stock exchange concerned to prevent abuse. See also over-the-counter trading.

official authentication (of a document) / öffentliche Beurkundung / acte authentique / atto pubblico 
The act or mode of giving authority or legal authenticity to a statute, record, or other written document.

official discount rate / offizieller Diskontsatz / taux d'escompte officiel / tasso ufficiale di sconto 
In Switzerland, the discount rate (also called bank rate) of the Swiss National Bank applies only for bills of exchange with a maturity of at least 180 days, drawn on a party in Switzerland and bearing at least two signatures of parties which are independent of one another and are known to be solvent (bills eligible for discount at the Swiss National Bank). The official discount rate is also applied to bill-like instruments of undisputed standing.

offset transaction / Kompensationsgeschäft / opération de compensation / operazione di compensazione 
Also: netting transaction, compensation transaction, barter transaction.
(1) Securities trading: netting of clients' buy and sell orders at a bank at the marrying price.
(2) Foreign trade: offsetting the countervalue of merchandise shipped to a particular country against the merchandise imported from that country. Compensation (offsetting) frequently only covers part of the deliveries, the rest being settled in foreign exchange (partial compensation). 

offshore centre (GB); offshore center (USA) / Offshore-Finanzplatz / centre offshore / piazza finanziaria offshore 
Also: offshore market. Internationally oriented financial market that offers investors and financial institutions special advantages by virtue of its liberal economic and fiscal legislation. Transactions in these centres do not affect the domestic market and are executed in a foreign currency. Examples include Bahamas, British Virgin Islands, Cayman Islands, Barbados, Bermuda, Channel Islands, Netherlands Antilles and Panama.

offshore fund / Offshore-Fund / fonds offshore / fondo offshore 
An investment fund domiciled in one of the offshore financial centres, where investment fund legislation or supervision either does not exist or is very flexible (e.g. Bahamas, Bermuda, Cayman Islands).

offshore market 
Synonym for offshore centre.

offshoring / Offshoring / délocalisation / offshoring 
When companies move their operations outside of the country in order to save costs.
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on board bill of lading / Bordkonnossement / connaissement de bord / polizza di carico a bordo 
Bill of lading confirmation that the goods accepted for transportation have actually been shipped on board.

on demand / Sicht / à vue / a vista 
In the case of a claim document the notations «on demand» or «on sight» mean that the amount specified becomes due and payable immediately upon presentation of the debt certificate or payment order by the creditor to the debtor.

on sight 
Synonym for on demand.
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open market policy / Offenmarktpolitik / politique d'open market / politica di mercato aperto 
Influence exerted on the money supply and interest rates by the central bank through purchases and sales of short-, medium- and long-term debt instruments on the money or capital market for its own account. See also monetary policy instruments.

open outcry trading / Criée-Handel / négociation à la criée / negozio alle grida 
Also: ring trading. A system of stock market trading where the dealers call out the bid and ask prices for each security or make them known by using hand signals. Opposite: electronic trading system.

open position / offene Position / position ouverte / posizione aperta 
Position taken by the purchase or sale of a contract but not yet closed by an opposite position.

open safekeeping account; custody account / offenes Depot / dépôt ouvert / deposito aperto 
Also: open custody account. Safekeeping account for the depositing and administration of valuables (especially securities). Opposite: sealed safekeeping account. 

open-end fund / Open-End-Fund / open-end fund / open-end fund 
Investment fund which is permitted to issue new units continuously and is obligated to redeem issued shares at their net asset value if shareholders so demand. Switzerland allows only this type of investment fund. Opposite: closed-end fund.

opening / Eröffnung / ouverture / apertura 
Period during a trading session when the system closes the order books, starts the opening procedure, establishes the opening price and determines the orders to be executed according to the matching rules.

opening price / Eröffnungskurs / cours d'ouverture / corso di apertura 
The price paid in the first (or opening) transaction for a given security on a given day. Opposite: closing price.

operating assets / Betriebsvermögen / actif d'exploitation / capitale d'esercizio 
Assets of a company which enable it to produce its goods or services. They include administrative buildings, plant facilities, liquid assets, etc. Opposite: non-operating assets. See also fixed assets, current assets.

opération blanche / Opération blanche / opération blanche / opération blanche 
Purchase of new shares in a rights issue without investing additional funds; a shareholder sells exactly the number of subscription rights in a rights issue as are required to finance the purchase of the remaining subscription rights allocated to him or her. The aim is to enable the sum invested in a particular company to grow without investing additional funds.

opportunistic / Opportunistic / opportuniste / opportunistic 
Mix of hedge fund strategies characterized by the manager's complete freedom of choice as to strategic changes. Opportunistic hedge fund managers can utilize one or many investing styles at a given time. They are not restricted to any particular investment approach or asset class.

opting out / Opting-out / opting out / opting out 
Provision in a company's articles of association whereby it shall not be bound by the obligation to make a public offer if it acquires more than one-third of the voting rights of a listed company. See also public offer.

opting up / Opting-up / opting up / opting up 
Provision in a company's articles of association whereby it shall be bound by the obligation to make a public offer if it acquires more than 49% of the voting rights of a listed company. See also public offer.

option / Option / option / opzione 
Also: option contract. Agreement reached with a contractual partner that confers the right to buy (call option) or sell (put option) a predetermined quantity of a good or security at a predetermined price on (European option) or by (American option) a predetermined date. Options are traded on futures or options exchanges. See also futures market, options exchange, option trading.

option class / Optionsklasse / classe d'options / classe d'opzione 
A group of options that share the same underlying.

option contract 
Synonym for option.

option premium 
Synonym for option price.

option price / Optionspreis / prix d'option / prezzo d'opzione 
The price quoted on an options exchange to buy or sell an option. See also option transaction.

option series / Optionsserie / série d'options / serie di opzioni 
Options of the same option class and with the same expiry date, but with different strike prices.

option transaction / Optionsgeschäft / opération à option / contratto a opzione 
Also: options transaction. A futures transaction in which one party has the right to buy (call) or sell (put). Option transactions can be carried out via exchanges or in over-the-counter trading. See also option.

option writer 
Synonym for issuer of a covered warrant. 

options exchange / Optionenbörse / Bourse d'options / borsa delle opzioni 
An exchange that specializes in trading in options or financial futures. See also futures market.
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OR / OR / CO / CO 
Abbr. for Swiss Code of Obligations (from the German «Obligationenrecht») (part 5 of the Swiss Civil Code ZGB).

order book / Auftragsbuch / Carnet d'ordres / libro degli ordini 
Electronic memory device maintained by the Swiss Exchange. It contains all current buy and sell orders in price-time sequence for a specific security at a given moment.

order instrument / Orderpapier / papier à ordre / titolo all'ordine 
Paper which can be transferred by endorsement (negotiable). Legal order instruments (cheques, drafts, bills of exchange, registered shares) are always order instruments, even if they do not bear the «to the order of» notation. Bills of lading, bill-like orders, etc. become negotiable only with such a notation.

order of priority / Rang / rang / grado 
The order of claim established by senior and junior mortgages to the underlying real estate serving as collateral for the mortgage. The mortgages are entered in the Land Register in the order of their priority (first mortgage, second mortgage, etc.). The claim is generally realized (the mortgage foreclosed) by an action or proceedings brought by the creditor against the debtor after the latter has defaulted or as a consequence of the debtor's bankruptcy. 

order-driven trading / auftragsgesteuerter Handel / négoce organisé en fonction des ordres / sistema di contrattazioni basato sugli ordini 
Form of stock exchange trading based on the principle of a two-way market on which members can enter buy and sell orders at their discretion. System used on the Swiss Exchange. Opposite: quote-driven trading.

ordinary partnership / einfache Gesellschaft / société simple / società semplice 
Contractual relationship between two or more legal persons or corporate entities for the attainment of a common purpose (such as placing a bond issue) through common means. Governed in Switzerland by Articles 530-551 of the Swiss Federal Code of Obligations. 

ordinary share (GB); common stock (USA) / Stammaktie / action ordinaire / azione ordinaria 
Form of share common in the USA, the UK and Germany, which confers on the holder voting rights, the right to participate at the annual general meeting and the entitlement to distributions of income. See also preference share.

original letter of credit 
Synonym for prime letter of credit.

originator / Originator / initiateur / originator 
Savings, lending or mortgage bank that initially drew up a mortgage loan or proposed a new securities issue.
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ounce / Unze / once / oncia 
Avoirdupois unit of weight corresponding to approximately 31.1035 grams. In international precious metals trading, prices are quoted in USD per ounce.

out of the money / aus dem Geld / hors la monnaie / out of the money 
Feature of an option when the spot price of the underlying is below (in the case of a call) or above (in the case of a put) the strike price. See also at the money, in the money.

out option 
Synonym for knock-out option.

Outperform 
Rating of a stock relative to the relevant sector. Over a specific investment horizon, the stock's performance is expected to be at least 10% above that of the benchmark.

outperformance / Outperformance / surperformance / outperformance 
Price performance by a stock or portfolio that exceeds that of a given benchmark. Opposite: underperformance.

outright operation / Outright-Geschäft / opération à terme sec / operazione outright 
Forward purchase or sale of foreign exchange which is not offset by a corresponding spot transaction.

outsourcing / Outsourcing / externalisation / outsourcing 
Farming-out of a company's non-core activities to external providers.

outstrike / Outstrike / point d'extinction / outstrike 
Predetermined spot price of the underlying at which an out option (knock-out or kick-out) is automatically terminated. See also instrike.
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overdraft / Kontoüberziehung / découvert / sorpasso di conto 
To draw in excess of the deposit balance or of a line of credit agreed between the bank and customer. Due to the risk involved, unauthorized overdrafts attract higher interest than the utilization of credit within an agreed limit.

overdraft facility (GB); current account credit (USA) / Kontokorrentkredit / crédit en compte courant / credito in conto corrente 
A credit line which an account holder can use at any time and in any amount up to an agreed limit during the term of an agreement. Particularly common in the form of working capital loans, but can also be extended as unsecured credits or secured credits (e.g. Lombard loans).

overdraft limit / Überzugslimite / limite de dépassement / limite di sorpasso 
Individually agreed limit to bridge temporary financial bottlenecks. Overdraft limits on a personal account are usually roughly equivalent to one month's salary.

overdraw / überziehen / dépasser / sorpassare 
To draw in excess of the deposit balance or credit limit. See also overdraft.

overdue bill / notleidender Wechsel / traite en souffrance / cambiale in sofferenza 
Also: dishonoured bill. A bill of exchange which was not paid at maturity (due date).

overheating / Konjunkturüberhitzung / surchauffe conjoncturelle / surriscaldamento congiunturale 
Also: overheated economy. A situation in which the economy grows rapidly, resulting in production bottlenecks and inflation. See also economy.

overheated economy 
Synonym for overheating.

overnight / Overnight / overnight / overnight 
Swap for a period from the trade date until the following business day.

overnight money 
Synonym for call money. 

overperformance 
Synonym for outperformance.

oversubscription / Überzeichnung / sursouscription / over subscription 
If demand for an issue exceeds the bond amount announced, the issue is said to be oversubscribed. See also allocation and stagging.

over-the-counter / hors Bourse / ausserbörslicher Handel / operazioni fuori borsa 
Also: off exchange. Securities transactions outside the stock market on the so-called over-the-counter market. On the Swiss stock exchange: trading that is not carried out via the so-called matchers of the stock exchange system. Over-the-counter transactions must also be registered. See also post-market trading.

over-the-counter trading / Over-the-Counter-Handel / marché over-the-counter / transazioni over the counter 
Abbr.: OTC. Also: off-exchange trading. Securities trading outside the regular exchange. Also includes telephone trading in unlisted securities. See also post-market trading.

overvaluation / Überbewertung / surévaluation / sopravvalutazione 
A security is said to be overvalued if its valuation is excessively high. Opposite: undervaluation.
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P/B / KBV / P/VC 
Abbr. for price/book value.

P/E 
Abbr. for price/earnings ratio.

P/E ratio 
Short form for price/earnings ratio.

Pa

palladium / Palladium / palladium / palladio 
Palladium is a precious metal. See precious metals.

Panda / Panda / Panda / Panda 
Chinese gold coin of 1 ounce fine gold with a face value of CNY 100. Also minted with fine gold content of 1/2, 1/4, 1/10 and 1/20 ounce.

paper money 
Synonym for banknote.

paper profit (loss) / Papiergewinn (-verlust) / gain (perte) comptable / guadagno (perdita) nominale 
Non-realized capital gains (or book losses) on securities. The difference between the current price and the original purchase price.

par value / Nennwert / valeur nominale / valore nominale 
Also: face value, nominal value. Value of a security as printed on its face. Ordinarily not identical with the market value. Swiss law prescribes a minimum par value of CHF 0.01 per share, whereas in the United States and Canada shares may be issued without par value.

par value price / Parikurs / cours au pair / corso alla pari 
Price of a security which is equal to its nominal or face value.

Paris Club / Pariser Club / Club de Paris / Club di Parigi 
Also: Club of Paris (more rarely). International forum which convenes to negotiate rescheduling the debt of heavily indebted countries. The negotiations are held between the delegates of the various creditor and debtor countries. See also moratorium.

parity / Parität / parité / parità 
Exchange rate between two currencies. Dollar parity, for instance, is the price of a currency expressed in dollars. See also gold parity, purchasing power parity, parity price.

parity price / Paritätskurs / cours de parité / corso alla pari 
The base price at which US stocks are traded on the Swiss Exchange. Equals the share price on the NYSE translated at the current exchange rate.

partial acceptance / Teilakzept / acceptation partielle / accettazione parziale 
An acceptance which varies from the terms of the bill itself, e.g. in that it calls for payment of only part of the amount. See also bill of exchange.

partial convertibility / Teilkonvertibilität / convertibilité limitée / convertibilità parziale 
Partial convertibility means that a currency can be converted into other currencies at least to a certain extent. See also full convertibility, convertibility.

partial dividend / Abschlagsdividende/ dividende intérimaire / dividendo interinale 
See interim dividend.

participating bond / Participating Bond / obligation participante / participating bond 
A corporate bond that, in addition to a fixed interest rate, offers the right to a share in net profit.

participation capital 
Synonym for participation certificate capital.

participation certificate / Partizipationsschein / bon de participation / buono di partecipazione 
Abbr.: PC. A security (registered or bearer) incorporating the right to participate in the ownership (equity) of a corporation, with some legally prescribed rights but without other rights granted to shareholders (e.g. the right to vote at shareholders' meetings). In Switzerland, participation certificates serve a similar function to dividend right certificates and are issued against cash contribution for the purpose of raising capital. As is the case with capital stock, participation certificates form part of the equity capital of a company. The minimum par value in Switzerland is CHF 0.01.

participation certificate capital / Partizipationskapital / capital-participation / capitale di partecipazione 
Also: participation capital. Capital raised in addition to a company's share capital, as provided for in its articles of association. Legally governed in Switzerland by OR 656b. Participation capital may not exceed two times share capital. No minimum capital or minimum contribution (unlike with share capital). 


passive management / passives Management / gestion passive / gestione passiva 
Portfolio management strategy where the manager tracks a benchmark index while making as few transactions as possible in order to minimize transaction costs.

payable in advance / pränumerando / payable par anticipation / pagabile anticipatamente 
Expression denoting that interest is payable at the beginning of the interest period (year, six months, etc.). Also used for any other payments made ahead of time (e.g. rents). Opposite: payable in arrears.

payable in arrears / postnumerando / payable à terme échu / pagabile posticipatamente 
Term used to denote that interest is payable (and credited) at the end of the interest period (year, six months, etc.). Also used for any other retrospective payments (e.g. salaries). Opposite: payable in advance.

pay-as-you-go system / Umlageverfahren / système de la répartition / sistema di ripartizione 
Financing method used by pension funds under which employees' contributions during a particular period cover the benefits paid out to the retirement beneficiaries during that period. The Swiss state old age and surviving dependants' pension scheme (AHV) is a pay-as-you-go system. Opposite: funded system.

payee / Wechselnehmer / preneur d'un effet / prenditore 
Also referred to as the recipient. Person or company to whom or to whose order the amount written on a bill, cheque or negotiable instrument by the drawer is to be paid. 

payer 
Synonym for drawee (1).

paying agent / Zahlstelle / domicile de paiement / domicilio di pagamento 
Agent or bank appointed by the issuer of securities to carry out all ongoing transactions that arise for the owners of the said securities, e.g. payment of dividends and interest coupons.

paying office 
Synonym for paying agent.

paying-in slip / Einzahlungsschein / bulletin de versement / polizza di versamento 
Form which can be used at either a bank or a post office to make a deposit or transfer money in favour of a recipient. See also bank payment slip with reference number. 

payment (of securities subscribed) / Liberierung / libération / liberazione 
Payment for the securities allotted under subscriptions to new or conversion issues. In the case of equities, this can be either full or partial, depending on whether only part or all of the share's par value is paid. See also non-paid-up capital.

payment guarantee / Zahlungsgarantie / garantie de paiement / garanzia di pagamento 
A payment guarantee secures any claims by the seller on the buyer for payment of the contract price by the agreed date. Often used in the import-export business instead of a documentary credit where delivery is against 'open account'. The guarantee amount is as a rule the contract price or a part thereof. The term mostly corresponds to the period allowed for payment, plus 15 days for example. See also bank guarantee.

payment order / (1) Zahlungsauftrag (2) Anweisung / (1) ordre de paiement (2) assignation / (1) ordine di pagamento (2) assegno 
(1) An order to a bank from a customer instructing it to make a payment in favour of a third party.
(2) Authorization to transfer money, securities or other fungibles for the account of the authorizing party to another person entitled to receive the same in his own name (Article 466, Swiss Federal Code of Obligations). Article 1147 stipulates that payment orders not designated as bills of exchange but made out expressly to the order of a beneficiary and otherwise meeting the requirements of a drawn bill are bill-like payment orders.

payment transfers / Zahlungsverkehr / trafic des paiements / operazioni di pagamento 
Also: payment operations. Money debt payments. Payment transfers are said to be cashless when effected as accounting entries only, i.e. without transferring physical money.

payoff diagram / Pay-off-Diagramm / diagramme pay-off / diagramma di pay off 
Also: payout diagram; payoff profile. Graph representing the correlation between the amount paid out for a derivative on maturity and the spot price of the underlying.

payout diagram 
Synonym for payoff diagram.

payoff profile 
Synonym for payoff diagram.

pay-out ratio / Gewinnausschüttungsquote / coefficient de couverture du dividende / rapporto dividendo/utile 
Also: payout ratio. A financial statistic expressing the ratio of cash flow to distributed earnings as a percentage of net profit. It indicates what proportion of the earnings generated in a given year were actually distributed.
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PC 
Abbr. for participation certificate.
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PEG ratio / PEG-Ratio / ratio PEG / coefficiente PEG 
Abbr. for price/earnings growth. Price/earnings ratio divided by projected average earnings growth as a percentage.

penny stock / Penny-Stock / penny stock / penny stock 
Stock issued at a price of less than one dollar, usually for the purpose of attracting buyers who feel that they are getting a bargain by being able to buy a lot of shares for little money. Usually highly speculative shares and often of questionable value.

people's share / action populaire / Volksaktie / azione popolare 
Also: widely held share.
(1) Share issued in Germany in connection with privatizations of public sector companies and offered to a broad section of the population.
(2) In Switzerland: share which is widely held by the general public. See also low-priced share.

PER / KGV / PER / P/U 
Abbr. for price/earnings ratio.

per capita income / Pro-Kopf-Einkommen / revenu par tête / reddito pro capite 
A measure representative of a country's wealth, generally arrived at by dividing the gross national product, gross domestic product or national income by its population. Per capita income is widely used to compare the state of a country's economy over time or relative to other countries.

performance / Performance / performance / performance 
(1) Change in the price of a security.
(2) Change in an index covering part or all of a market.
(3) Change in the income generated by a portfolio.
(4) Effect produced by the investment policy employed by an investment advisor or a fund management company measured against the investment targets.

performance bond / Performance-Bond / performance bond / performance bond 
Bond, usually issued by a bank, guaranteeing specific monetary payment to a beneficiary if the purchaser or maker fails to perform or acts in violation of a contract. In the United States, a performance bond puts the issuer under obligation to render the performance himself. See also bank guarantee.

permanent holdings / dauernde Beteiligungen / participations permanentes / partecipazioni permanenti 
Long-term investment in another company, e.g. through the acquisition of shares (an equity interest). Unlike investing in fixed-interest securities, primarily to benefit from the expected return and/or possible capital gains, permanent holdings aim to exert an influence on the management of the company in which the equity interest is held or to achieve similar objectives. Depending on the circumstances, permanent holdings may have the object of securing a certain share of a company's equity (minority or majority holding). Article 25 of the Swiss Banking Law Ordinance requires that permanent holdings of the Swiss banks be stated separately from other assets carried in the balance sheet. Article 25c stipulates that supplementary notes must be prepared giving details of permanent holdings.

perpetual annuity / ewige Rente / rente perpétuelle / rendita perpetua 
Government bond that need never be redeemed (but may be, at the discretion of the government); only the payment of interest is guaranteed. Issued most commonly in France and the United Kingdom, where such bonds are known as consols (short for consolidated annuities). For some years large companies have also issued bonds and notes without fixed maturities (perpetual floating rate notes). 

perpetual bond / ewige Anleihe / emprunt perpétuel / prestito perpetuo 
Bond with no maturity date. Perpetual bonds make regular interest payments, but never redeem the principal amount. To get back the capital invested in such bonds, investors must sell them on an exchange.

personal account / Privatkonto / compte privé / conto privato 
Bank account operated as a current account by private individuals with special interest and withdrawal conditions. See also savings account.

personal identification number 
See PIN.

personal loan / (1) Kleinkredit (2) Personalkredit (3) Privatkredit / (1) petit crédit (2) prêt personnel (3) crédit privé / (1) piccolo credito (2) prestito personale (3) credito privato 
(1) Loan for a relatively small amount, repayable in instalments and usually granted to salaried employees for personal consumption and durable goods purchases. Personal loans can be used at the borrower's discretion and not tied to a specific purpose. See also consumer credit.
(2) Credit granted to a private person for non-commercial purposes solely on the basis of that person's creditworthiness, income and financial circumstances. See also unsecured credit.
(3) Loan granted to private persons for non-commercial purposes, e.g. consumer credit. The amount and term of a personal loan depend on the needs of the borrower.

personal loan company / Privatkreditinstitut / établissement de crédit privé / istituto di credito privato 
Credit institution specializing in granting personal or consumer loans and financing instalment purchasing (hire purchase in UK).
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phone banking / Phone-Banking / phonebanking / phone banking 
Also: telephone banking. Service offered to customers to check the status of their accounts or issue payments or stock market orders over the phone as part of a comprehensive service package available 24 hours a day. See also electronic banking.


Top

Pi

pillar 3a / Säule 3a / prévoyance liée / pilastro 3a 
Component of Switzerland's three-pillar pension system. While contributions to pillar 1 (state pension) and minimum provisions under pillar 2 (occupational pensions) are required by law (compulsory savings), pillar 3 pension plans are optional private schemes. They are divided into pillar 3a schemes (tax-privileged) and pillar 3b schemes (unrestricted access savings). For persons in gainful employment, payments into pillar 3a schemes are tax-privileged up to an annual maximum.

PIN / PIN-Code / code NIP / codice PIN 
Abbr. for personal identification number, and also referred to ungrammatically as PIN number or PIN code. Personal alphanumeric code for the electronic identification of a customer using an account card, e.g. to withdraw cash from an ATM.
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place of payment / Zahlungsort / lieu du règlement / luogo di pagamento 
Also: place of performance. Place where the debtor is to fulfil his/her obligation to pay.

placement commission 
Synonym for selling commission.

placement on commission / kommissionsweise Platzierung / placement à la commission / collocamento su commissione 
The placement of securities by the issuer at his/her own risk. The banks act as subscription agents and obtain a placement commission for any subscriptions effected through their efforts. See also: firm underwriting. 


plain vanilla bond / Plain-Vanilla-Bond / obligation «plain vanilla» / plain vanilla bond 
Bond issued without conversion or warrant clauses but with a fixed term to maturity, fixed interest rate, regular interest payments on dates specified in advance and unconditional repayment of the bond amount at maturity. See straight bond. «Plain vanilla» is also used in connection with other financial products (e.g., options, swaps) to indicate a standard form without special characteristics. 

plastic money / Plastikgeld / monnaie plastique / moneta di plastica 
Slang term for all plastic cards, such as VISA, MasterCard and Maestro card, used to make cashless payments.

platinum 
See precious metals.

pledge / Verpfändung / nantissement / costituzione in pegno 
Transfer of assets to secure payment of an obligation, but generally without transfer of title or ownership, on the basis of a pledge agreement. In the event of default, the creditor can realize the pledged assets and satisfy his claims from the proceeds (execution). In the banking business, pledging securities is the most common credit collateralizing transaction, especially in the case of current account credits and loans. See also Lombard loan, collateral loan.

pledged collateral / Faustpfand / gage / pegno manuale 
Valuable assets, such as securities, merchandise, etc., deposited and pledged as security for the repayment of a loan.
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PMI 
Abbr. for Purchasing Managers' Index.
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point of sale 
See POS terminal.

poison pill / Poison-Pill / poison pill / poison pill 
Poison pills are any type of defensive maneouvre which a company might try in order to protect itself against unwanted takeover bids, e.g. stock issues, special distributions, spin-offs and management pay-outs.

pool / Pool / pool / pool 
A community of persons or companies with common interests which combine to carry out common measures, contribute to a common fund of resources or further a common effort. The rights and duties of pool members are usually governed by a contract. Examples: gold pool, shareholders' pool.

portfolio / Portefeuille / portefeuille / portafoglio 
(1) Holdings of bills and similar paper managed or administered by a bank on behalf of a customer.
(2) Selection of securities held by a bank in a safekeeping account for administration or discretionary management on behalf of a customer or on its own account, or held and managed by the investor him/herself.
(3) All securities (and other assets) owned by a person or company.

portfolio analysis / Depotanalyse / analyse de portefeuille / analisi di portafoglio 
Analysis of the securities in a safekeeping account according to market value, income as well as the risk distribution by industry, country and currency. The portfolio analysis is part of the advisory service and asset management.

portfolio investment / Portfolio-Investition / investissement de portefeuille / investimento di portafoglio 
Investments in tradable securities and book-entry securities of foreign issuers. The key motivation is to earn a return and not to exert an influence on the company's business operations. Examples include foreign bonds, money market paper, equities and fund units. Investments in derivatives are not generally regarded as portfolio investments these days.

portfolio management / Vermögensverwaltung / gestion de fortune / gestione patrimoniale 
Also: asset management, wealth management. The management of a portfolio or certain assets by a portfolio manager assigned this function on the basis of a management mandate. The banks perform portfolio management services in connection with their custody activities. See also managed account, sealed safekeeping account, open safekeeping account.

portfolio mortgage / Portfolio-Hypothek / prêt hypothécaire Portfolio / ipoteca Portfolio 
Adjustable-rate mortgage split into several fixed-rate mortgages each of which is renewed on maturity for the same term. The rate of interest on a portfolio mortgage is calculated as a moving average of the rates on the component fixed-rate mortgages. The advantage is that the rate of interest is smoothed out, with minimized risk of fluctuation.

portfolio representative / Depotvertreter / représentant dépositaire / rappresentante di titoli in deposito 
Bank or professional asset manager who exercises the voting rights arising from shares under its custody or management in accordance with the instructions of the shareholder. The portfolio representative must request instructions from the shareholder prior to each annual general meeting (OR 689d).

portfolio valuation / Depotbewertung / estimation de portefeuille / valutazione del deposito 
Valuation of all securities held in a safekeeping account at current market or taxable value prices. See also portfolio analysis. 

POS terminal / POS-Terminal / terminal point de vente / terminale POS 
End-device that can be used when making cashless payments for goods and services in shops. The funds can be debited directly from the customer's account (e.g. when using a Maestro card with PIN). POS stands for point of sale.

position / Position / position / posizione 
In derivatives or securities trading, a particular investment that is entered into in a security. See long position, short position.

positive correlation / positive Korrelation/ corrélation positive / correlazione positiva 
See correlation.

possessory lien / Retentionsrecht / droit de rétention / diritto di ritenzione 
The legal right to retain property until a claim is met. Possession must be continuous, rightful and not for a particular purpose. Regulated in Switzerland by 895 ff. of the Swiss Civil Code.

postal check / Postcheck / chèque postal / assegno postale 
Special order used by the holder of a postal checking account to dispose over the balance in his account and make payments.

postal giro transfer / Postgiro / virement postal / postagiro 
Cashless transfer of money between different postal checking accounts.

postal money order / Postanweisung / mandat postal / vaglia postale 
Instrument used for paying (transferring) money to a person or entity that does not maintain a postal checking account.

postal payment order / Zahlungsanweisung / assignation de paiement / disposizione di pagamento 
In Switzerland: an order by the owner of a postal checking account to make payment to a beneficiary who himself is not a postal checking accountholder. It is also possible nowadays to use an assignment cheque for such purposes. 

Postcard / Postcard / Postcard / Postcard 
A card issued by Switzerland's PostFinance that can be used to withdraw cash (worldwide), or as a form of payment at shops, restaurants, gas stations, etc. (within Switzerland).

post-market trading / nachbörslicher Handel / après Bourse / dopoborsa 
Also: after-hours trading. Unofficial securities trading after the close of a stock exchange. Normally takes place between banks via electronic information systems. See also over-the-counter trading.
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practices / Usanz / usance / uso 
Customs or practices in trading or business that have become established over the years, e.g. stock exchange practice.

precious metals / Edelmetalle / métaux précieux / metalli preziosi 
Collective term for the elements gold, silver as well as the group of platinum metals: platinum, palladium, iridium, rhodium, osmium and ruthenium. Precious metals are characterized by their chemical durability, valuable physical properties and attractive appearance. Only gold, silver, platinum and palladium are used for capital investments; they are traded worldwide around the clock in spot and forward markets. Precious metal options serve as hedging instruments.

preference share (GB); preferred share (USA) / Vorzugsaktie; Prioritätsaktie / action privilégiée / azione privilegiata 
A share with preference rights, i.e. which entitles the holder to a certain preferential treatment, primarily with regard to the distribution of income (preferred dividends), the distribution of assets on liquidation and exercising subscription rights. Opposite: deferred share. See also cumulative preference share.

preferred claim under bankruptcy 
Synonym for senior claim.

premium / (1) Agio (2) (4) (5) Prämie (3) Reuegeld / (1) agio (1) (2) (4) (5) prime (3) dédit / (1) aggio (2) (4) (5) premio (3) pena di recesso 
(1) In stock exchange trading, the difference between the par value and the higher market value of a security expressed as a percentage of the par value. Similarly in forex trading, the difference between a forward and spot rate, where the forward rate is the higher.
(2) Options: synonym for option price.
(3) Penalty payable if one party to a contract withdraws from a transaction.
(4) The amount of money payable for an insurance policy.
(5) The amount by which the price of a security exceeds its peers.

premium deal / Prämiengeschäft / opération à prime / operazione a premio 
Special type of forward or option deal in which the buyer or seller can withdraw from concluding the transaction by paying a premium agreed upon in advance. In Switzerland, only buyers may withdraw. See also abandon.

premium for put and call options 
See put and call option.

pre-opening / Voreröffnung / préouverture / preapertura 
On Swiss Exchange: period between the close of trading on a given trading day and the opening of trading on the following trading day. During this period, orders may be entered into the order book but will not be matched.

price / Kurs / cours / corso 
Securities and merchandise are quoted at a market or selling price. Foreign exchange is quoted in rates, not prices.

price for tax purposes / Steuerkurs / cours fiscal / corso fiscale 
The price of a security for tax purposes. The Swiss Federal Tax Administration compiles a list with the taxable values for a wide range of securities, and these are binding for tax assessment purposes. In Switzerland, the price for tax purposes corresponds to the average of the prices recorded in December.

price rally 
Synonym for rally.

price stabilization / Kurspflege / soutenir le cours / sostegno della quotazione 
Prevention of accidental large-scale fluctuations in the prices of shares or bonds by selling such securities in the event of excessive price rises and purchasing them when prices come under extremely heavy pressure. See also support purchase.

price/book value / Kurs-Buchwert-Verhältnis / rapport cours/valeur comptable / rapporto prezzo/valore contabile 
Abbr. P/B. The ratio of the stock market price to the book value per share. If the value is below 1, this suggests the share is undervalued.

price/cash flow ratio / Kurs/Cashflow-Verhältnis / rapport cours/cash-flow / rapporto prezzo/cash-flow 
Ratio of the share price to the cash flow of a company. The price of the share is divided by the cash flow per share. See also: price/earnings ratio.

price/earnings ratio / Kurs-Gewinn-Verhältnis / rapport cours/bénéfice / rapporto prezzo/utili 
Abbr. P/E or PER. Relationship (ratio) of the share price to the net profit of a company. It is calculated by dividing the market price of the shares by the earnings per share. The price/earnings ratio is one of the most widely used indicators for the assessment of stocks.

primary market / Primärmarkt / marché primaire / mercato primario 
The market on which new securities are launched and enter into circulation. See also secondary market.

prime letter of credit 
See back-to-back documentary credit.

prime rate / (1) Leitzins (2) Prime Rate / prime rate / prime rate 
(1) Synonym for key interest rate.
(2) The rate of interest charged by US/Canadian banks for first-class or prime short-dated commercial paper.

principal bank 
See house bank.

private bank / Privatbank / banque privée / banca privata 
Banking institution in private hands (as opposed to public sector banks, e.g. Swiss cantonal banks and German Landesbanken), where the owner or partners are liable with their personal assets. Under Swiss law, the expression «private bank» theoretically refers only to institutions with the legal form of an individual proprietorship, partnership firm or limited partnership. They exist primarily in Geneva, Basel and Zurich.

private banker / Privatbankier / banquier privé / banchiere privato 
In Switzerland: Private bankers are the owners or partners of a private bank, as defined by the Swiss Banking Act, who are liable with their personal assets. The term is a protected mark. SNB statistics show that there are still 15 such banking institutions in Switzerland. The private bankers are organized into the Swiss Private Bankers Association.

private banking / Private Banking / private banking / private banking 
Investment counselling and portfolio asset management services offered to international private and institutional clients.

private discount rate 
Synonym for prime rate, market discount rate.

private equity / Private Equity / private equity / private equity 
Capital that is invested in an unlisted company, either to assist at the start-up or growth stage or to resolve succession or ownership problems. See also venture capital.

private equity finance / Beteiligungsfinanzierung / financement par prise de participations / finanziamento di partecipazioni 
Equity financing provided by the bank to newly established or fast-growing companies with a sound credit rating.

private equity investing 
Synonym for merchant banking.

private placement / Privatplatzierung / placement privé / collocamento privato 
(1) In Switzerland: the sale of medium-term notes, which were formerly only placed privately. Under current legislation, an issue prospectus has to be published.
(2) On the Euromarket: the placing of short to long-dated notes with a select group of investors (international private placements).

pro-cyclical / prozyklisch / procyclique / prociclico 
Trading in accordance with a trend. As a share rises, procyclical investors follow the herd, buying the share to benefit from the trend momentum. Opposite: anticyclical.

productivity / Produktivität / productivité / produttività 
A measure of the efficiency of production in a company or an economy.

professional traders / Berufshandel / opérateurs professionnels / operatori professionali 
Banks and brokers directly active in the securities markets.

profit / Gewinn / bénéfice / utile 
The income remaining after deduction of all expenses during a specific period. In the case of banks, total income less interest paid is considered gross operating earnings, whereas total gross income minus all operating and non-operating expenses is called the net or clear profit. The disposable net profit consists of the net profit for the year plus any surplus carried forward from the previous financial year.

profit and loss account (GB); income statement (USA) / Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung / compte de pertes et profits / conto profitti e perdite 
A statement detailing and balancing the expense items and income items of a company for the past financial year.

profit warning / Gewinnwarnung / avertissement sur bénéfices / allarme sugli utili 
Announcement that a company's expected profits are likely to be less than forecast.

profitability / Rentabilität / rentabilité / redditività 
Also: return on equity. The success of a company measured in relation to the capital employed.

profit-taking / Gewinnmitnahme / prise de bénéfice / presa di beneficio 
Realizing a stock market profit by either selling the securities at a price which is higher than the cost price or, in the case of a short sale, by repurchasing the securities at a price which is lower than the selling price.

project finance / Projektfinanzierung / financement de projets / finanziamento di progetti 
Complex financing programme for an independent economic unit. The companies behind the project bear only part of the risk, collateral is restricted to project assets, and debts are paid exclusively out of the project cash flow. Financing is usually for major projects and is provided by international banking consortiums.

prolongation / Prolongation / prorogation / proroga 
Also: renewal. Extension of the maturity or running period of a transaction or an order. If a stock exchange transaction is not executed at the performance date as agreed but further extended, the act of postponement is known as a prolongation (carry-over transaction). Postponing the due date of a bill is called bill renewal or prolongation.

promissory note / Eigenwechsel / billet à ordre / pagherò 
Written unconditional promise to pay, issued and signed by the debtor himself. The latter undertakes to pay on demand at a fixed or determinable future date a certain sum of money to the order of a specified person, or to bearer.

promissory note issued as security / Kautionswechsel / effet de garantie / cambiale data in cauzione 
Promissory note or bill of exchange issed to secure an obligation. Enables summary bill enforcement procedure in the case of non-performance by the debtor.

proportionate consolidation / Quotenkonsolidierung / consolidation proportionnelle / consolidamento proporzionale 
In contrast to full consolidation, a method whereby the results of subsidiaries are consolidated in the group accounts on a pro rata basis according to the size of the group's equity interest. Proportionate consolidation is used in particular for the consolidation of joint ventures.

prospectus / Prospekt / prospectus / prospetto 
A document issued by a company or public authority planning to float a bond or shares. As well as describing the modalities of the issue, the profit outlook and the securities to be issued, it also contains an invitation to subscribe. See also prospectus liability.

prospectus liability / Prospekthaftung / responsabilité des auteurs du prospectus / responsabilità degli autori di programmi e manifesti 
Liability towards shareholders and bondholders on the part of the authors and corporate bodies drafting a prospectus. Legislation in many countries embraces all losses caused by intentionally or negligently supplying inaccurate information or information which fails to meet the legal requirements.

protest / Protest / protêt / protesto 
Synonym for protest of a bill of exchange.

protest of a bill of exchange / Wechselprotest / protêt d'effet de change / protesto cambiario 
Formal written notice that the payer has refused to make payment. The bearer of a bill of exchange files such a protest in cases where the payer cannot honour a bill on the due date and cannot obtain a prolongation from the issuer. This protest gives the bearer of the bill the right to demand payment of the amount of the bill, interest since the due date, protest costs and other expenses as well as compensation from a previous owner or the issuer by way of recourse to the endorser.

provisions / Rückstellungen / provisions / accantonamenti 
Liability items in the balance sheet charged to the profit and loss account to cover future liabilities or anticipated losses. Frequently listed under other liabilities in the balance sheet. Provisions for risks in the lending business and in foreign exchange trading are of particular significance for banks. Specific provisions are set aside to cover particular risks, while contingency (del credere) reserves or provisions cover general expected losses which cannot yet be specified in detail. Contrary to reserves, provisions are not allocated from the net profit but from operating profit.

proxy / Vertretungsvollmacht / pouvoir de représentation / procura 
Authorization to represent a client on the basis of a power of attorney.

proxy voting by custodians on behalf of customers whose shares they keep / Depotstimmrecht / droit de vote des actions en dépôt / diritto di voto per azioni in deposito 
Proxy voting right exercised at annual general meetings by the custodian bank on the basis of a power of attorney. See also proxy. 
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public company 
Also: company limited by shares. Legal entity whose equity is publicly traded (mostly in the form of shares) and which is as a rule listed on one or several stock exchanges. 

public offer / öffentliches Kaufangebot / offre publique d'achat (OPA) / offerta pubblica di acquisto 
Under the Swiss Stock Exchange Act, buyers acquiring more than one-third of the voting rights of a listed company via a takeover are required to offer to buy the shares of all other shareholders at the same price. Companies can make a provision in their articles of association opting out of this requirement or increasing the threshold to 49% (opting up).

public sector bond 
Synonym for government bond.

Purchasing Managers Index / Einkaufsmanagerindex / indice des directeurs d'achat / indice dei direttori d'acquisto 
Survey of purchasing managers of various companies in different sectors conducted and published on a monthly basis. The Purchasing Managers Index is regarded as a leading indicator for economic trends. In the US the ISM index (or Purchasing Managers Index PMI) is produced and published by the Institute for Supply Management (ISM). In addition, since 1997 the ISM also publishes the Purchasing Managers Index service sector; in the Eurozone a Purchasing Managers Index is published by Reuter's.

purchasing power / Kaufkraft / pouvoir d'achat / potere d'acquisto 
The number of units of one or several types of goods that can be exchanged for one unit of money. In simpler terms, purchasing power is the ratio between money and goods, or how much money will buy in a specific country.

purchasing power parity / Kaufkraftparität / parité du pouvoir d'achat / parità del potere d'acquisto 
Abbr.: PPP. «Effective» external value of a currency determined by comparing different countries' relative price levels. For example, a basket of goods costing USD 100 in the United States and CHF 160 in Switzerland would give a parity rate of CHF 1.60 per USD. Proponents of PPP theory hold the view that an exchange rate will move in the direction of purchasing power parity over the long term or at least reflect the differing price trends.

put / Put / option de vente / put 
Also: put option. An option that confers on the buyer the right to sell the underlying. Opposite: call.

put and call option / Stellagegeschäft / stellage / stellage 
Option transaction where the buyer of securities obtains the right, in exchange for a premium specified in advance, to demand delivery of the securities at a higher price agreed upon when the contract was made or to deliver them at a specified lower price. Put and call options are in some regards comparable with a straddle.

put on / anziehen / grimper / lievitare 
Common stock market term for «to rise», e.g. of securities or currencies. See also bull market.
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quanto / Quanto / quanto / quanto 
Option with a fixed exchange rate between two currencies at the beginning of the maturity. When the option is exercised, the premium is paid out in the foreign currency. Quantos exist solely as a component of another option. They allow investors to speculate in underlyings denominated in a foreign currency and eliminate the foreign currency risk that would otherwise exist. 

quarterly dividend / Quartalsdividende / dividende trimestriel / dividendo trimestrale 
An interim dividend, paid out quarterly.

quasi-bank / Parabank / établissement parabancaire / Istituto parabancario 
Institution which offers bank-like services, e.g. asset management and loans, but which does not have a banking licence and is thus not accountable to the supervisory authorities.

quorum / Quorum / quorum / quorum 
The minimum number of members of an organized body legally competent to transact business in the absence of other members.

quotation list / Kursblatt / cote des valeurs mobilières / listino di borsa 
Publication listing the stock exchange prices of shares and bonds.

quote / Notierung / cotation / quotazione 
Also: quotation. The market price of an officially listed security. The price is determined during trading hours and is published in the official price list and in the daily papers and other media. 
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raider / Raider / raider / raider 
Synonym for black knight.

rally / Rally / rally / rally 
Also: price rally. Fast, strong uptrend in prices in the financial markets. See also bull market, boom.

range option 
Synonym for collar.

range warrant / Range-Warrant / option range accrual / range warrant 
Also called a corridor warrant, hamster warrant, range option or range accrual. It enables the investor to bet on an underlying remaining within a specific range. The longer the price stays within this range, the higher the amount paid out on maturity.

rate for advances against collateral / Lombardsatz / taux lombard / tasso lombard 
Also: rate for advances on securities. Interest rate applied where securities are pledged as collateral for loans. See also Lombard loan.

rating / Rating / notation / rating 
Classification of the credit quality of an individual, firm, bank or state, or of securities issued by them. Awarded by banks or specialized rating agencies.

rating agency / Rating-Agentur / agence de notation / agenzia di rating 
A company that specializes in assigning ratings, e.g. Standard & Poor's, Moody's.

raw material / Rohstoff / matière première / materia prima 
Also: commodity. Unprocessed commodity obtained from primary production.
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RBA-Holding / RBA-Holding / RBA-Holding / RBA-Holding 
The umbrella organization of the Swiss regional banks, founded in 1994 with the aim of strengthening the regional banks and promoting collaboration between them. RBA-Holding performs central functions for its members relating to IT, bundling of business volumes, service standards and the purchasing of professional services. It also acts as a monitoring body. Do not confuse with the Reserve Bank of Australia (also RBA).
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readily marketable assets 
Synonym for easily realizable assets.

real asset / Sachwert / valeur réelle / valore reale 
Also: non-fixed-income asset, tangible asset. Assets with a lasting value (e.g. real estate, precious metals, inventories of commodities or goods, shares). As a rule, an investment in real assets offers better protection against inflation and greater security against the depreciation of a currency over the long term than nominal claims (e.g. bonds). They are, however, subject to greater fluctuations in value. See also real asset clause.

real asset clause / Sachwertklausel / clause valeur réelle / clausola valore reale 
Clause linking the amount of a monetary payment to the value of a real asset or to changes in the price of real assets. Depending on the type of link, a distinction is for example drawn between a gold clause and an index clause.

real estate / Immobilien / immobilier / immobili 
Asset class for investments in property or in companies and investment instruments that conduct real estate transactions or invest in real estate.

real estate fund / Immobilienfonds / fonds immobilier / fondo immobiliare 
Investment fund whose assets are placed in buildings and/or vacant land, the overriding principle being to spread risks geographically and to invest in a number of diverse properties.

Real Estate Investment Trust / Real Estate Investment Trust / Real Estate Investment Trust / Real Estate Investment Trust 
Abbreviation: REIT. An exchange-listed US real estate company, at least 75% of whose capital is invested in the US real estate market. REITs enjoy special tax benefits (e.g. exemption from corporation tax). A distinction can be drawn between equity REITs, which themselves invest directly in large real estate projects such as hotels, shopping centres (malls) and office blocks, and mortgage REITs, which only make mortgages available to fund such construction projects.

real GDP / reales Bruttoinlandprodukt / produit intérieur brut réel / prodotto interno lordo reale 
Gross domestic product less inflation.

real interest rate / Realzins / taux d'intérêt réel / interesse reale 
Interest rate calculated by subtracting the annual inflation rate from the stated (or nominal) interest rate. If inflation is higher than the interest rate, then real interest rates are negative.

real wages / Reallohn / salaire réel / salario reale 
Nominal wages less inflation.

real return / reale Rendite / rendement réel / rendimento reale / 
Nominal return less inflation.

receivables / Debitoren / débiteurs / debitori 
Also: advances, due from banks and customers. In general, that which is due and collectable. The total amounts due on goods sold, services rendered or money loaned. In bank balance sheets, unsecured current account loans (overdrafts). Opposite: deposits. 

received bill of lading / Übernahmekonnossement / connaissement pour embarquement / polizza ricevuta per l'imbarco 
Words stamped onto a bill of lading to indicate that the shipowner has received the goods for shipment. It does not indicate that the goods have already been shipped.

received for shipment bill of lading 
Synonym for received bill of lading.

recession / Rezession / récession / recessione 
The stage in the economic cycle at which activity declines, characterized by a drop in real terms in the national product.

recommended list / Anlageliste / liste de placement / lista degli investimenti raccomandati 
List published periodically by a bank containing a selection of securities recommended for investment.

recourse / Regress / recours / regresso 
Right of a person to whom a cheque, bill of exchange, promissory note or other negotiable instrument has been endorsed to recover payment from the endorser if the original borrower defaults.

redemption price / Rücknahmepreis / prix de rachat / prezzo di riscatto 
Also: repurchase price. The price at which an investment fund is obliged to repurchase fund units. The redemption price is charged to the fund's assets and corresponds to the net asset value less any redemption commission and (in the case of Swiss investment funds) the expenses incurred in connection with the sale of investments

rediscount / Rediskont / réescompte / risconto 
Literally, to discount again. To sell or discount a negotiable instrument which has already been discounted once. For example, the Swiss commercial banks are able to rediscount bills which they have already discounted at the Swiss National Bank.

reference currency / Referenzwährung / monnaie de référence / moneta di riferimento 
Also: base currency.
(1) Currency in which an investor thinks and calculates.
(2) Currency in which the performance of an investment product is measured.

reference index / Referenzindex / indice de référence / indice di riferimento 
Synonym for benchmark.

refinancing / Refinanzierung / refinancement / rifinanziamento 
Raising of funds by a bank to finance its own lending business.

reflation / Reflation / reflation / reflazione 
Intentional reversal of deflation through aggressive monetary policy easing.

regional bank / Regionalbank / banque régionale / banca regionale 
In Switzerland, generally a small bank whose operations are restricted to a specific region. In the nineties, the majority of regional banks came under the aegis of RBA-Holding.

regional fund / Regionenfonds / fonds spécifique à une région / fondo regionale 
Investment fund which invests in a specific geographic region or economic area.

register of mortgage holders / Gläubigerregister / registre des créanciers / registro dei creditori 
List kept by the Office of the Land Register in Swiss communities in which each holder of a lien on real estate (or each mortgagor and creditor under a mortgage note) can ask to be entered.

registered lien / Registerpfandrecht / droit de gage enregistré / diritto di pegno registrato 
Lien on movable property without transfer of title to the pledgee. Instead the lien (pledge) is entered in a register, and the pledged item itself remains the property of the pledgor. Applied to the pledging of livestock, ships and airplanes as collateral.

registered mortgage note / Namenschuldbrief / cédule hypothécaire nominative / cartella ipotecaria nominativa 
A mortgage note made out to order, under which only the party named on the mortgage note can claim the rights arising from the mortgage note.

registered security / Namenpapier / titre nominatif / titolo nominativo 
A security which is made out in the name of the owner and can be transferred only by assignment. It differs from instruments made out to order, such as bills of exchange, checks, registered shares, promissory notes, etc., which name a beneficiary and are transferable by endorsement.

registered share / Namenaktie / action nominative / azione nominativa 
A share made out in the name of the owner who is entered in the company share register. Opposite: bearer share.

registered share with restricted transferability / vinkulierte Namenaktie / action nominative liée / azione nominativa vincolata 
A registered share which can only be transferred subject to restrictions. Its purpose is to provide better protection against an undesired change in the share capital structure. See also restricted transferability.

reinvestment / Thesaurierung / thésaurisation des revenus / capitalizzazione 
(1) Continuous reinvestment of income by an investment fund. See also accumulation fund.
(2) Continuous reinvestment of income by a company for self-financing purposes.

reinvestment discount / Wiederanlagerabatt / rabais de réinvestissement / sconto di reinvestimento 
Discount on the issuing price granted by investment funds to customers reinvesting income proceeds to acquire fund units of the same type.

REIT 
Abbreviation for Real Estate Investment Trust.

Reka check / Reka-Check / chèque Reka / assegno Reka 
Voucher created by the Schweizerische Reisekasse (Swiss Travel Fund), sold at a discount by many companies and associations to employees or members for the purpose of promoting family tourism within Switzerland. Accepted as payment medium by many Swiss railway and transport enterprises, hotels and other establishments in the tourist field.

remittance / Rimesse / remise / rimessa 
Sum of money forwarded from one person or one entity to another, either by cash or by negotiable instrument, usually in payment of an invoice for goods or services purchased.

renewal / Novation / novation / novazione 
The act or process of transforming or extending a credit agreement, whereby the old debt is cancelled by the establishment of a new one. With current accounts this can be achieved by determining the negative balance and having this acknowledged.

renewal coupon / Talon / talon / cedola di affogliamento 
Also: talon. Certificate attached to the coupon sheet of a share or bond and exchangeable for a new set of coupons.

rental deposit / Mieterkaution / caution de loyer / cauzione di affitto 
Synonym for tenant's guarantee.

reorganization / Sanierung / assainissement / risanamento 
Also: reform. Restoring the economic and financial viability of a company through such measures as tighter control over its financial operations, reducing the capital stock (share capital) or raising new capital resources.

repatriation / Repatriierung / rapatriement / rimpatrio 
The act of returning assets invested in other countries to the funds' country of origin.

repay / abdecken / amortir / ammortare 
To settle a debt through repayment.

repayment / Tilgung / amortissement / ammortamento 
Also: redemption. Repayment of a debt.

replacement reserves / Wiederbeschaffungsreserven / réserves de remplacement / riserve di sostituzione 
See undisclosed reserves.

replacement value / Wiederbeschaffungswert / valeur de remplacement / valore di rimpiazzo 
Price that the bank would have to pay on the market in order to conclude an equivalent replacement transaction if a counterparty were to pull out. The current replacement value of a contract is the most reliable measure of credit risks associated with derivatives business.

repo business 
Abbreviation for repurchase agreement.

reporting / Reporting / reporting / reporting 
(1) Drawing up of reports by companies on their business activities.
(2) Reporting of on-exchange securities trades. A requirement on the Swiss Exchange.

repos 
Abbreviation for repurchase agreements (1).

repurchase agreement / Pensionsgeschäft / mise en pension / operazione di pensionamento titoli 
(1) Agreement whereby commercial banks temporarily borrow liquidity from the central bank. Under a repurchase agreement, the Swiss National Bank (or equivalent) will buy a specific quantity of securities for a set period and subsequently sell them back to the bank it bought them from. Also called repos.
(2) The acceptance of securities (such as equity paper) by a bank or financing institution for a limited period, with the depositor or a third party undertaking to repurchase the relevant securities after a stipulated period.

repurchase price 
Synonym for redemption price.

repurchase transaction 
Synonym for repurchase agreement.

rescription / Reskription / rescription / rescrizione 
A Swiss Treasury note issued by the federal government and Treasury bills issued by the cantons and communities. They can run for up to four years. Generally employed by public authorities to raise funds temporarily. Used in part also to achieve cyclical or capital market objectives, e.g. when the state sells sterilization rescriptions to the banks in order to mop up liquidity. Such rescriptions can sometimes be sold by the bank to the Swiss National Bank for short terms under repurchase agreements or discounted like other rescriptions during their remaining life of three months.

reserve for doubtful debts / Debitorenreserve / réserves pour débiteurs douteux / fondo perdite su crediti 
A reserve set aside for anticipated losses arising from bad debts. See also credit risk.

reserves / Reserven / réserves / riserve 
Accounting term denoting an amount of money set aside from profits and other company funds transferred from surplus or undivided profits to a special liability account. In Switzerland, the Swiss Federal Code of Obligations and the Banking Law require the formation of reserves. Reserves serve an important safety function but are also used for self-financing. See also legal reserves, voluntary reserves, disclosed reserves, statutory reserves, undisclosed reserves.

resident / Deviseninländer / résident / residente 
Private person or legal entity treated as resident under fiscal, currency control and other legislation.

Residential Mortgage-Backed Security / Residential Mortgage-Backed Security / residential mortgage-backed security / residential mortgage-backed security 
Abbr.: RMBS. Pass-through mortgage-backed security on residential property. See also mortgage-backed security.

restricted security / Restricted Security / restricted security / restricted security 
(USA) Term used for securities not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission which therefore have limited transferability.

restricted transferability (of shares) / Vinkulierung (von Aktien) / restriction de transfert d'actions / vincolo azionario 
A restriction on the transferability of shares as defined in the issuing company's articles of association. See also registered share with restricted transferability.

restrictive endorsement / Rektaindossament / endossement non à ordre / girata non all'ordine 
The endorser of an instrument bearing a «not to order» clause is liable to the direct endorsee only and not to persons who (despite said clause) obtain it through subsequent endorsement.

retail banking / Retail-Banking / retail banking / retail banking 
Also: consumer banking, personal banking. High street banking business with individuals. The main objective of retail banking is to provide low-cost banking services in line with customers' needs by offering standardized products and simplifying sales processes.

retained correspondence; correspondence held by bank / banklagernd / banque restante / fermo banca 
Correspondence from the bank to the customer retained at the bank at the customer's written instructions. Mail retained in this manner is handed out or forwarded to the customer only at his request.

retrocession / Retrozession / rétrocession / retrocessione 
Assignment by a bank of part of the commission received to another bank or to an agent (intermediary) which has participated in the transaction. Retrocession is common in bond underwriting and syndicate operations.

Return on Assets / Return on Assets / rendement de l'actif / return on assets 
Profitability ratio of the profit over a given period against the average assets of the company. Abbr. ROA.

return on equity / Eigenkapitalrendite / rendement des capitaux propres / redditività del capitale proprio 
Abbr.: ROE. Ratio of net profit generated over a certain period to equity capital.

revaluation / Aufwertung / réévaluation / rivalutazione 
Also: appreciation. Increase in the external value of a currency in terms of other currencies. In a system of fixed or bloc-linked exchange rates, revaluation is effected through legal or official increases in the parity of a currency against the other currencies or the key currency (formerly against gold). In the case of flexible or floating exchange rates, appreciation is the result of a rise in the exchange rate on the currency market in response to supply and demand. Opposite: devaluation. 

reverse split / Aktienzusammenlegung / regroupement d'actions / raggruppamento di azioni 
Restructuring of the capital stock of a company by combining several of the old shares into one new share or preferred (preference) stock and common stock into a single share category.

revocable letter of credit / widerrufliches Akkreditiv / accréditif révocable / credito documentario revocabile 
Documentary credit that can be modified or cancelled at any time. The revocable letter of credit is hardly ever used because it offers little security.

revocable stock exchange order / widerrufgültiger Börsenauftrag / ordre de Bourse valable jusqu'à révocation / ordine di borsa revocabile 
Unconditional, limited order which is considered valid until revoked, i.e. until the end of the current month or, if given at month's end, until the close of the following month. The principal can extend or revoke the order at any time.

revolving credit / revolvierender Kredit / crédit revolving / credito revolving 
A credit line which can be utilized, repaid and utilized again during the agreed term. Examples: revolving discount credit, revolving collateral loan.

revolving letter of credit / revolvierendes Akkreditiv / crédit documentaire renouvelable / credito documentario rotativo 
See documentary credit, revolving credit.

revolving underwriting facility / Revolving-Underwriting-Facility / facilité de prise ferme renouvelable / revolving underwriting facility 
Abbr. RUF. Short to medium-term security traded on the Eurocommercial paper market. The lead manager acts as the sole placing agent. Renewable after expiry as required. Similar to note issuance facility.
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Rh

Rho / Rho / rhô / rho 
A measure of an option's sensitivity to changes in interest rates (or changes in dividend payments), i.e. the extent to which the option's value changes as a result of a shift in interest rates on risk-free investment instruments.
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right of lien / Pfandrecht / droit de gage / diritto di pegno 
Also: lien in rem. Restricted right to hold and retain property until a claim is satisfied. If the claim is not met, the creditor is entitled to realize the property securing the lien and to satisfy his claim out of the resulting proceeds.

right of preemption / Vorkaufsrecht / droit de préemption / diritto di prelazione 
The right to purchase either in preference to others or before an offer is made to others.

right of redemption / Rückgaberecht / droit de retour / diritto di restituzione 
Units of investment funds may be sold back to the fund management company on a daily basis at their current redemption price. Exception: real estate funds.

right to move mortgage to higher order of priority / Nachrückungsrecht / droit d'avancement à un rang antérieur / diritto di subentrare in un grado anteriore 
Right of the creditor next in order of priority to move up to the vacant place in the land register. 

right to take delivery / Andienungsrecht / droit à la livraison / diritto alla consegna 
Right of a third party to purchase a specific asset at a particular point in time in the future. The right to take delivery is the buyer's security that the seller will be able to deliver the goods promised at any time throughout the term to maturity of an option.

ring / Ring / corbeille / corbeille 
Circular counter around which ring representatives used to buy and sell contracts by calling out bid and asked quotations. A distinction was drawn between the stock trading ring and the bond trading ring depending on the type of securities traded. See also open outcry trading, electronic trading system.

ring bank / Ringbank / banque admise à la corbeille / banca ammessa alla corbeille 
Obsolete. A bank licensed to trade securities on a ring. See also stock exchange bank.

ring representative 
Synonym for ring trader.

ring trader / Ringhändler / crieur / operatore alla corbeille 
Also known as the ring representative. Formerly the broker of a ring bank who traded securities on a stock exchange using the à la criée method. See also ring, broker.

risk / Risiko / risque / rischio 
Exposure to damage or financial loss, e.g. a fall in the price of a security, or insolvency on the part of a creditor. Financial market theory measures the risk exposure of an investment in terms of the degree of variance. Risk and return are in direct mutual correlation: the higher the risk exposure, the more substantial the long-term return on an investment should be. The main risk categories are: country risk, transfer risk, settlement risk, price risk, interest-rate risk and credit risk. Risks are hedged with provisions. Hedging products available from banks include forward and repurchase transactions, options and financial futures. See also systematic risk.

risk appetite; willingness to accept risk / Risikobereitschaft; Risikoneigung; Risikofreude / goût pour le risque; propension au risque; tolérance au risque / capacità di rischio; propensione al rischio 
Synonym for risk tolerance.

risk arbitrage / Risk Arbitrage / arbitrage du risque / arbitraggio di rischio 
Strategy of taking opposite positions in the shares of a takeover candidate and its likely buyer. Highly speculative investment technique.

risk aversion / Risikoscheue / aversion au risque / avversione al rischio 
See risk tolerance.

risk concentration / Klumpenrisiko / gros risque / grande rischio 
Also: concentration of risk. Loans, equity interests or investments whose size exceeds acceptable limits, thereby contravening the bank's policy of risk diversification.

risk diversification / Risikoverteilung / répartition des risques / ripartizione dei rischi 
Also referred to as risk spread, risk spreading. Diversifying capital investments or loans granted to third parties so as to achieve the greatest possible protection against risks of losses or reductions in income. The aim is to ensure an optimally balanced risk exposure via the broad diversification of investments (or loans) in terms of the geographical mix, currencies, sectors and individual companies. See also diversification.

risk management / Risiko-Management / gestion des risques / gestione dei rischi 
(1) Management tool designed to broadly and systematically identify, quantify and manage banking-related risk exposure.
(2) Service package provided by banks to commercial clients to help them limit risk exposure through the use of hedging instruments.

risk paper 
See share.

risk premium / Risikoprämie / prime de risque / premio di rischio 
Premium demanded by investors for investing in risky capital investments. The higher the risk of loss or default, the higher the premium.

risk spreading 
Synonym for risk diversification.

risk tolerance / Risikoneigung / propension au risque / propensione al rischio 
Also: risk appetite, willingness to accept risk. A person's individual attitude towards risk. They may, for example, be willing to accept risks or they can be risk-averse. 

risk-free return / risikofreier Ertrag / revenu sans risques / rendimento a rischio zero 
Return on an investment in first-class money market paper, which due to its short term to maturity is subject to virtually no price fluctuations and is therefore regarded as being risk-free, e.g. Treasury bills.

risk-return profile / Ertrags-Risiko-Profil / profil rentabilité/risque / profilo di rischio/rendimento 
Also: risk-earnings profile, risk/reward ratio. Comparison of the anticipated risk of an investment with the expected return. If the return is the greater of the two then the investment is made.
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Rm

RMBS 
Abbr. for Residential Mortgage-Backed Security.

Ro

ROA 
Abbreviation for Return on Assets.

ROE 
Abbr. for return on equity.

Roh-, Hilfs- und Betriebsstoffe / Materials / Matériels / Materiali 
Sektorbezeichnung für Aktien von Unternehmen, die Chemikalien, Metalle (einschliesslich Bergbau), Baustoffe, Textilien oder Papier und Pappe herstellen. Der entsprechende MSCI-Sektorindex fungiert als Benchmark für die Aktien dieses Sektors.

roll-over credit / Roll-over-Kredit / crédit roll-over / credito roll-over 
Medium- to long-term credit with a floating interest rate which is usually reset every 3, 6 or 12 months. The basis for the periodic interest rate adjustment is, for instance, the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) for short-term borrowing on the Euromarket.

round lot / Schlusseinheit / unité de cotation / lotto minimo 
Standard unit of securities trading. See also odd lot.

royalty / Royalty / royalty / royalty 
(1) Synonym for licence fee.
(2) Remuneration for the assignment of land with exploitable raw materials (coal, oil, etc.) paid by the licensee to the owner of the land.
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Ru

RUF 
Abbr. for revolving underwriting facility.
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S.E. & O. 
Latin «salve errore et omissione» (errors and omissions excepted). Request addressed to the customer to examine the bank statement carefully, with the bank reserving the right to correct omissions and errors at a subsequent date.

Sa

safe / Tresorfach; Schliessfach; Schrankfach; Kundensafe; Safe / compartiment de coffre-fort; coffre-fort / cassetta di sicurezza; safe 
Synonym for safe deposit box. 

safe deposit box / Tresorfach; Schliessfach; Schrankfach; Kundensafe; Safe / compartiment de coffre-fort; coffre-fort / cassetta di sicurezza; safe 
Also: safe. Lockable deposit box which is located in the vault of a bank and can be leased out to customers. See also vault, night safe.

safeguarding interests / interessenwahrend / au mieux des intérêts / curando 
Rider used in securities trading for large market orders. The notation authorizes the broker (depending on stock market price developments) to temporarily refrain from buying or selling if the immediate and complete execution of the order would adversely affect the price of the securities to the disadvantage of the customer. See also market order.

safekeeping account / Depot; Wertschriftendepot / dépôt; dépôt titres / deposito; deposito titoli 
(1) Also: custody account. Total of all securities and valuables deposited with a bank. See also sealed safekeeping account, open safekeeping account, numbered safekeeping account.
(2) Also: securities safekeeping account. Custody account for the safekeeping and administration of securities.

safekeeping account bookkeeping / Depotbuchhaltung / comptabilité titres / contabilità titoli 
Keeping a record of all securities deposited with a bank by safekeeping account number and within the safekeeping accounts by securities number.

safekeeping account charges / Depotgebühr / droit de garde / diritti di custodia 
Synonym for custody charges.

salary account / Gehaltskonto; Salärkonto / compte salaire / conto salario 
Current account for persons regularly receiving a wage/salary or retirement benefit. Salary accounts carry higher interest rates than regular current accounts.

samurai bond / Samurai-Bond / obligation «samurai» / samurai bond 
Yen-denominated bond issued by non-Japanese borrowers on the primary market in Japan and which are almost exclusively traded over-the-counter on the international secondary market.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act / Sarbanes-Oxley-Act / loi Sarbanes-Oxley / Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
US legislation that contains a number of measures aimed at improving corporate governance. The aim of the law is to strengthen investor confidence in the integrity of the financial data published by companies subject to US legal requirements.

savings account / Sparkonto / compte d'épargne / conto di risparmio 
Savings deposits managed in the form of a bank account offering special legally defined protection (preferred claim under bankruptcy). Reflecting the savings nature of the account, withdrawal options are more restricted than with a personal account but the interest is usually higher.

savings account for vested pension benefits / Freizügigkeitssparkonto; Freizügigkeitskonto / compte de libre passage / conto di libero passaggio 
Preferential rate savings account for occupational pension assets. Principal and interest are tax-free until paid out; interest is exempt from withholding tax. Benefits paid out are subject to a reduced tax rate. Principal may be used to purchase residential property for the beneficiary's own use or to amortize mortgages.

savings bank / Sparkasse / caisse d'épargne / cassa di risparmio 
Depository financial institution that mainly accepts interest-bearing savings deposits of varying amounts.

savings bond / Savings Bond / savings bond / savings bond 
Government-issued bond common in the USA. There is no secondary market for savings bonds, but they do offer tax benefits.

savings book / Sparbuch; Sparheft / livret d'épargne; carnet d'épargne / libretto di risparmio 
Savings account maintained in book form. Although once widely used, it has now largely been replaced by the savings account.
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Sc

schedule of creditors / Kollokationsplan / état de collocation / graduatoria 
Schedule of creditor ranking, prepared by the bankruptcy trustee or the debt collection office. 

scrip / Scrip / scrip / scrip 
Expression commonly used in the USA for a provisional receipt for partial payment made by shareholders on shares which have not been fully paid in. 

scrip certificate / Lieferschein / bulletin de livraison / bollettino di consegna 
Written obligation on the part of the bank acting as paying agent to hand over the definitive certificates to the subscriber as soon as they have been issued. 
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Sd

SDR / SZR / DTS / DSP 
Abbr. for special drawing right. 
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Se

sealed safekeeping account / geschlossenes Depot / dépôt fermé / deposito chiuso 
Also: closed safekeeping account. Safekeeping account where valuables or documents are deposited, as a rule wrapped and sealed, exclusively for safe custody. Opposite: open safekeeping account.

seasonal adjustment / Saisonbereinigung / désaisonnalisation / destagionalizzazione 
Taking into account seasonal fluctuations to ascertain to what extent a change in the original data reflects the «actual» development of the economy.

seasonal loan / Saisonkredit / crédit saisonnier / credito stagionale 
Credit granted to bridge seasonal needs for funds as experienced by certain types of enterprises, e.g. fashion houses. Special form of working capital loan. 

SEC / SEC / SEC / SEC 
Abbr. for Securities and Exchange Commission. The official supervisory authority for stock exchanges in the United States.

SECOM / SECOM / SECOM / SECOM 
Sega Communication System. Online settlement system devised as a joint technical platform for SEGA and Intersettle. In conjunction with the SIC banking clearing system it allows the fully automatic settlement and clearing of exchange orders. 

SECOM system / SECOM-System / système SECOM / sistema SECOM 
Also known as Settlement Communication System (formerly: SEGA Communication System). The SECOM system is a technical platform for the settlement of national and international securities transactions. SECOM is one of the few systems in the world that offers real-time settlement. The SECOM system is linked to other systems, such as the SWX system (Swiss Exchange) and the SIC system (Swiss Interbank Clearing).

second mortgage / zweite Hypothek; Hypothek im zweiten Rang; zweitrangige Hypothek / prêt hypothécaire en deuxième rang / seconda ipoteca 
Mortgage that follows a first mortgage in order of rank. Granted in Switzerland usually with a loan-to-value ratio of around 65%-80% of the underlying property's market value and subject to amortization (unlike first mortgages, which in Switzerland are generally not amortized). The interest rate on second mortgages is higher than on first mortgages.

secondary centre / Nebenplatz / place auxiliaire / piazza secondaria 
Location where the Swiss National Bank is not represented by its own bank offices, agencies or correspondent banks.

secondary market / Sekundärmarkt / marché secondaire / mercato secondario 
Market on which the trading of securities takes place. See also primary market.

second-liner / Nebenwert / valeur secondaire / valore secondario 
Synonym for small cap.

sector fund / Branchenfonds / fonds de placement spécialisé dans une certaine branche / fondo d'investimento settoriale 
Investment fund investing in an individual industry.

secured credit / gedeckter Kredit / crédit garanti / credito garantito 
Credit granted on the basis of security or collateral pledged or deposited to assure repayment. The security may take the form of a pledge of securities, an assignment, a guarantee, a surety or real and personal collateral. Opposite: unsecured credit. See also collateral security.

securities / (1) Effekten (2) Wertpapiere, Wertschriften, Valoren / (1) valeurs mobilières (2) papiers-valeurs, titres / (1) valori mobiliari (2) titoli 
(1) An investment instrument, other than an insurance policy or fixed annuity, issued by a corporation, government or other organization and which is suitable for trading. See also derivative instruments.
(2) Instruments that signify an ownership position in a corporation (stocks or shares), a creditor relationship with a corporation or government body (bonds), or rights to ownership such as those embodied in options or subscription rights.

securities account / dépôt de titres / Titeldepot / deposito titoli 
See safekeeping account.

securities administration / Wertschriftenverwaltung / administration de titres / gestione titoli 
Also: custodian services. Administration of securities for share and bondholders. Performed by banks for their customers.

securities analysis / Wertschriftenanalyse / analyse financière / analisi dei titoli 
Also: investment research. Systematic assessment of securities as the basis for an investment or portfolio strategy. See also balance sheet analysis, fundamental analysis, chart analysis, financial analysis.

securities clearing / Wertschriftenclearing / clearing de titres / clearing dei titoli 
Reciprocal settlement (clearing) of the securities transactions of banks or brokers via common clearing houses. This not only facilitates the technical processing of securities trades but also reduces book and account entries to a minimum. Futures clearing covers all securities bought and sold forward, whereas spot clearing covers spot transactions.

securities clearing system / Effektengiroverkehr / clearing de titres / bancogiro di titoli 
A system used to settle accounts between securities traders (banks, brokers, etc.). All claims are set off against one another in a clearing centre and only the differences settled, with no physical delivery between participants. See also SIS Segaintersettle, Clearstream, Euroclear.

securities fund / Effektenfonds / fonds de placement en valeurs mobilières / fondo d'investimento in valori mobiliari 
Investment fund which invests in securities and book-entry securities traded on an exchange or other regulated market open to the public.

securities investment fund / Wertschriftenfonds / fonds de placement en valeurs mobilières 
Investment fund whose assets are invested in stocks, bonds and/or other securities.

securities lending and borrowing / Securities Lending and Borrowing / prêt et emprunt de valeurs mobilières / securities lending and borrowing 
Abbreviation SLB. The lending of securities for an indefinite or definite period of time against collateral and against payment of a commission. This form of financial transaction is especially suitable for large clients with international securities holdings. There is demand in particular for longer-term arbitrage, hedging or financing transactions.

securities number / Valorennummer (CH); Wertpapier-Kennnummer (DE) / numéro de valeur / numero di valore 
See ISIN.

securities portfolio / Wertschriftenportefeuille / portefeuille titres / portafoglio titoli 
The total securities holdings of an individual customer for whose account they are deposited at the bank.

securities trader / Effektenhändler / négotiant en valeurs mobilières / commerciante di valori mobiliari 
Also: dealer. Person or company commercially engaged in buying and selling securities on the exchange. For tax purposes, the issuers of securities are also classified as traders. See also broker.

securities trading statement / Börsenabrechnung / décompte de Bourse / conteggio di borsa 
Statement listing data on the sales or purchases of securities, such as the buying or selling prices, numbers and types of securities, taxes and brokerage charged, and payment or credit dates.

securitization / Securitisierung; Verbriefung / mobiliérisation; titrisation / securitization 
The growing trend of corporate borrowers to issue marketable securities on the financial markets as opposed to raising bank loans and credit from other financial institutions. 

security / Wertpapier; Wertschrift; Valor / valeur; papier-valeur; titre / valore; titolo 
Instrument that signifies an ownership position in a corporation (stocks or shares), a creditor relationship with a corporation or government body (bonds), or rights to ownership such as those embodied in options or subscription rights. 

security deposit / Kaution / cautionnement / cauzione 
An amount of money deposited as security for a contingent obligation resulting from the violation of a right. The term «security» is also used in a more general sense to refer to any form of guarantee or surety for obligations that are uncertain, disputed or not yet due.

security eligible for discount by and/or security accepted as collateral by the Swiss National Bank / nationalbankfähiges Wertpapier / effet admis à l'escompte et titre accepté en natissement par la Banque nationale / titolo scontabile presso la Banca nazionale 
Security discounted or accepted as collateral by the Swiss National Bank. See also bill eligible for discount at the National Bank.

security interest / Kapitalhypothek / hypothèque en capital / ipoteca capitale 
Interest in property that exists by contract as security for payment of a defined capital amount plus to a limited extent of interest and administrative costs over and above this amount. See also maximum sum mortgage.

security numbering system / Valorenregister / registre des valeurs / registro dei valori 
Complete list of security code numbers. In Switzerland, maintained and updated by Telekurs AG.

segment information / Segmentinformation / information sectorielle / informazione sul segmento 
Supplementary information included in the notes to the financial statements of a company, giving a breakdown of business results by sector and geographical location. Required in accordance with International Accounting Standards.

self-financing / Eigenfinanzierung / autofinancement / autofinanziamento 
Provision of funds by a company for capital investment in plant and equipment or for acquisition purposes out of self-generated sources (net profit and cash flow).

sell short / fixen / vendre à découvert / vendere allo scoperto 
Stock market term for selling a security one does not own but intends to buy later at a lower price to cover the sale. Until the purchase to close the transaction has been made, the trader is said to be short on the particular stock or security. Traders taking advantage of falling prices to go short are known as bears.

selling commission / Guichet-Kommission / commission de guichet / commissione di sportello 
Also: placement commission. Remuneration paid to the banks participating in the underwriting or placement of shares or bonds.

selling group / Selling Group / consortium de placement / selling group 
Group of banks or securities dealers invited by the syndicate manager of an issue to participate in its placement. On the EUR capital market, banks and securities dealers that need not belong to the management group or the underwriting group are invited to participate in the selling group. They are not exposed to any placement risk, but receive a commission for their placement efforts.

sell-side research / Sell-Side-Research / recherche sell-side / sell-side research 
Financial analysis conducted by a securities house or the organizational unit of a bank responsible for investment banking, with the focus on writing financial reports on companies and subsequently recommending that investors purchase shares in the said companies. Opposite: buy-side research.

senior claim / Konkursprivileg / privilège en cas de faillite / privilegio in caso di fallimento 
Also: preferred claim under bankruptcy. Preferential position among claims in the event of bankruptcy proceedings. Not until all claims of the preceding class have been satisfied can the proceeds from the liquidation of any remaining assets be used to meet lower-ranking claims. In the event of a bank filing for bankruptcy, depositor protection applies.

separation of commercial and investment banking / Trennbankensystem / système bancaire différencié / sistema bancario separato 
Banking system under which certain business areas must be strictly separated. The best-known example was the separation of commercial and investment banking in the USA from 1933 to 1999 (Glass Steagall Act). However, these restrictions were lifted when the law was changed in 1999, and it is therefore now also possible to operate as a full-service bank, i.e. to provide all financial services (including insurance) via a holding structure. Opposite: full-service or universal banking. See also full-service bank.

serial bond / Serienanleihe / emprunt émis en série / prestito in serie 
Bond issued in series.

servitude / Grundlast / charge foncière / onere fondiario 
Obligation on the owner of real property to render a specified service (such as maintaining a road through the property). Servitudes are recorded on the land certificate for the property.

Settlement Communication System / Settlement Communication System / Settlement Communication System / Settlement Communication System 
Synonym for SECOM system.

settlement date / Liquidationstag / jour de liquidation / giorno di liquidazione 
Prespecified day (towards the end of the month) on which the forward and futures transactions concluded previously are paid and delivery is made on the exchanges (liquidation date).

settlement day; declaration day; reference day / Stichtag / jour de référence / giorno di riferimento 
(1) Financial statements: cut-off date.
(2) Exchange trading: the day on which liabilities arising from forward transactions have to be settled.
(3) Dividend distributions: the day on which shareholders become entitled to a dividend.

settlement risk / Abwicklungsrisiko / risque de non-exécution / rischio di esecuzione 
Risk of a trade failing to settle due to error, default or weaknesses in the settlement system.
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Sh

share / Aktie / action / azione 
Also: stock, equity. A form of security representing a portion of the nominal capital of a company and giving the owner the right to vote at General Meetings and to elect directors as well as the right to information and to exercise control. Shares further entitle the holder to a portion of the company's profits and to a proportional share of any capital increase or liquidation proceeds.

share buy-back / Aktienrückkauf / rachat d'actions / riacquisto di azioni 
Repurchase by a public limited company of shares it has issued primarily to increase shareholder value.

share capital (GB); capital stock (US) / (1) Grundkapital (2) Aktienkapital / (1) capital social (2) capital-actions / (1) capitale sociale (2) capitale azionario 
(1) The amount of money subscribed by the shareholders at par to a company. The equity capital of a public limited company is equal to the share capital plus any participation certificate capital.
(2) Capital stock of a public limited company. Legally governed in Switzerland by Art. 621 ff. of the Code of Obligations.

share certificate 
Synonym for stock certificate.

share index / Aktienindex / indice des actions / indice azionario 
Indicator showing changes in the average prices of shares or groups of shares on the stock market. In Switzerland the most commonly used equity price indices are the Swiss Performance Index (SPI) and the Swiss Market Index (SMI). International indices can also be calculated by weighting the individual indices and stating the figures in terms of a standard currency.

share register / Aktienbuch; Aktienregister / registre des actions / registro delle azioni 
Also: shareholder register. List of the owners of registered shares. According to Article 686 of the Swiss Federal Code of Obligations, entry in the share register requires a certificate evidencing the acquisition of the shares for ownership or verifying the establishment of a usufruct. In relations with the company, only shareholders whose shares are entered in the share register are considered to have ownership or usufructory rights. 

shareholder value; stockholder value / Aktionärswert; Shareholder-Value / valeur intrinsèque ajoutée / shareholder value; valore per l'azionista 
Endeavours by a company's management to steadily increase the value of the company for the shareholders. See also stakeholder value.

shareholder / Aktionär / actionnaire / azionista 
Also: stockholder. Part-owner of a corporation by virtue of holding one or a number of shares in it. 

shareholders' pool / Aktionärspool / pool d'actionnaires / pool di azionisti 
A shareholders' pool combines the shareholdings of several or a number of shareholders in order to better represent common interests at stockholders' meetings. See also pool.

shares pending registration of transfer / Dispobestand / position dispo / posizione dispo 
Registered shares which have changed hands and have not yet been entered in the share register under the name of the new owner.

sharpe ratio / Sharpe-Ratio / ratio de Sharpe / indice di Sharpe 
Statistic that measures the risk-adjusted performance of a portfolio by expressing the excess returns in relation to the standard deviation of the portfolio's performance. A high Sharpe ratio means that a good performance was achieved at a low risk.

ship mortgage / Schiffshypothek / hypothèque sur bateau / ipoteca navale 
Claim or receivable which is secured by a mortgage or lien on a ship pledged as collateral.

shogun bond / Shogun-Bond / obligation «shogun» / shogun bond 
Foreign bond issued in Japan and not denominated in yen. See also samurai bond.

short covering / Deckungskauf / achat de couverture / acquisto di copertura 
Purchase of securities or currencies in order to close a position created by short selling.

short position / Short-Position / position courte / short position 
In securities trading, a selling position which has not yet been closed by the purchase of a counterposition. Investors are said to be short if, following a short sale, they need to buy securities to meet their obligations. On assignment, the writer of an option contract undertakes to deliver (call) or buy (put) the underlyings. Opposite: long position. 

short sale / Leerverkauf / vente à découvert / vendita allo scoperto 
The action of contracting to sell for future delivery more of a commodity or security than is currently held in the hope that the price will fall and the short seller can buy the balance before the delivery date and so make a gain.

short selling / fixen / vendre à découvert / vendere allo scoperto 
Stock market term for selling a security one does not own in the hope of purchasing it later at a lower price to cover the sale and thereby making a profit. Until the purchase to close the transaction has been made, the trader is said to be short on the particular stock or security. Traders taking advantage of falling prices to go short are known as bears.

short-term liabilities / kurzfristige Verbindlichkeiten / dettes à court terme / impegni a breve scadenza 
See liabilities.

short-term rate 
Synonym for money market rate.
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Si

SIC / SIC / SIC / SIC 
Abbr. for Swiss Interbank Clearing.

SICAF / SICAF / SICAF / SICAF 
Abbr. for Société d'investissement à capital fixe. Investment fund in the form of a joint-stock company with fixed capital.

SICAR / SICAR / SICAR / SICAR 
Abbr. for Société d'Investissement en Capital à Risque: Luxembourg funds that invest in private equity. SICAR is geared toward experienced, risk-conscious or institutional investors. See private equity, venture capital. 


SICAV / SICAV / SICAV / SICAV 
Abbr. for Société d'investissement à capital variable. Investment fund in the form of a joint-stock company with variable capital. Units are issued in the form of shares.

sideways movement / Seitwärtsbewegung; Seitwärtstrend / pause / movimento laterale 
Also referred to as sideways development, sideways trend. Phase without any notable changes in the value of a security or market.

sight deposits / Sichtgelder / dépôt à vue / deposito a vista 
Also referred to as demand deposits. Bank balances which can be withdrawn at any time, i.e. without any prior notification.

sight draft / Sichtwechsel / effet à vue / cambiale a vista 
Also: sight bill. Bill of exchange endorsed «on demand». It does not require payment on a definite date but is payable immediately on presentation. It has to be presented within one year after drawing if no other period is stipulated.

signature card / Unterschriftenkarte / carte de signatures / cartoncino delle firme 
The document deposited at the bank which bears the signature of the account or deposit holder, together with those of the authorized agents. It also defines powers of signature.

silent confirmation / stille Bestätigung / confirmation tacite / conferma tacita 
Expression used in connection with letters of credit. A notifying bank appends its confirmation to a transaction without being instructed to do so by the opening bank.

silver / Silber / argent / argento 
Silver is a precious metal. See also precious metals.

simple guarantee / einfache Bürgschaft / cautionnement simple / fideiussione semplice 
Also: ordinary guarantee. Guarantee where the obligee can only demand payment from the guarantor if the principal obligor has become bankrupt, or has been granted a stay of (debt) enforcement, or if certain other conditions have been fulfilled. If a lien exists for the guaranteed obligation, then the guarantor can demand that the obligee first realize the value of this collateral as long as the principal obligor has not been declared bankrupt or has been granted a stay of enforcement (OR art. 495). See also joint and several guarantee. 

single assignment / Einzelzession / cession individualisée / cessione singola 
Contractual assignment of a debt to a new creditor with regard to either a single obligation or to individual specially designated obligations.

single share class / Einheitsaktie / action unique / azione unica 
Situation where the share capital of a company has only one class of share. The term relates to the earlier practice of dividing shares into (preferred) registered and bearer shares. By simplifying the share structure management demonstrates that it is taking the interests of shareholders into account, is treating shareholders equally and seeks to avoid conflicts of interest between different classes of shareholder.

single-premium insurance / Einmaleinlage / versement unique / versamento unico 
One-off premium payment instead of regular premium payments. Single-premium insurance is a kind of savings product.

sinking fund bond / Sinking-Fund-Bond / sinking fund bond / sinking fund bond 
In the USA: bond whose indenture stipulates that the redemption of the bond issue will be paid in accordance with a specified redemption plan from a sinking fund specially created for this purpose.

SIS / SIS / SIS / SIS 
Abbreviation for SIS SegaInterSettle AG.

SIS SegaIntersettle AG / SIS SegaIntersettle AG / SIS SegaIntersettle AG / SIS SegaIntersettle AG 
Abbr.: SIS. Company formed from the merger of SEGA (Swiss Securities Clearing Corporation) and Intersettle (Swiss Corporation for International Securities Settlements). SIS's tasks include the settlement and safe custody of Swiss and foreign securities.
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Sl

slip / Slip; Händlerslip / slip / slip 
(1) Also trade confirmation. Contract note issued by a securities, money or currency dealer in respect of a concluded transaction.
(2) Form for transmitting buy or purchase orders to the dealer.
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Sm

small and medium-sized enterprise / Klein- und Mittelunternehmen / petites et moyennes entreprises / piccole e medie imprese 
Abbr.: SME. Company with up to 250 employees. In Switzerland, more than 99% of companies under private law are SMEs.

small cap / Small cap / small cap / small cap 
Share issued by companies with a relatively low stock market capitalization, a low public profile and thin trading volumes. See also: large cap, mid cap.

SME / KMU / PME / PMI 
Abbr. for small and medium-sized enterprise.

SMF / SMF / SMF / SMF 
Abbr. for Swiss Market Feed.

SMI / SMI / SMI / SMI 
Abbr. for Swiss Market Index.
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SNB / SNB / BNS / BNS 
Abbr. for Swiss National Bank.

SNMI / SNMI / SNMI / SNMI 
Abbr. for Swiss New Market Index.
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social accounting / Sozialbilanz / bilan social / bilancio sociale 
Also: social report. The reporting of the cost incurred in complying with anti-pollution, safety and health and other socially beneficial requirements, and, more generally, the impact of a business entity on, and its endeavours to, protect society, its amenities and the environment. 

soft currency / weiche Währung / monnaie faible / moneta debole 
A soft currency is not always freely convertible into another currency, and for this reason investments in soft currencies are very risky. Soft-currency countries are often prone to high inflation, unbalanced state budgets or political instability. Opposite: hard currency.

solvency / Zahlungsfähigkeit; Solvenz / capacité de paiement / solvibilità 
Ability of borrowers to meet their payment obligations. Opposite: insolvency. See also willingness to pay.

sovereign / Sovereign / sovereign / sovereign 
English gold coin, made from 22 carat gold and first minted in London in 1816 under Queen Victoria. Due to Britain's numerous colonies, the sovereign became widely accepted and used worldwide and was long regarded as the quintessential unit of currency and investment. Half sovereigns were also issued.
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SPBA / VSP / ABPS / ABPS 
Abbr. for Swiss Private Bankers Association.

special crossed cheque / besonders gekreuzter Check / chèque à barrement spécial / assegno con sbarramento speciale 
See crossed cheque.

special drawing right / Sonderziehungsrecht / droit de tirage spécial / diritto speciale di prelievo 
Abbr.: SDR. Payment medium and reserve assets issued by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) to its member nations. An SDR does not have the character of an actual currency unit but is primarily a neutral unit of account and book currency. The value of the SDR is fixed officially each day on the basis of the exchange rates on the London spot currency market. 

special fund / Spezialfonds / fonds spécial / fondo speciale 
Investment fund exempt from certain legal requirements. Participation is restricted exclusively to investors proven to be peer professional players (e.g. insurance companies, pension funds).

specimen / Blankett / titre en blanc / facsimile 
Sample copy of a share certificate to be introduced. It lacks certain details such as the serial numbers and/or signature.

speculation / Spekulation / spéculation / speculazione 
Activity focused on exploiting expected changes in the market. Specifically, speculation refers to transactions entailing disproportionately high returns and risks.

SPI / SPI / SPI / SPI 
Abbr. for Swiss Performance Index.

split / Split; Aktiensplit; Aktienaufteilung / division d'actions / split azionario 
Also: share split, stock split. Division of a share into several shares with smaller par values (e.g. division of a CHF 500 share into five CHF 100 shares) without altering the sum of the total share capital. In Switzerland the par value of a share must be at least CHF 0.01 as per Art. 622 of the Code of Obligations. Opposite: reverse split.

spot / comptant / comptant / per contanti 
In the case of stock market transactions the designation for a cash transaction (payment and delivery are immediate). See also spot transaction.

spot market / Kassamarkt / marché au comptant / mercato a pronti 
Synonym for cash market.

spot next / Sport Next / spot next / spot next 
Abbr.: SN. Swap transaction involving the purchase of currency for delivery on the working day after the spot date.

spot price / Spotpreis / prix spot / spot price 
Also referred to as cash price. Current delivery price of a given commodity being traded on the cash market.

spot rate / Kassakurs; Komptantkurs / cours au comptant / corso a pronti 
Also: spot price, spot, spot level. Rate of a currency or price of a security in a spot transaction. Opposite: forward rate.

spot transaction / Comptantgeschäft; Komptantgeschäft; Spotgeschäft; Kassageschäft / opération au comptant / operazione di cassa 
Also: cash transaction. Transaction where delivery and payment for the instruments or goods (e.g. securities, foreign currencies or commodities traded on exchanges) are immediate. In the securities business in Switzerland, a spot transaction is usually settled on the third working day following the transaction and in the foreign exchange market at the latest two working days later. Opposite: forward transaction.

SPPS / SPPS / SPPS / SPPS 
Abbr. for Swiss Performance Presentation Standards.

spread / (1) (2) (3) Spread (4) Ecart / écart / (1) (2) (3) spread (4) scarto 
(1) Options trading: simultaneous purchase and sale of options of the same class with different strike prices and/or different maturities.
(2) Difference between bid and ask price.
(3) Difference between interest rates or yields for the same maturity in different currencies.
(4) Also: margin. Price difference between purchase and sale price or between the bid and ask price for securities, banknotes etc. The price difference between the bearer and registered shares of a company or the different interest rates on bonds is also termed spread.
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Sq

squeeze / Squeeze; Corner / squeeze; corner / squeeze; corner 
Synonym for corner.
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St

stagflation / Stagflation / stagflation / stagflazione 
Term coined in the seventies to describe the combination of slow or non-existent economic growth (stagnation) with relatively strong price increases (inflation).

stagging (GB); flipping (US) / Konzertzeichnung; Majorisierung / souscription gonflée; majoration / sottoscrizione concertata; maggiorazione 
Applying to several banks at once for newly issued shares or bonds in strong demand in the hope of securing a sizeable allotment. A stag is a speculator engaging in this practice.

stakeholder value / Stakeholder-Value / stakeholder value / stakeholder value 
Value of a company to someone who has a real or psychological «stake» in it (e.g. employees, customers, suppliers). See also shareholder value.

stamp duty / Stempelabgabe; Titelstempel / droit de timbre / tassa di bollo 
Also: stamp tax. Duty imposed in connection with the issuance of securities, the transfer of ownership of securities and other documents or deeds, and the payment of insurance premiums. In Switzerland, stamp taxes are regulated by the Federal Stamp Tax Law of 27 June 1973 (which has been revised several times since) and the related Ordinances. In securities trading, a distinction is made between stamp duty on newly issued securities and turnover tax (which is levied on a transfer of title). Stamp duty rates differ according to the legal and economic nature of the securities.

stamp duty on newly issued securities / Emissionsabgabe; Emissionsstempel / droit de timbre d'émission / tassa di emissione 
Stamp duty levied by the Swiss government on issues of domestic equity securities and bonds.

standard deviation / Standardabweichung / écart-type / deviazione standard 
Square root of variance.

stand-by credit / Stand-by-Kredit / crédit stand-by / credito stand-by 
(1) Credit line granted against payment of compensation (commitment commission) for a specified term. 
(2) Bridging loan extended to a country or central bank facing balance of payments difficulties (e.g. the stand-by facilities of the IMF).

stand-by letter of credit / Standby-Letter-of-Credit; Standby-Akkreditiv / Standby Letter of Credit; lettre de crédit standby / stand-by letter of credit 
A common form of bank guarantee in the USA and Asia. May be used for all types of guarantee, in particular as a payment guarantee. It also serves as security for the event a third party fails to meet a promised obligation.

standing order / Dauerauftrag / ordre permanent / ordine permanente 
Payment product which enables the client to give an order to the bank to make regular payments for the same amount and execution date.

statute of limitations / Verjährung / prescription / prescrizione 
Also: statutory limitation. When a claim becomes time barred after a certain period of time has elapsed the borrower is then no longer obliged to make any payments. There are different limitation periods defined by law depending on the type of claim in question (cf. for example 127 ff. of the Swiss Code of Obligations). Mortgage claims are not subject to statutory limitation.

statutory reserve fund / statutarischer Reservefonds / fonds de réserve statutaire / fondo di riserva statutario 
See statutory reserves.

statutory reserves / statutarische Reserven / réserves statutaires / riserve statutarie 
The reserves accumulated in accordance with the articles of association of a company. Article 672 of the Swiss Federal Code of Obligations states that the articles of association may stipulate that more than 5% of the net profit has to be allocated to the statutory reserves and that the reserve fund must amount to more than 20% of the share capital as laid down by law. The Articles can call for the creation of additional reserve funds and define their use and purpose (statutory reserve fund). See also reserves.

sterilization rescription / Sterilisierungsreskription / rescription de stérilisation / rescrizione di sterilizzazione 
Short- to medium-term money market paper issued by a state or central bank to absorb liquidity. See also rescription.

stock certificate / Aktienzertifikat / certificat d'actions / certificato azionario 
Also referred to as share certificate. (1) Confirmation that a certain number of shares have been deposited. This is used to enable or facilitate stock market trading.
(2) A special form is the fractional certificate, which, as the name implies, is made out for a fraction of the whole share.
(3) Instrument embodying a specific number of shares if a corporation has only a few shareholders and no individual shares are issued. 

stock certificate blank / Aktien-Blankett / actions en blanc / facsimile di azione 
See specimen.

stock dividend / Stock-Dividende; Wertpapierdividende / dividende sous forme d'actions / dividendo in azioni 
Dividend distributed in the form of shares of the company in question. Stock dividends are rare in Switzerland due to the tax burden they entail, but are common in the USA.

stock exchange / Effektenbörse / Bourse des valeurs mobilières / borsa valori 
Exchange on which securities are regularly traded.

Stock Exchange Act / Börsengesetz / loi sur les bourses / legge sulle borse 
Swiss Federal Act on Stock Exchanges and Securities Trading (SESTA) of 24 March 1995. Regulates the establishment and operation of exchanges and commercial trade in securities. The law also contains provisions on the disclosure of shareholdings and on mandatory public bids.

stock exchange bank / Börsenbank / banque opérant en Bourse / banca operante in borsa 
Bank that trades in securities on the stock exchange.

stock exchange dealer / Börsenhändler / agent de change / agente di borsa 
Synonym for stockbroker.

stock exchange index / Börsenindex / indice boursier / indice di borsa 
Index reflecting the general trend of the stockmarket or a group of securities. See also share index.

stock exchange listing 
Synonym for listing.

stock exchange regulations / Börsenordnung / règlement de la Bourse / ordinamento di borsa 
Set of regulations governing trading on a stock exchange subject to approval by the relevant national government. The stock exchange regulations include details of the tasks of the stock exchange supervisory authority, market surveillance, admission to the stock exchange as well as active trading, securities admission, price setting, etc. Furthermore, the stock exchange regulations must contain provisions governing the composition and election of members of the Admission Board and the meaning of price designations as well as technical regulations (trading days, trading times, segments, etc.). 

stock exchange system / Börsensystem / système de bourse / sistema centrale della borsa 
Central computerised system used by a stock exchange (e.g. the SWX Swiss Exchange) in which the various applications (e.g. order books, matchers) are run. The stock exchange system is linked up with the systems of dealers via gateways.

stock index future / Aktienindexfuture / future sur indice boursier / future su indice azionario 
Forward contract based on the development of specific stock exchange indexes. See also financial future.

stock market crash / Börsenkrach / krach boursier / crac in borsa 
Sudden drop in stock prices. A crash can occur when economic growth slows down abruptly or if the market is in technically poor condition due to excessive prices caused by speculation. Serious stock market crashes were seen on 13 May 1927, in Germany, and on 29 October 1929, and 19 October 1987, in New York, although the latter was less severe than its predecessors. 

stock market order / Börsenauftrag / ordre de Bourse / ordine di borsa 
Order given to the bank or stockbroker by the customer to buy or sell securities on his behalf on the stock exchange.

stock split / Aktienaufteilung; Aktiensplit / division d'actions / split azionario 
Synonym for split.

stock trading ring 
Synonym for ring.

stock warrant / Aktienwarrant / warrant sur actions / warrant su azioni 
(1) Security issued on an underlying stock.
(2) Option issued together with another class of security by a stock corporation (e.g. bond with warrants).

stockbroker / Börsenmakler; Börsenagent / courtier / intermediario di borsa 
Also: stock exchange dealer, broker. An individual or firm which trades professionally on the stock exchange in its own name on behalf of clients. More precisely, the broker (as opposed to the dealer) has merely an intermediary or negotiating function in that it contracts in its own name but for the account of the client or provides the possibility of such trades. See also securities trader.

stock market capitalization 
Synonym for market capitalization.

Stockmaster / Stockmaster / stockmaster / stockmaster 
Device which can be used to call up information on securities (prices, dividends, earnings per share, etc.) from a central electronic system.

stop trading / Stop Trading / stop trading / stop trading 
EBS term for a «circuit breaker» that automatically triggers a halt in the trading of a security as soon as a deal exceeds the percentage limits on either side of the reference price.

stop-limit order / Stop-Limit-Order / ordre stop limit / stop limit order 
An order to buy shares at the cheapest price or sell at the best price as soon as a certain price has been reached. See also stop-loss order.

stop-loss order / Stop-Loss-Order; Verlustbegrenzungsauftrag / ordre stop / stop loss order 
A stock market order designed to limit the possible loss. A stop-loss order instructs the bank or the broker to sell securities «at best» if the price of the security falls below a specified limit. The parameters can also be restricted by issuing a stop-limit order. A stop-loss order can also be used in short selling to cover the eventuality of the price exceeding a stipulated limit. Also widely used in currency, precious metals and commodities trading. See also stop-limit order.

stopping list / Oppositionsliste / liste des oppositions / lista delle opposizioni 
List of securities which have been reported as lost or stolen.

STOXX / STOXX / STOXX / STOXX 
See Dow Jones STOXX.

straddle / Straddle / straddle / straddle 
The purchase or sale of an equal number of puts and calls with the same strike price and term to maturity. Long straddles are constructed by purchasing a call and a put with the same strike price and term to maturity at the same time, which will result in gains if there is significant market movement and losses if volatility is low. Short straddles are constructed by selling a call and a put with the same strike price and term to maturity at the same time, which will result in losses if there is significant market movement and gains if volatility is low.

straight bond / Straight-Anleihe / obligation ordinaire / straight bond 
Bond or note issues without special characteristics (special termination rights, conversion rights, etc) but which do have the following facets: fixed term to maturity, fixed interest rate, regular interest payments on dates specified in advance, unconditional repayment of the bond amount at maturity.

strap / Strap / strap / strap 
Option strategy comprising two calls and one put on the same underlying with the same strike price and expiry date. See also strip.

strike price / Ausübungspreis / prix d'exercice / prezzo d'esercizio 
Price at which the underlying instrument is bought or delivered when an option is exercised. See also basis price.

strip / Strip / strip / strip 
(1) Option strategy comprising two puts and one call on the same underlying with the same strike price and expiry date. See also strap.
(2) Stripped US Treasury zero bond created by separating the corpus, or bond principal, from the interest coupons. Issued by American investment banks under various designations (CATS, TIGR).

structured finance 
Synonym for financial engineering.

structured product / strukturiertes Produkt / produit structuré / prodotto strutturato 
Combination of two or more financial instruments, at least one of which must be a derivative, to form a new investment product.

style investing / Style-Investing / diversification selon les styles de placement / investimento secondo uno stile 
Investment approach based on a carefully timed combination of investments in growth stocks (growth style investing) and value stocks (value style investing), with equity market opportunities and cyclical investor preferences exploited in a targeted manner.
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Su

subfund / Subfonds / segment / subfondo 
Part of an umbrella fund.

subject to collection / Eingang vorbehalten / sauf bonne fin / salvo buon fine 
Clause by which the bank reserves the right to reverse or cancel a credit entry if the countervalue of promissory notes and other debt certificates (such as bills of exchange, drafts and cheques) cannot be collected.

subordinated issue / nachrangige Anleihe / emprunt de rang postérieur / obbligazione subordinata 
Bond issue where the lender contracts that his debt will rank behind some or all other debt on liquidation or bankruptcy of the issuer. In Switzerland banks may count up to 100% of their subordinated bond issues with a residual term of 5 years as part of their equity capital; this percentage decreases as the term gets shorter.

sub-participation / Unterbeteiligung / sous-participation / sottopartecipazione 
(1) In the securities underwriting business: where banks that are not members of an underwriting syndicate participate in an issue; the sub-participating banks participate to a certain extent in the rights and obligations of the syndicate. Sub-participation is an attractive option for banks not included in a syndicate. By granting sub-participations, the syndicate banks can reduce their own risk exposure and access a broader group of investors.
(2) In the lending business: if a large loan is granted to a borrower, several banks can join together to act as the lender. Each bank provides part of the loan, but only the lead bank deals directly with the client. The lead bank refers to the credit facilities provided by the other banks as sub-participations.

subscribed allotment / Repartierung / répartition / riparto 
Allocation of securities apportioned to the individual subscriber in the case of oversubscribed issues. If more applications for subscription are received than securities available, the individual allotments are reduced accordingly.

subscription / Zeichnung; Subskription / souscription / sottoscrizione 
In subscribing a specific number of securities, the subscriber undertakes to take up the said securities according to the conditions set down in the prospectus if they receive a definitive allocation.

subscription form / Zeichnungsschein / bulletin de souscription / modulo di sottoscrizione 
Order form used in the issuing business. With this form, a subscriber undertakes to take up and pay for allocated securities according to the conditions set down in the prospectus. See also issue, subscription.

subscription period / Zeichnungsfrist / période de souscription / periodo di sottoscrizione 
Period during which subscriptions to a new securities issue can be accepted by the subscribing agent (usually a bank).

subscription ratio / Bezugsverhältnis / rapport de souscription / rapporto di sottoscrizione 
(1) In options trading the subscription ratio specifies how many warrants or certificates are required in order to acquire the right to purchase (call) or sell (put) a share or other underlying at a fixed price. Example: A subscription ratio of 10:1 means that ten warrants are required to purchase/sell an equity.
(2) In the case of a capital increase the subscription ratio indicates the relation of the number of old equities to the number of new equities. For instance, a ratio of 5:3 means that there are three new equities for every five old equities.

subscription right / Bezugsrecht / droit de souscription / diritto di opzione 
Privilege given to a shareholder to purchase additional shares.

subscription warrant / Optionsschein / certificat d'option / certificato d'opzione 
Known simply as a warrant. Type of security, usually issued together with a bond or preferred stock, entitling the holder to buy a proportionate amount of common stock at a specified price for a period of years.

subsidiary / Tochtergesellschaft / société affiliée / società affiliata 
Also: subsidiary company. Legally independent company that is controlled by another company, its parent company. The subsidiary may have been founded by the parent company or acquired by it, and forms part of a corporate group. 

summary bill enforcement procedure / Wechselstrenge / poursuite pour effets de change / rigore cambiario 
Especially rapid summary bankruptcy proceedings brought against bill and cheque debtors whose names are entered in the commercial register. 

supervisory authorities / Aufsichtsbehörde / autorité de surveillance / autorità di vigilanza 
Legally appointed body whose remit is to supervise the activities of financial institutions. In Switzerland, the Swiss Federal Banking Commission (FBC) is responsible for monitoring banks and investment funds.

supply-side economics 
The belief that an adequate supply of goods is important in fighting inflation and that a higher rate of business investment is needed to produce those goods efficiently. A cut in the marginal rates of income taxes is advocated in order to encourage people to work harder as well as to save and invest more. 

support purchase / Stützungskauf / achat de soutien / acquisto di sostegno 
Stock market purchase order aimed at preventing a decline in price that would be undesirable from the buyer's perspective, or at supporting the price of a security or the exchange rate of a currency.

surety credit / Avalkredit / crédit d'aval / credito di avallo 
Also: guarantee credit. A bank grants credit, thereby assuming liability for a bill guarantee up to a given amount (guarantee limit). See also contract bond, bill guarantee.

surrender value / Rückkaufswert / valeur de rachat / valore di riscatto 
The amount an insurance company will repay to a policyholder who wishes to terminate his policy early. Usually, the life insurance policy premiums must have been paid for at least three years. The surrender value is used as a guideline for determining the credit line granted against the pledge of life insurance claims as collateral.

suspense account / Interimskonto / compte intérimaire / conto interinale 
Also interim account. An account for the temporary entry of charges or credits, pending determination of their ultimate disposal. Frequently used in connection with doubtful accounts receivable.
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swap / Swap / swap / swap 
In general: financial term for a combined or simultaneous buying and selling operation. 
(1) Swaps between central banks: transactions that are frequently carried out in connection with the IMF or the BIS to bridge international liquidity crises.
(2) Capital-market swaps: agreements whereby the two parties undertake to swap payments over a specified period on specified dates and at conditions fixed in advance. The swap contract can either refer to the exchange of interest payments (interest-rate swap) or the exchange of interest payments and nominal amounts in different currencies (currency swaps).
(3) Synonym for currency swap.
(4) Synonym for debt-equity swaps.

SWIFT / SWIFT / SWIFT / SWIFT 
Abbreviation for Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial Telecommunication. Domiciled in Brussels, the company operates a computer-guided communications system to rationalize international payment transfers.

Swiss Accounting and Reporting Recommendations / Fachempfehlungen zur Rechnungslegung / Recommandations relatives à la présentation des comptes / raccomandazioni concernenti la presentazione dei conti 
Also: Swiss GAAP. Recommendations supplementing the financial reporting provisions of Swiss company law which aim to increase the meaningfulness and comparability of annual accounts, and are designed to provide standards in line with international principles which present a true and fair view of a company's financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Adherence to these recommendations is a prerequisite for listing on the stock exchange. See also Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, International Financial Reporting Standards.

Swiss Bankers Association / Schweizerische Bankiervereinigung / Association suisse des banquiers / Associazione svizzera dei banchieri 
Abbr.: SBA. Association established to represent the interests of the banking community in Switzerland. Based in Basel.

Swiss Bankers Travellers Cheque / Swiss Bankers Travellers Cheque / Swiss Bankers Travellers Cheque / Swiss Bankers Travellers Cheque 
Travellers cheques issued by the Swiss Bankers Travellers Cheque Centre, which are accepted worldwide and are replaced within 24 hours if lost or stolen. 

Swiss Banking Law / Bankengesetz / loi sur les banques / legge sulle banche 
Swiss Federal Law on Banks and Savings Banks dated 8 November 1934, and revisions. Designed primarily to protect creditors, the Banking Law also defines licensing policy, minimum liquidity requirements, capital adequacy, accounting principles, and internal and external supervision. The law governs the operations of all banks, private bankers and savings banks. 

Swiss Code of Obligations / Obligationenrecht / code des obligations / Codice delle obbligazioni 
Abbr.: OR. The Swiss Code of obligations is the fifth part of the Swiss Civil Code (ZGB). It contains provisions on debts, claims, contracts, securities and forms of company.

Swiss consumer price index / Landesindex der Konsumentenpreise / indice suisse des prix à la consommation / indice nazionale dei prezzi al consumo 
An index that measures price performance in Switzerland, showing the extent to which the cost of living has become more or less expensive as a result of price changes but not of changes in consumer behaviour or in the quality of goods and services. See also consumer price index.

Swiss Exchange / Schweizer Börse / Bourse suisse / borsa svizzera 
Official name: SWX Swiss Exchange.

Swiss Federal Banking Commission / Eidgenössische Bankenkommission / Commission fédérale des banques / Commissione federale delle banche 
Supervisory and implementing authority for the Banking Law and the Law on Investment Trusts, appointed by the Federal Council and acting independently of the Federal Administration and the Swiss National Bank. The Banking Commission maintains a permanent Secretariat in Berne.

Swiss Foundation for Accounting and Reporting Recommendations / Fachkommission für Empfehlungen zur Rechnungslegung / Commission pour les recommandations relatives à la présentation des comptes / Commissione per le raccomandazioni relative alla presentazione dei conti 
Abbr.: ARR. Foundation whose remit is to standardize Swiss accounting principles. It is responsible for the Swiss Accounting and Reporting Recommendations.

Swiss franc bond issue of foreign borrowers / Schweizerfrankenanleihe ausländischer Schuldner / emprunt en francs suisses de débiteurs étrangers / prestito in franchi svizzeri emessi da debitori esteri 
CHF-denominated bond offering (mostly straight, convertible or warrant issues) placed on the Swiss capital market by foreign borrowers (companies, government agencies or states). Usually runs for 5 to 15 years.

Swiss GAAP ARR / Swiss GAAP FER / Swiss GAAP RPC / Swiss GAAP RPC 
See Swiss Accounting and Reporting Recommendations.

Swiss Interbank Clearing / Swiss Interbank Clearing / Swiss Interbank Clearing / Swiss Interbank Clearing 
Abbreviation: SIC. Company which settles electronic payment transactions between banks under the supervision of the Swiss National Bank. Website: www.sic.ch.

Swiss Market Feed / Swiss Market Feed / Swiss Market Feed / Swiss Market Feed 
Abbr.: SMF. Swiss Exchange information system that provides all prices on a continuous basis with their trading volumes and times, the best bid and ask prices with accumulated amounts and accumulated daily volumes.

Swiss Market Index / Swiss Market Index / Swiss Market Index / Swiss Market Index / 
Abbr.: SMI. Share index calculated on the basis of the Swiss stocks with the highest market capitalizations. The Swiss Market Index was calculated for the first time on 30 June 1988.

Swiss National Bank / Schweizerische Nationalbank / Banque nationale suisse / Banca nazionale svizzera 
Abbr.: SNB. Switzerland's central bank. Its three tasks as set down in the law are to ensure the supply and distribution of cash, to facilitate payment systems and to pursue credit and currency policies that serve the interests of the country as a whole. Website: www.snb.ch.

Swiss New Market Index / Swiss New Market Index / Swiss New Market Index / Swiss New Market Index 
Abbreviation: SNMI. Index, adjusted for dividends, which shows the price performance of the segment of growth companies from Switzerland and abroad (start-up companies). The SNMI has been published since 1 March 2000.

Swiss Performance Index / Swiss Performance Index / Swiss Performance Index / Swiss Performance Index 
Abbreviation: SPI. Broadest based Swiss share index, covering all domestic companies listed on the Swiss Exchange. Weighted by capitalization and dividend-adjusted, the SPI is an ideal benchmark for performance comparisons.

Swiss Performance Presentation Standards / Swiss Performance Presentation Standards / normes de présentation SPPS / Swiss Performance Presentation Standards 
Abbr.: SPPS. Recommendations issued by the Swiss Bankers Association aimed at ensuring uniform and modern performance reporting. The objectives are to ensure full disclosure and fair presentation of the performance of asset managers, and also to enable performance comparisons. See also Global Investment Performance Standards (GIPS), Gold GIPS.

Swiss Private Bankers Association / Vereinigung Schweizerischer Privatbankiers / Association des Banquiers Privés Suisses / Associazione dei banchieri privati svizzeri 
Abbreviation: SPBA. Swiss Private Bankers Association, based in Geneva. Website: www.swissprivatebankers.com.

swissmint / swissmint / swissmint / swissmint 
Official mint of the Swiss Confederation. Website: www.swissmint.ch.

switch / Switch / switch / switch 
Restructuring and shifting within a portfolio, with the weightings of positions in certain securities being reduced and that of others being increased.

SWX / SWX / SWX / SWX 
Abbreviation for SWX Swiss Exchange.

SWX Swiss Exchange / SWX Swiss Exchange / SWX Swiss Exchange / SWX Swiss Exchange 
Official name of the Swiss bourse. Abbreviation: SWX. SWX was created in 1995 with the merger of the exchanges in Geneva, Basel and Zurich. Since 1996, all securities on the Swiss Exchange have been traded electronically, and floor trading thus abolished. SWX is supervised by the Swiss Federal Banking Commission (SFBC). See also virt-x. Website: www.swx.com. 
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syndicate / Syndikat / syndicat / sindacato 
Also referred to as a consortium. Group of companies that come together for a common purpose. See underwriting syndicate.

syndicate operation / Konsortialgeschäft / opération en consortium / operazione consortile 
Joint (usually large-scale) financing operation (bond issue, loan, etc.) by several banks which have formed a syndicate or consortium for the purpose. See also syndicated credit.

syndicated credit 
Synonym for syndicated loan.

syndicated loan / Konsortialkredit; syndizierter Kredit; Konsortialdarlehen/ crédit consortial / credito consortile 
Also: syndicated credit. Credit or loan granted jointly by two or more banks, one of which acts as lead manager.

syndication / Konsortialgeschäft / opération en consortium / operazione consortili 
Also: consortium operation. Financial transaction usually of a considerable size (bond issue, loan, etc) organized by a group of several banks which form a syndicate or consortium for the purpose. 

systematic risk / systematisches Risiko / risque systématique / rischio sistematico 
Also referred to as market risk. Risk dependent on factors which influence the entire market and cannot be reduced or eliminated by portfolio diversification. 
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T/B 
Abbreviation for treasury bill.

T-Bill 
Short for treasury bill.

Ta

tacit confirmation / stille Bestätigung / confirmation tacite / conferma tacita 
Instrument used in connection with letters of credit, whereby the notifying bank issues a commitment at the request of the beneficiary to make a payment as per the conditions of the letter of credit on presentation of the proper documentation, without having a corresponding confirmation order from the opening bank.

takeover / Übernahme / reprise / acquisizione 
Also referred to as acquisition. The transfer of control of a company from one group of shareholders to another. Takeovers are linked to a change in the top management of the target company, the latter being integrated in the acquiring company once the takeover is complete. A distinction is drawn between friendly takeovers and hostile takeovers. See also merger. 

takeover bid / Übernahmeangebot / offre de reprise / offerta di acquisizione 
See public offer.

takeover financing / Übernahmefinanzierung / financement de reprise de sociétés / finanziamento dell'acquisizione 
Raising the necessary financial resources for the acquisition of a controlling interest in one company by another company. Such transactions are frequently combined with bank loans, bank guarantees and securities issues. See also leveraged buyout.

tangible asset 
Synonym for real asset. See also intangible assets.

Tankan survey / Tankan-Umfrage / indice Tankan / indice Tankan 
Also referred to as the Tankan report. Comprehensive survey of Japanese companies conducted each quarter by the Bank of Japan and regarded as the benchmark for Japanese business sentiment.

Tankan report 
Synonym for Tankan survey.

TARGET / TARGET / TARGET / TARGET 
Trans-European automated realtime gross settlement express transfer system. Inter-EMU payment system consisting of a network of realtime clearing systems (one per member country). TARGET is configured to be linked to compatible systems in non-EMU countries.

tax at source / Quellensteuer / impôt à la source / imposta alla fonte 
Tax collected at source by withholding the amount of the tax from payments due to the taxpayer. See withholding tax.

tax value / Steuerwert / valeur fiscale / valore fiscale 
The significant value of an asset for taxation purposes. The Federal Tax Authorities issue a special list of binding tax values for a large number of securities.

taxation of savings income / Zinsbesteuerung / imposition des revenus de l'épargne / tassazione dei redditi da risparmio 
EU taxation of interest income from assets belonging to natural persons and held outside their country of residence.
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technical analysis / technische Analyse / analyse technique / analisi tecnica 
Also referred to as chart analysis. Analysis of historical price and volume data for a market as a basis for forecasting future price trends for a traded asset or commodity.

technical reaction / technische Reaktion / réaction technique / reazione tecnica 
Trend moving in the opposite direction in reaction to a prior upward or downward trend.

tel quel / tel quel / tel quel / tel quel 
French term for flat; without accrued interest. Expression used in the trading of fixed-interest securities to indicate that the price of the security includes current interest and any future interest income not yet paid (tel quel price). This price is quoted on the Swiss Exchange for dual currency bonds and bond issues in default.

Telecommunications / Telekommunikationsdienste / Télécommunications / Servizi di telecomunicazione 
Equity sector incorporating shares of companies offering any kind of telecom services. The respective MSCI Sector index acts as a benchmark for shares of companies belonging to this sector.

Telekurs / Telekurs / Telekurs AG / Telekurs 
A joint venture between Swiss banks for the settlement of interbank payments (SIC) and the transmission of stock exchange data and financial information, as well as promoting the use of cashless payments.

telephone banking 
Synonym for phone banking.

tenant's guarantee / Mietergarantie / garantie de loyer / garanzia di affitto 
Deposit paid as security for a tenant's liabilities. The maximum deposit under Swiss law is three months' rent. The tenant's guarantee is held in safekeeping in an interest-bearing bank account, the net interest income accruing to the tenant.

tender / Tender / adjudication / tender 
Selling technique in the issuing business whereby the price/return are not defined by the issuer or seller but instead on the basis of bids submitted by the investors or buyers.

tender guarante 
Synonym for bid bond.
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theoretical value / theoretischer Wert / valeur théorique / valore teorico 
Synonym for fair value (2).

theta / Theta / thêta / theta 
Measure of the change in an option's price due to a decrease in the time left to maturity. The theta coefficient reflects how options lose their value over the course of time.

Three month Libor / Dreimonats-Libor / Libor à trois mois / Libor a 3 mesi 
London Interbank Offered Rate for a term of three months.
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ticker / Ticker / ticker / ticker 
A telegraphic installation which immediately transmits the valid rates during a stock exchange session. It also transmits items of news.

ticker symbol / Aktiensymbol / symbole de l'action / simbolo dell'azione 
Abbreviation of a share name for identification purposes, e.g. UBS N for registered shares of UBS AG.

tier 1 / Tier 1 / noyau dur du capital / tier 1 
A bank's core capital, comprising its share capital, open reserves and profit brought forward. The core capital is part of the bank's equity and must comprise at least 50% of the said. See also tier 2, tier 3.

tier 2 / Tier 2 / fonds propres complémentaires / tier 2 
Supplementary capital that forms part of bank's equity. The tier 2 capital comprises hybrid trading instruments, hidden reserves in the value adjustments and provisions position, fluctuation reserves in the fixed assets, loans and bonds with an original subordinated term to maturity of at least 5 years and 50% of the further contributions the bank is liable to make on a certain amount. See also tier 1.

tier 3 / Tier 3 / fonds propres surcomplémentaires / tier 3 
Category of a bank's equity that comprises the additional capital. See also tier 1, tier 2.

time deposit / Festgeld / dépôt à terme / deposito vincolato 
Bank deposits which are to be held for a specified period of time at a set rate of interest. In Switzerland the periods are generally between 1 and 12 months and the minimum amount usually CHF 100,000. On the balance sheet time deposits are shown as amounts due to customers (term).

time value (of an option) / Zeitwert / valeur temps / valore temporale 
With options, the difference between the price of an option and its intrinsic value.

timing / Timing / timing / timing 
Selecting the correct point in time to buy or sell securities.
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to the order of / Orderklausel / clause à ordre / clausola all'ordine 
The notation «to the order of» after the name of the beneficiary makes it possible to transfer securities by endorsement. The clause turns the security into an instrument to order (bill of lading). In the case of legal instruments made out to order (e.g. bill of exchange, cheque, registered share) the notation is not essential because these securities are already deemed to be endorsed.

tom next 
See tomorrow next.

tomorrow next / Tomorrow Next / tomorrow next / tomorrow next 
Also: tom next. Foreign exchange and money market trades executed tomorrow for delivery on the next business day.

total assets / Bilanzsumme / somme du bilan / totale di bilancio 
Also: total liabilities. The sum of assets or liabilities reported by a company in its balance sheet. As off-balance-sheet operations become increasingly significant, this indicator only reflects part of the overall business of a bank. See also bank balance sheet.

total liabilities 
Synonym for total assets.

total return / Total Return / total return / Total Return 
The total return on a security or portfolio of securities. The total return on a share comprises the price changes, distributions of interest and dividends, and par value repayments.
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tracking error / Tracking-Error / écart de suivi / tracking error 
Also: deviation of return. Parameter measuring the volatility of the relative performance which indicates the (e.g. monthly) fluctuation of the difference between the portfolio and the benchmark. Especially suitable for monitoring risks incurred as a result of investment decisions.

trade / Vertragsabschluss / contrat / contratto 
Any stock market order concluded. On the Swiss Exchange a trade is a securities transaction effected between members either on-exchange or over-the-counter.

trade bill / Warenwechsel / effet de commerce / cambiale commerciale 
Bill of exchange with a commodity transaction as the underlying. See also finance bill.

trade confirmation / Börsenabrechnung / décompte de Bourse / conteggio di borsa 
Statement prepared by the bank for the client recording the sale or purchase of securities.

traded option / Traded Option / option négociable / traded option 
Option traded on the stock exchange in the form of a contract with a central counterparty.

trading market / Trading-Markt / marché de trading / mercato di trading 
A market that is driven by short-term trading considerations and chart analysis.

trading price / Abschlusskurs / cours fait (lors d'une séance de Bourse) / corso negoziato 
The price at which a stock exchange transaction is effected. Each trading price on the Swiss Exchange is registered and published (provided a round lot has been traded). By contrast, an asked price is the lowest price offered by the seller and a bid price is the highest price a buyer is prepared to offer. The first price paid for a listed security on a given day is called the opening price, the last paid price being the closing price.

trading range / Trading-Range / rectangle / trading range 
The bandwidth within which the price of a certain security is expected to trade over a given period.

trading ring 
Synonym for ring.

trading suspension / Stop Trading / stop trading / stop trading 
Cessation of trading in a certain security during an ongoing trading session. On Swiss Exchange, a Stop Trading is automatically triggered as soon as there is a certain percentage difference between two paid prices. See also à la criée trading.

tranche / Tranche / tranche / tranche 
Also: section. Part of a uniform capital issue (bond) which is offered for subscription in several instalments. The individual tranches usually have different maturities and offer different rates of interest, and therefore have different issuing and market prices.

transfer / Überweisung / virement / bonifico 
Cashless remittance of an amount of money from one account to another.

transfer credit / Transferkredit / crédit de transfert / credito di trasferimento 
Blanket credit line based on a loan agreement and on bilateral agreements in the form of a treaty or correspondence between Switzerland and a developing nation. 

transfer risk / Transferrisiko / risque de transfert / rischio di trasferimento 
The risk that a transfer covered by a contract cannot be effected between one currency area and another, or that such transfers are restricted as a result of state intervention.

transferable letter of credit / übertragbares Akkreditiv / crédit documentaire transférable / credito documentario trasferibile 
Documentary credit under the terms of which the beneficiary may instruct the expressly authorized bank to make all or part of the credit available to one or more other beneficiaries (second beneficiaries).

transition economy / Schwellenland / pays émergent / Paese emergente 
Synonym for emerging market.

traveller's cheque (GB); traveler's check (USA) / Reisecheck / chèque de voyage / assegno di viaggio 
Medium of payment created especially for use in international travel and tourism. In contrast to conventional cheques, traveller's cheques must be paid in advance by the buyer. They can be cashed at most banks and many businesses in other sectors (shops, hotels, etc) subject to verification. Traveller's cheques are issued by banks, groups of banks or travel organizations and are made out in round amounts. Example: Swiss Bankers Travellers Cheque.

treasury bill 
See Treasury note.

Treasury bond / Treasury-Bond / Treasury bond / Treasury bond 
Medium- to long-term debt instruments issued by the US Treasury in the form of a bond, with maturities mostly longer than 10 years. See also treasury bill.

Treasury note / Treasury-Note / Treasury note / Treasury note 
Short- and medium-term debt certificates issued in bill or note form by a government. In Switzerland, the Federal Government issues Treasury notes with maturities of 1 to 2 years, occasionally also bills with shorter maturities (3 months). Other short- and medium-term debt instruments issued by the Confederation, the cantons and the municipalities are now usually called rescriptions. Treasury notes can be discounted at the Swiss National Bank if their remaining term to maturity is less than 3 months. In the USA, a distinction is made between treasury bills (short-term, 3-12 months) and treasury notes (medium-term, 1-5 years).

trend / Tendenz / tendance / tendenza 
The general tendency of a market to move in a certain direction (e.g. price developments on a stock exchange or forex market).

Triple A / Triple A / triple A / triple A 
Synonym for AAA.

trust / Trust / trust / trust 
(1) A sum of money or property held and administered by trustees on behalf of a third party. Under UK/US law, both the trustees and the beneficiaries are regarded as being the owners of the assets or property.
(2) A group with a dominant market position. 'Trust' is seldom used in this sense these days, with the exception of phrases such as 'anti-trust legislation'.
(3) Previously common short form for unit trust (= investment fund).

trustee / Trustee / trustee / trustee 
Person who holds a sum of money or property in trust for a third party. 

trustee security status / Mündelsicherheit / sécurité requise pour les placements pupillaires / sicurezza di un investimento pupillare 
Legally required security for investments of the assets of individuals under guardianship. In Switzerland, the Civil Code sections 401 and 402 provide that such funds must be placed in low-risk, interest-bearing investments. Savings deposits and public sector bonds are permitted. Investments in equities, participation certificates and derivatives, on the other hand, are prohibited.
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turnaround / Turnaround / turnaround / turnaround 
An upturn in the underlying trend for a sector or company, providing a good opportunity to buy into specific securities.

turnover commission / Umsatzkommission / commission de mouvement / commissione di movimentazione 
Also referred to as turnover fee. Commission charged to the accountholder and calculated on the basis of the current account turnover. 

turnover tax / Umsatzabgabe / droit de timbre de négociation / tassa di negoziazione 
Stamp duty levied by the Swiss government on the purchase and sale of Swiss and foreign securities by Swiss securities dealers.
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twin deficit / Zwillingsdefizit / double déficit / deficit gemelli 
Simultaneous budget and current account deficits.

twin shares / Zwillingsaktien / actions jumelées / azioni gemelle 
Shares of two legally independent companies, whose shareholders must be identical and which were joined together as the result of a merger and are inseparably linked.
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UBS AG / UBS AG / UBS SA / UBS SA 
One of Switzerland's big banks, created in 1998 from the merger of Union Bank of Switzerland (also UBS) and Swiss Bank Corporation (SBC). 
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UCITS / OGAW / OPCVM / OICVM 
Abbreviation for undertaking for collective investment in transferable securities. Undertakings under EU law whose sole object is the collective investment in transferable securities of capital raised from the public, which operate on the principle of risk diversification and where the units are, at the holders' request, repurchased or redeemed, directly or indirectly, out of those undertakings' assets.

UCP / ERA / RUU / NUU 
Abbreviation for Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits prepared by the International Chamber of Commerce.
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Um

umbrella fund / Umbrella-Fonds / fonds à compartiments multiples / fondo a ombrello 
Fund construction comprising several subfunds. Since the subfunds together form a single legal entity (umbrella), it is only necessary to submit the umbrella fund for authorization. Once the umbrella has been authorized, further subfunds may be created. Investors may switch from one subfund to another free of commissions. See also investment fund, fund of funds.
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uncovered position / Découvert / découvert / scoperto 
(1) The seller of an uncovered position is still under obligation to deliver them.
(2) Shortage of units due to an excessive number of short sales.
(3) An uncovered amount under a Lombard loan.

underlying 
Synonym for underlying asset.

underlying asset / Basiswert / valeur sous-jacente / sottostante 
Also: underlying. Instrument on which an option or futures contract is based. The main underlying assets are currencies, bonds, equities and equity indices as well as precious metals. See also financial future.

Underperform 
Rating of a stock relative to the relevant sector. Over a specific investment horizon, the stock's performance is expected to be 10% or more below that of the benchmark.

undervaluation / Unterbewertung / sous-évaluation / sottovalutazione 
A security is said to be undervalued if its valuation is excessively low. Opposite: overvaluation.

underweight / Underweight / sous-pondération / sottopeso 
Qualification of securities as part of an analyst's recommendations stating that the investor would be best advised to hold a lower weighting in this security than in others or in relation to a benchmark.

underwriter / Underwriter / preneur ferme / underwriter 
Bank or intermediary that commits itself to taking up an unsold portion of a securities issue after placement.

underwriter listed in prospectus / En-nom-Beteiligung / participation en nom / partecipazione «en-nom» 
Term denoting participation in an underwriting syndicate by being named in the issue prospectus. The underwriter is listed like a syndicate member but is strictly speaking only a sub-participant because he has signed neither the loan agreement nor the syndicate agreement. See also sub-participation.

underwriting agreement / Übernahmevertrag / contrat de prise ferme / contratto di assunzione a fermo 
Agreement concluded between the issuer and underwriting syndicate concerning the direct underwriting of a new securities issue.

underwriting price / Übernahmepreis / prix de prise ferme / prezzo di assunzione a fermo 
The price to be paid by the banks to issuers for the direct underwriting of a new securities issue. The difference between the issue price and the underwriting price is the banks' gross profit margin (underwriting fee).

underwriting syndicate / Emissionssyndikat / syndicat d'émission / sindacato di emissione 
Also: underwriting consortium. Temporary association (consortium) of two or more investment banks for the joint underwriting of a securities issue.

undisclosed assignment / stille Zession / cession sans notification / cessione tacita 
Assignment not disclosed to the borrower.

undisclosed reserves / stille Reserven / réserves latentes / riserve occulte 
Also: hidden reserves. Reserves not shown in the balance sheet of a company; for example, if the market value of an asset is higher than its book value. Other forms: replacement reserves (maintenance of real-asset values and equity capital) and other undisclosed reserves. In Switzerland, any dissolution of undisclosed reserves which has a significant impact on the company's results must be declared in the annual financial statements. Undisclosed reserves enhance a company's creditworthiness. Opposite: disclosed reserves. See also reserves.

UN-EDIFACT / UN-EDIFACT / UN-EDIFACT / UN/EDIFACT 
Acronym for United Nations/Electronic Data Interchange for Administration, Commerce and Transport, a set of regulations defined and continually adapted by the United Nations which is specifically developed for the electronic exchange of data. It establishes the norms for business and trade processes and counteracts proprietary standards within specific industries. UN/EDIFACT is applied worldwide and enables process integration between software programs of all participating companies. 

unit / Anteil / part / quota 
Synonym for fund unit.

unit certificate / Anteilschein / certificat de fonds de placement / certificato di quota 
Certificate of participation in an investment fund issued as a security without par value.

unit of account / Rechnungseinheit / unité de compte / unità di conto 
Specially defined unit used in international payments, which is not in fact a real payment medium. Also used for international bond issues and for the deposits of international institutions. One example is the special drawing right (SDR) of the IMF and the ECU prior to the introduction of the euro.

unit of currency 
Synonym for currency unit. 

unit trust 
Synonym for investment fund.

universal bank 
Synonym for full-service bank. 

unlimited / unlimitiert / illimité / senza limite 
Synonym for at best.

unlimited order 
Synonym for market order.

unlisted security / unkotiertes Wertpapier; nicht kotiertes Wertpapier / titre non coté / titolo non quotato 
Security which is not listed for trading on an official stock exchange. See also over-the-counter trading.

unsecured credit / Blankokredit crédit en blanc / credito in bianco 
Loan granted on the strength of the borrower's credit history or reputation. Opposite: secured credit.

unpaid capital 
Synonym for non-paid up capital.
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upgrade / Upgrade / upgrade / upgrade 
Positive change in ratings for a security. An example is an analyst's upgrading of a stock such as from "sell" to "buy".
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US GAAP / US-GAAP / US-GAAP / US-GAAP 
Abbr. for United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.


Top

Ut

Utilities / Versorgungsbetriebe / Services aux collectivités / Servizi di pubblica utilità 
Equity sector incorporating shares of companies producing, transporting and/or distributing electricity, gas or water to end users. The respective MSCI Sector index acts as a benchmark for shares of companies belonging to this sector.
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valid for one day / börsengültig / valable un jour / con validità giornaliera 
Only valid on the trading day specified in the order. If a stock exchange order labelled «valid for one day» cannot be executed as specified, it lapses automatically. Opposite: good-till-cancelled order. See also stock market order.

validate / validieren / valider / convalidare 
Declare valid.

valuation / Bewertung / évaluation / valutazione 
Estimate of the value and potential of a security based on the security and financial analysis.

value added tax 
Synonym for turnover commission. 

value added / Wertschöpfung / création de plus-values / creazione di valore 
Also: output. Increase in value created by a company or an economy over a given period. The sum of the value added by all companies in a country corresponds to the gross domestic product.

value adjustment / Wertberichtigung / réajustement de valeur / rettifica di valore 
Adjustment of the value of an asset on the balance sheet to its true value.

value date / Valuta / date de valeur / valuta 
The date on which a sum of money is credited or debited, or from which interest begins to accrue.

value-at-risk / Value-at-Risk / valeur en risque / value at risk 
Abbreviation: VaR. Risk statistic that expresses the potential loss if a certain scenario occurs. In the case of banks, the value-at-risk is calculated daily.

value-style investing / Value-Style-Investing / value-style investing / value investing 
Investment approach that consists in buying shares when they are valued less than the long-term value of the company.

variable interest rate / variabler Zinssatz / taux d'intérêt variable / tasso d'interesse variabile 
Interest rate which may be changed during the term of a loan or a bond issue. In the case of international loans and bonds, the periodic adjustment in line with the London Euromoney market rate is of particular significance. See also floating-rate bond.

variance / Varianz / variance / varianza 
Statistical measure of the risk exposure of an investment (share, bond etc) or portfolio. Variance is the amount by which individual earnings positions deviate from average earnings over a set period. High variance is an indication of high risk.

variation margin / Variation-Margin / marge de variation / margine di variazione 
Margin which offsets gains or losses stemming from open positions on the futures market as a result of the daily valuations, and which serves to maintain the initial margin. See also maintenance margin, margin account.

vault / Tresor / chambre forte / caveau 
Also: strongroom. A room at a bank for the safekeeping of valuables. See also safe deposit box.
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Ve

venture capital / Wagniskapital / capital de risque / capitale di rischio 
Financing provided to new and innovative companies with a view to making capital gains. Venture capital is provided by institutions specializing in this form of finance, such as venture capital companies and private equity companies. 

verification / Beurkundung / acte / atto 
See official authentication.
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Vi

virt-x / virt-x / virt-x / virt-x 
Pan-European blue chip exchange, set up by the London stock exchange «Tradepoint» and Swiss Exchange SWX and based in London. virt-x is the first pan-European blue chip platform, on which all European blue chips can be traded electronically and which offers integrated clearing and settlement with a central counterparty. One of the key facets of virt-x is the extremely high level of automation, which means that an order can be traded, cleared and settled with one mouseclick. Website: www.virt-x.com.

VISA card / VISA-Karte / carte VISA / carta VISA 
Credit card that can be used worldwide. A VISA card also offers additional services such as cash withdrawals, hotel reservations and making phone calls without cash. Website: http://www.visaeurope.com 
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volatility / Volatilität / volatilité / volatilità 
A measure of the fluctuations in the yield on a security within a specific period. Usually stated as a standard deviation, expressed as an annualized value.

voluntary reserves / freiwillige Reserven / réserves libres / riserve facoltative 
Reserves constituted over and above the minimum required by law. They may be provided for by a company's articles of association or by a resolution of the body which oversees the company's operations, e.g. the General Meeting. See also statutory reserves. 

vostro account / Vostro-Konto / compte Vostro / conto Vostro 
A foreign bank's account with a domestic bank, either in local currency or foreign currency. The domestic bank maintains the account and prepares the statement. Opposite: nostro account. 

voting share / Stimmrechtsaktie / action à droit de vote privilégié / azione a voto plurimo 
Share which carries a greater voting right in relation to the other shares of the same company despite having the same par value. Alternatively, it may carry identical voting rights despite having a lower par value. Shares with the same par value but differing voting rights are not permitted in Switzerland. Voting right shares confer preferential rights upon the shareholder with regard to voting rights (qualified voting rights). 
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Vreneli / Vreneli / Vreneli / marengo 
Swiss 20-franc gold coin featuring the head of a woman. A Swiss 10-franc gold coin is known as a 1/2 Vreneli. The 20-franc pieces have a fine gold content of 5.806 grams and a gross weight of 6.45 grams. As in the case of other gold coins, the trading price is determined by supply and demand. The Vreneli is no longer accepted as legal tender in Switzerland. 
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WAL 
Abbr. for weighted average life.

Wall Street / Wall Street / Wall Street / Wall Street 
In stock market jargon, synonymous with the New York Stock Exchange and the financial centre of New York. Wall Street is the street that runs through New York's financial district. 

warehouse receipt / Lagerempfangsschein / récépissé d'entrepôt / ricevuta di deposito 
Also: warrant. Receipt given by a warehouse for goods stored on its premises. Merely a confirmation, not a tradable instrument.

warrant / Warrant / warrant / warrant 
(1) Warehouse or pledge receipt. In some countries these have the characteristics of securities.
(2) Securities underwriting: short for subscription warrant.

warrant issue / Optionsanleihe / emprunt à option / obbligazione cum warrant 
Also: bonds with warrants. Bond issue which bears interest throughout its term to maturity and features a warrant which embodies the right to purchase a share or other security. The warrant may be traded separately from the bond. See also convertible bond issue.

watering down effect / Verwässerung / dilution / annacquamento 
Also: dilution. Loss in the value of the equity paper issued by a company due to the placement of additional stock. 

waybill / Frachtbrief / lettre de voiture / lettera di vettura 
A written list detailing goods included in a shipment by rail or road. Unlike a bill of lading, it does not have the status of a security. 
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We

wealth management 
Synonym for portfolio management.

weighted average life / gewichtete durchschnittliche Laufzeit / durée moyenne pondérée / scadenza media ponderata 
Abbr.: WAL. Maturity of each position in a mortgage pool or other debt instrument portfolio weighted by the value of the position to compute an average maturity for the pool.
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when, as and if issued 
A term referring to a transaction made conditionally because a security, although authorized, has not yet been issued. 

white knight / Weisser Ritter / chevalier blanc / cavaliere bianco 
Company that comes to the aid of another company that is the subject of a planned unfriendly takeover. A white knight often buys larger blocks of shares or makes a merger offer. See also black knight. 

wholesale banking / Wholesale-Banking / wholesale banking / wholesale banking 
A bank's business with large corporate clients. Opposite: retail banking.
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willingness to accept risk 
Synonym for risk tolerance.

willingness to pay / Zahlungsbereitschaft / solvabilité / disponibilità di pagamento 
Willingness of a company to meet its payment obligations. See also liquidity, solvency.

window dressing / Window-Dressing / window dressing / window dressing 
(1) Trading activity used by mutual fund and portfolio managers near the year end or quarter end to improve the appearance of the portfolio/fund performance before presenting it to clients or shareholders.
(2) Bank accounting policy: increasing total assets by taking up interbank assets prior to a reference date so as to present higher liquidity.

WINGS / WINGS / WINGS / WINGS 
Abbreviation for Warrants Into Negotiable Government Securities.

WIR / WIR / WIR / WIR 
Abbreviation for Wirtschaftsring-Genossenschaft, a cooperative based in Basel that has been operating a cashless payments system on the basis of a closed circular flow of money since 1934. See also WIR cheque. 

WIR cheque / WIR-Check / chèque WIR / assegno WIR 
Booking orders issued by the individual members of WIR. WIR cheques are not cheques as defined under Swiss law. WIR booking orders are never paid out in cash, but instead entitle the bearer to acquire goods and services offered by WIR participants by way of exchange. 

withholding tax / Verrechnungssteuer / impôt anticipé / imposta preventiva 
In Switzerland, this source tax is imposed at the current rate of 35% on domestic income from capital gains and lottery winnings in excess of CHF 50. Tax payments can be reclaimed by persons filing Swiss federal tax returns or credited against cantonal tax liabilities. Individuals and companies domiciled abroad may claim a refund of Swiss withholding tax under double taxation treaties concluded between their country of domicile and Switzerland. 

without our liability / ohne Obligo / sans engagement / senza obbligo 
Also: without our guarantee. This or a similar note is used in banking mainly in the following contexts:
(1) to refuse any liability in connection with information provided to a third party
(2) refusal by a bill endorser to be held liable if the bill is dishonored. See also liability under bills of exchange. 

without protest / ohne Protest / sans protêt / senza protesto 
Notation used by the issuer, endorser or guarantor of a bill of exchange to protect the holder against the bill being protested due to non-payment or non-acceptance. See also protest. 

without recourse 
Synonym for without our liability.
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working capital loan / Betriebskredit / crédit d'exploitation / credito d'esercizio 
Loan granted to temporarily strengthen the working capital of companies and self-employed persons to ease a shortage of liquidity. See also capital investment loan.

World Bank / Weltbank / Banque mondiale / Banca mondiale 
Name commonly used for the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development. Like the International Monetary Fund, it was established in 1944 at Bretton Woods (USA) and has its headquarters in Washington. Both institutions now have more than 180 member countries. Switzerland has been a member since May 1992. The World Bank's primary mission is to fight poverty. In particular, it grants long-term investment loans to developing countries and finances long-term projects aimed at improving the economic and ecological standard of living of the population. Website: www.worldbank.org.

worthless security / Nonvaleur / non-valeur / titolo privo di valore 
Also: valueless security. Security that has lost its value and expired and become a collector's item, or apparently worthless security of a permanently illiquid issuer with a correspondingly poor rating.
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writer / Writer / souscripteur / writer 
Synonym for issuer of a covered warrant.

writer of a covered warrant 
Synonym for issuer of a covered warrant.
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yankee bond / Yankee-Bond / obligation «yankee» / yankee bond 
USD-denominated bond issued in the USA by foreign borrowers. 


Top

Yi

yield / Rendite / rendement / rendimento 
The total income produced by a capital investment expressed in percent. In the case of bonds, the yield to maturity or yield to the earliest possible redemption date is usually taken, the total return being calculated by dividing the annual interest payments and price changes to redemption by the number of years left to maturity. 

yield spread 
Synonym for spread (3). 

	Z: 
	Ze 
	Zu 


Ze

ZEBRAS / ZEBRAS / ZEBRAS / ZEBRAS 
Abbreviation for Zero Coupon Eurosterling Bearer or Registered Accruing Securities. Stripped UK GBP-denominated government bonds. See also zero bond, coupon stripping.

zero bond / Nullcoupon-Anleihe / obligation à coupon zéro / obbligazione zero coupon 
Also: zero-coupon bond. Bond that makes no regular interest payment during its lifetime. Instead it is issued at a discount against full repayment at maturity. Zero bonds have been issued on the US capital market since 1981, but have also established a foothold in other major capital markets as an alternative to interest-bearing bonds.
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Zurich gold pool / Zürcher Goldpool / Pool zurichois de l'or / pool zurighese dell'oro 
See gold pool.

